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PART I

The Business section and other parts of this AnReglort on Form 10-K ("Form 10-K") contain forwaloleking statements that involve risks
and uncertainties. Many of the forward-looking staents are located in "Management's Discussionfaralysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.” Forwa-looking statements can also be identified by werdsh as "anticipates,” "expects,” "believes," ta
"predicts," and similar terms. Forward-looking statents are not guarantees of future performancetiam€ompany's actual results may
differ significantly from the results discussedhe forward-looking statements. Factors that micguise such differences include, but are not
limited to, those discussed in the subsectionledtifFactors That May Affect Future Results anddricial Condition” under Part Il, Item 7 of
this Form 10-K. The Company assumes no obligataevise or update any forward-looking statemeotsihy reason, except as required by
law.

Item 1. Business
Company Background

Apple Computer, Inc. ("Apple" or the "Company") wiasorporated under the laws of the State of Califoon January 3, 1977. The Company
designs, manufactures and markets personal conspandrrelated software, services, peripherals atwanking solutions. The Company also
designs, develops and markets a line of portalgigadlimusic players along with related accessaies services including the online
distribution of third-party music and audio bookse Company's products and services include thenttesh line of desktop and notebook
computers, the iPod digital music player, the Xsesgrver and Xserve RAID storage products, a partéd consumer and professional
software applications, the Mac OS X operating systhe online iTunes Music Store, a portfolio ofipkerals that support and enhance the
Macintosh and iPod product lines, and a varietgtbér service and support offerings. The Compally #e products worldwide through its
online stores, its own retail stores, its dired¢sdorce, and thirgharty wholesalers, resellers and value added egselh addition, the Compa
sells a variety of third-party products that arenpatible with the Company's Macintosh and iPod pobdines, including computer printers and
printing supplies, storage devices, computer mendigjtal video and still cameras, personal digissistants, iPod accessories, and various
other computing products and supplies throughritsye and retail stores. The Company's fiscal yemls on the last Saturday of September.
Unless otherwise stated, all information preseimedis Form 10-K is based on the Company's fiseééndar.

Business Strategy

Apple is committed to bringing the best personahpating and music experience to students, educatarative professionals, businesses and
consumers around the world through its innovataedtvare, software, peripherals and Internet oféeriThe Company's business strategy
leverages its unique ability, through the desigth development of its own operating system, hardwacemany software applications and
technologies, to bring to its customers aroundatbdd meaningful new products and solutions withpesior ease-of-use, seamless integration
and innovative industrial design. The Company lveliecontinual investment in research and developimemnitical to facilitate innovation of
new and improved products and technologies. Besigdates to its existing line of personal compuserds related software, services, and
peripherals, the Company continues to capitalizéherconvergence of digital consumer electronicstae computer by creating product
innovations like the iPod and iTunes Music Storlee Tompany has also invested in new product atedsas rack-mount servers, RAID
storage systems and wireless technologies. The @aypstrategy also includes expanding its distidibunetwork to effectively reach more of
its targeted customers.

Digital Hub

The Company believes personal computing is in arirewhich the personal computer functions for utbfessionals and consumers as the
digital hub for advanced new digital devices suslthe Company's iPod digital music players, pefsdigétal assistants, cellular phones, dig
still and movie cameras, CD




and DVD players, and other consumer electronicateviThe attributes of the personal computer, éietyits ability to run complex
applications, possess a high quality user interfagetain large and relatively inexpensive storagel, easily connect to the Internet in multiple
ways and at varying speeds, can individually addesto these devices and interconnect them as vgflle is the only company in the
personal computer industry that controls the deaighdevelopment of the entire personal computesmfthe hardware and operating system
to sophisticated applications. Apple provides iratoxe industrial design, intuitive ease-of-use, andt-in networking, graphics, and
multimedia capabilities. Thus, the Company is ualgyositioned to offer integrated digital hub puots and solutions.

Apple develops products and technologies that adfteemany industry standards in order to providetimized user experience through
interoperability with peripherals and devices frother companies. Apple has played a role in theld@wment, enhancement, promotion,
and/or use of numerous of these industry standardsy of which are discussed below.

Expanded Distributiol

The Company believes a high quality buying expegenith knowledgeable salespersons, who can cotineeyalue of the Company's produ
and services, is critical to attracting and retagntustomers. As such, in addition to expandingnd#ect distribution channels, the Company
has expanded its product distribution strategyttuide its own retail locations, Apple online sveorldwide, and the Apple Sales Consultant
Program. The Company sells many of its productsrasells certain third-party products in most efritajor markets directly to consumers,
education customers, and businesses through i stedres in the U.S. and internationally, or tigh one of its online stores around the world.
The Company has also invested in programs liké\fipde Sales Consultant Program, which is designezhhance reseller sales by the
placement of Apple badged employees at selectediplairty reseller locations. The Company believesbéing a direct interface with its
targeted end customer provides an efficient meae$fectively demonstrate the advantages of the iamy's Macintosh and other products
over those of its competitors. For certain of iegumer electronic products, including the iPoddpod family, the Company has also
significantly expanded the points of distributionarder to make available its products at locatiwhere its customers shop.

Since inception of its retail initiative in 200het Company has opened 84 retail stores in thedth2 international stores in Tokyo and Os
Japan through the end of fiscal year 2004. Dufliregfirst quarter of 2005, the Company anticipaesning 14 additional stores, and expects to
exit the calendar year at approximately 100 storas.Company has typically located its stores g hiaffic locations in quality shopping

malls and urban shopping districts. Approximated¥f lof the stores expected to open during the fjtgtrter of 2005 are in the new "mini" store
design, which is the Company's smallest store fotméate, allowing them to be placed in a var@typew locations to introduce the
Company's products to even more customers. The Gayrgso opened its third international store imdan, England during the first quarter
of 2005.

One of the goals of the retail initiative is toriinew customers to the Company and expand isliedtbase through sales to both first time
personal computer buyers and those switching tdvtheintosh platform from competing operating systdatforms. By operating its own
stores and building them in desirable high trdffications, the Company is able to better contreldhstomer retail experience and attract new
Apple customers. The stores are designed to siyrgalifl enhance the presentation and marketing sbpal computing products. To that end,
retail store configurations have evolved into vasiizes in order to accommodate market demandssfbhes employ experienced and
knowledgeable personnel who provide product adaiE certain hardware support services. The stdfeisaowide selection of third-party
hardware and software products selected to compiethe Company's own products. Additionally, theres provide a forum in which the
Company is able to present entire computing saistto users in areas such as digital photograpbifadvideo, music, children's software,
home and small business computing. Apple retaibstbost customer events and free
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classes, including the popular "Getting Started$s] and have brought back the concept of custseneice with innovations like the Genius
Bar.

Education

For more than 25 years, the Company has focusétkeomse of technology in education and has beemnitted to delivering tools to help
educators teach and students learn. The Compaigvégleffective integration of technology into sla®m instruction can result in higher
levels of student achievement, especially when tsedpport collaboration, information access, #medexpression and representation of
student thought and ideas. The Company creates@wuhat enable new modes of curriculum delivestter ways of conducting research,
and opportunities for professional developmenteiifty, students, and staff. A range of product services is designed by the Company to
help schools maximize their investments in techgpld his is manifested in many of the Company'sipots and services that are designed to
meet the needs of education customers, includieghkac™ and the iBook®, video editing solutionsieldss networking capabilities, student
information systems, one-to-one learning solutiemsl high-quality curriculum and professional depehent solutions.

Creative Professionals

Creative professionals constitute one of the Compganost important markets for both hardware arfthswe products. This market is also
important to many third-party developers who previdacintosh compatible hardware and software swigtiCreative customers utilize the
Company's products for a variety of creative atiéisiincluding digital video and film productionaediting; digital video and film special
effects, compositing, and titling; digital still ptography; graphic design, publishing, and primidorction; music performance and production;
audio production and sound design; and web dedgyelopment and administration.

The Company designs its high-end hardware solutiookiding servers, desktops, and portable Masim&ystems, to incorporate the power,
expandability, and features desired by creativégsionals. Additionally, the Company's operatipgtsm, Mac OS X, incorporates powerful
graphics and audio technologies and features dgeetools to optimize system and application penfomce when running powerful creative
solutions provided by the Company or third-partyelepers. The Company also offers various softwsatetions to meet the needs of its
creative customers, many of which are describeoviel

Business Organization

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. The Company's reportable operaggments are comprised of the
Americas, Europe, Japan, and Retail. The Ameriegmsnt includes both North and South America, eddmeghe activities of the Company's
Retail segment. The Europe segment includes Eunopaantries as well as the Middle East and Afridee Japan segment includes only Japan
and excludes revenue from the Company's own &tais in Japan, which is included in the CompaRgtsil segment. The Retail segment
currently operates Apple-owned retail stores inUh®., Japan and England. Other operating segnmaitsle Asia-Pacific, which includes
Australia and Asia except for Japan, and the Corylpaubsidiary, FileMaker, Inc. Each reportablegyaphic operating segment provides
similar hardware and software products and sinséaivices. Further information regarding the Comfmaperating segments may be found in
Part II, Item 7 of this Form 10-K under the headiBggment Operating Performance,” and in Partdml8 of this Form 10-K in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements at Note 11, "Sagimformation and Geographic Data."

Hardware Products

The Company offers a range of personal computindyxts including desktop and notebook personal coeng, related devices and
peripherals, and various third-party hardware petsluvAll of the Company's Macintosh® products mélPowerPC® RISC-based
microprocessors. The Company's entire line of Masim systems, excluding servers and storage systeatsres the Company's Mac OS® X
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Version 10.3 "Panther" and iLife® suite of softwéoe digital photography, music, movies, and musation.
Power Ma®

The Power Mac line of desktop personal computetargeted at business and professional users alasigned to meet the speed, expansion
and networking needs of the most demanding Madintiser. Powered by the PowerPC G5 processor, therfdac G5 utilizes 64-bit
processing technology for memory expansion up tB,8®d advanced 64-bit computation while also rograxisting 32-bit applications
natively. The Power Mac G5 product line comes urforocessor configurations—single 1.8GHz, duaGH&, dual 2.0GHz and dual 2.5GHz.
All Power Mac G5 desktops feature a SuperDrive ™ eititer the NVIDIA GeForceFX 5200 Ultra or the ARhdeon 9600 XT graphics card.
In addition, all Power Mac G5 desktops deliver aeetivity and high-performance input/output (I/Q)¢liuding Gigabit Ethernet, FireWire®
800 and FireWire 400 ports, USB 2.0 ports, optitigital audio input and output, built-in support 4 Mbps AirPort® Extreme wireless
networking, and optional Bluetooth connectivity.

Xserve® and Xserve RAID Storage System

Xserve, the Company's first rack-mount server pehduas designed for simple setup and remote mamaggeof intensive 1/0 applications
such as digital video, high-resolution digital ineag and large databases. In January 2004, the @oyrgnnounced Xserve G5, which is
available with either a single or dual 2.0 GHz Pdw& G5 processor. Xserve G5 includes a systemaltartwith up to 8GB of PC3200 error
correcting code memory; three hot-plug Serial ATivel modules that deliver up to 750GB of storage] dual on-board Gigabit Ethernet for
high-performance networking. In January 2004, tben@any also introduced its Xserve RAID storageeysta 3U high-availability rack
storage system, along with support for Windows lindx-based computing environments. In October 2004 Company updated its Xserve
RAID storage system to deliver 5.6 terabytes ofegje capacity and also expanded support for hedasmys environments. The dual
independent RAID controllers with 512MB cache penteoller offer sustained throughput of over 380MBghigh enough to support two
streams of uncompressed 10-bit HD video editinggiprotected RAID level 5.

PowerBool®

The PowerBook family of portable computers is des@jto meet the mobile computing needs of profestésoand advanced consumer user
April 2004, the Company updated its PowerBook G#books with faster PowerPC G4 processors. BothiShiech and 17-inch PowerBook
G4 offer up to a 1.5 GHz PowerPC G4 processoryaitable SuperDrive and the ATI Mobility Radeon 97graphics processor. The 12-inch
PowerBook G4 features a 1.33 GHz PowerPC proceasayailable SuperDrive, and NVIDIA GeForce FX @08 graphics. Every
PowerBook G4 notebook comes with built-in AirPortEeme wireless networking, an internal Bluetootbdule for wireless connectivity, as
well as a full complement of 1/O ports includingé&wire 400, USB 2.0., a built-in 56K v.92 modem &tHernet (10/100BASE-T), for
connectivity to a wide range of peripherals. Theridh and 17-inch PowerBook G4 models also inclodi#-in Gigabit Ethernet and

Firewire 800.

iMac®

The iMac line of desktop computers is targetedotasamer and education markets. In August 2004Ctrapany introduced the iMac® G5,
featuring the PowerPC G5 processor and a desigintiegrates the entire computer into the flat paisplay. The line offers 17- or 20-inch
active matrix widescreen LCDs and PowerPC G5 psmresunning up to 1.8 GHz. The 17-inch models cuiitle either a 1.8 GHz PowerPC
G5 processor and a SuperDrive, or a 1.6 GHz Pow&®@rocessor and a Combo drive. The 20-inch mioakela 1.8 GHz PowerPC G5
processor and a SuperDrive. The iMac G5 offerooup @00 MHz frontside bus, 400 MHz DDR memory expandable to 2GB, B&Ryraphic:
and 7200 rpm Serial ATA drives holding up to 250GBe iMac G5 comes standard with NVIDIA graphicshadedicated video memory. The
iMac G5 desktops offer a total of five USB portsrée USB 2.0) and two
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FireWire® 400 ports, an optional internal Bluetoatbdule, a built-in antenna and card slot to supaomoptional AirPort Extreme Card for 54
Mbps 802.11g wireless networking, and also incluslgk-in Ethernet (10/100BASE-T) and a 56K V.92 dem.

eMac™

The eMac, which is targeted primarily at the Compmeducation and consumer customers, featuresvarP@€ G4 processor, a high resolution
17-inch flat cathode ray tube display, and presethie all-in-one compact design of the original iMavored by many of the Company's
education and consumer customers. In April 2002tGbmpany updated its eMac, which now has a sugjestail price starting at $799 and is
available with a SuperDrive for a suggested rgtade starting at $999. The eMac offers PowerP(®éessors running at up to 1.25 GHz,
333 MHz DDR memory, ATl Radeon graphics and USBc@nectivity to peripherals.

iBook®

The iBook is designed to meet the portable computieds of education and consumer users. In OcRilier, the Company upgraded its
iBook® G4 line to include faster PowerPC G4 prooessunning up to 1.33 GHz, built-in AirPort Extrerf4 Mpbs 802.11g wireless
networking and an available slot-load SuperDriviee T2-inch model features a 1.2 GHz PowerPC G4egsmr and a slot-load Combo drive,
while the 14-inch models include a 1.33GHz G4 pssoe and either a Combo or SuperDrive optical dikiBook G4 models offer a full
complement of I/O ports including FireWire 400, U8B, a built-in 56K v.92 modem and Ethernet (L0BASE-T), as well as an optional
internal wireless Bluetooth module, for connecyivit a wide range of peripherals.

Music Products and Services

The Company offers its iPod® line of digital muplayers and related accessories to Macintosh amdldMis users. The Company also
provides an online service to distribute third-panusic and audio books through its iTunes® Mus@ré& Net sales of iPods and other music
products and services generated year-over-yeanuevgrowth of 316% and accounted for 19% of the @amy's total net sales in fiscal 2004.

iPod®

In July 2004, the Company introduced the fourthegation of the iPod, the Company's portable digitakic player, featuring Apple's patent
pending click wheel, which combines a touch-sevisitvheel with five push buttons for one handed gatvon, and up to 12 hours of battery
life. The iPod features Apple's patent pending Asymc technology that automatically downloads airedigital music library onto the iPod
and keeps it up-to-date whenever it is plugged anktacintosh or Windows computer using FireWirdJ@B. The iPod also features Shuffle
Songs, which randomly plays songs in a selectedigi@ar across the entire library. All iPods wakith Apple's iTunes digital music
management software on either a Macintosh or Wirsdoemputer. The iPod is available in 20GB and 40@GHlels.

The iPod's functionality extends beyond playing imasid listening to audio books. Other key captédiinclude data storage, calendar and
contact information utility, and a selection of gesnWith the addition of third-party iPod peripHerahe capabilities of certain iPods can be
enhanced to include voice recording and photo doadihg directly from certain digital cameras. Alonigh the iPod, the Company has
developed a seamless end-to-end music solutionthétiCompany's iTunes software and the iTunes Mbigire® , a service that consumers
may use to purchase third-party music and audi&®ower the Internet.

The Company has entered into a strategic alliaritedewlett-Packard Company (HP), which providesdddiP-branded digital music player
based on the iPod, the preinstallation of iTundsvewe on HP's consumer PCs and notebooks andsattcése iTunes Music Store. The
Company has also entered into an alliance with BMkup for the BMW iPod Adapter, a device that cffeeamless integration of the iPod
and certain BMW automobiles in North America. Irdiithn, the Company formed an alliance with
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Founder Technology Group Corporation, a supplid?@$ to the Chinese market, that provides for teaptallation of iTunes on all Founder
Technology Windows-based PCs. A similar alliancs feamed with Synnex Technology International Cogpion, a Taiwarbased wholesal
and distributor of personal computers, for thesillation of iTunes on its Windows-based laptod desktop PCs.

In October 2004, the Company introduced the iPodp&cial Edition as part of a strategic alliancthwlie musical band, U2, and Universal
Music Group. The U2 iPod holds up to 5,000 songatures a black enclosure with a red click whedl@arstom engraving of U2 band member
signatures.

iPod® photo

In October 2004, the Company introduced iPqd®to. The iPod photo holds digital photos alongdite music library and displays them ol
high+resolution color screen, which allows users tolsthoough the photo library almost instantly usifgpd's patent pending click wheel. iF
photo can auto sync music and photos with a Masinty Windows-based computer. The iPod photo dlsasiusers to simultaneously play
music and view photo slideshows on the iPod, atagebn televisions and projectors. The iPod plotoes in 40GB or 60GB models and has
an extended battery life that gives users up thdils of music playback or up to 5 hours of slidgeeh The iPod photo can hold up to 25,000
digital photos or 15,000 digital songs.

iPod® mini

In January 2004, the Company introduced the iPad.r8maller and lighter than the iPod, the iPodirhas storage capacity of 4GB and holds
up to 1,000 songs, utilizes the patent pendindg alibeel and is encased in an anodized aluminumazsble in a selection of five colors:
silver, gold, pink, blue or green. The iPod mirtaies the same user interface as the iPod and vgedmlessly with the Company's iTunes
Music Store® and the iTunes software for buyingnaging and listening to digital music on either adihtosh or Windows-based computer.

iTunes Music Stor®

The Company's iTunes Music Store, available fohiWindows-based and Macintosh computers, is amemliusic download store that allows
customers to find, purchase, and download thirdypdigital music and audio books. Users can easbrch the contents of the music store
catalog to locate works by title, artist, or albuonprowse the entire contents of the store bygand artist. Users can also listen to a free 30-
second preview of any song in the store. Sincel 003, the iTunes Music Store has been availablé.§. customers. A similar store became
available in the U.K., France and Germany in Ju@42and was followed by the October 2004 launcinoEnglish language music store
covering nine additional European countries. Then@any has also announced its intention to opeiameis Music Store in Canada during
fiscal 2005.

The iTunes Music Store is fully integrated diredtiyo the latest version of the iTunes softwarlveihg customers to preview, purchase,
download, organize, share, and transfer theiraligitusic to an iPod using a single software appticaFurther discussion on the iTunes
software may be found below under the heading W&o Products and Computer Technologies." Requitsmgubscription fee, the iTunes
Music Store with iTunes software offers customebsaad range of personal rights to the third-padmtent they have purchased, including
playing songs on up to five personal computerspibgra single song onto CDs an unlimited numbdimoés, burning the same playlist up to
seven times, listening to their music on an unkhihumber of iPods, and using songs in certain anegoiplications such as iPhoto, iMovie, and
iDVD. The iTunes Music Store also features avalighof audio books for purchase directly from tli@nes Music Store.

Additional features currently available within tbeS. iTunes Music Store include gift certificatBattcan be sent via e-mail, prepaid gift cards,
an "allowance" feature that enables users to autoatigt deposit




funds into an iTunes Music Store account every imogmd "Radio Charts,” a feature that allows usesearch and buy the top songs playe
radio stations in major U.S. markets.

Peripheral Products

The Company sells certain associated Apple-brandetputer hardware peripherals, including iSight™itdl video cameras, and a range of
high quality flat panel TFT active-matrix digitablor displays. The Company also sells a varietthofl-party Macintosh compatible hardware
products directly to end users through both itair@ind online stores, including computer printengl printing supplies, storage devices,
computer memory, digital video and still camerasspnal digital assistants, and various other cdimgproducts and supplies.

iSight ™

The Company's iSight digital video camera enabigsosconferencing over broadband. iSight is a smalitable aluminum alloy camera with
all audio, video and power provided by a singleefiire cable. iSight is designed to be cemberunted on the top of a computer screen and
its integrated tilt and rotate mechanism to egsigition the camera for natural, face-to-face videoferencing.

iSight features an autofocusing autoexposure Féa8which captures high-quality pictures and fatition video. With its on-board processor,
iSight automatically adjusts color, white balarslearpness and contrast to provide higlality images with accurate color reproductiomiost
lighting conditions. iSight also includes a dua+akent microphone that suppresses ambient noisdefar digital audio.

Displays

In June 2004, the Company announced a family oésdceen flat panel displays featuring theirgh Apple Cinema HD Display, a widescre
active-matrix LCD with 2560-by-1600 pixel resolutica 23-inch widescreen Apple Cinema Display wBR20-by-1200 pixel resolution and a
20-inch widescreen Apple Cinema Display with 16801050 pixel resolution. The displays feature dtisdWire and dual USB 2.0 ports built
into the display and use the industry standard D¥érface for a pure digital connection with then@many's latest Power Mac and PowerBook
systems. The Cinema Displays feature an aluminwigdevith a very thin bezel, suspended by an alumistand that allows viewing angle
adjustment.

Software Products and Computer Technologies

The Company offers a range of software productedmcation, creative, consumer and business custpimeluding Mac OS X, the
Company's proprietary operating system softwaréhfeiMacintosh; server software and related saistiprofessional application software;
and consumer, education and business orientedcafiph software.

Operating System Software

The Company released Mac OS X version 10.3 (codeedd'Panther"), the Company's current version of K& X, in October 2003. Panther
incorporates features including a new version oflEi™; Exposé™, a way to organize windows and mistgee all open windows at once;
FileVault, a feature that secures the contentshafrae directory with 128-bit AES encryption; iCi&f; and enhanced support for use on
Windows-based networks.

In June 2004, the Company previewed Mac OS X vers4 (code-named "Tiger"), the fifth major versiaf Mac OS X that is expected to
ship in the first half of calendar 2005. Tiger watintain new features including Spotlight, a new wainstantly find any file, document or
information on a Macintosh created by any applaratin the Macintosh; Safari™ RSS, a new versioipgfle's web browser that incorporates
instant access to Really Simple Syndication (R2H teeds on the web; Dashboard, a new way tonihgtaccess "Widgets," a new collection
of desktop mini application accessories, includirdatebook, stock ticker, calculator, address lmoakiTunes controller; and a new version of
iChat instant messaging client with multi-persodiatand video conferencing in a 3D interface.
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Server Software and Server Solutions

In October 2003, the Company began shipping theentiversion of its server operating system, MacXOServer version 10.3 (code-named
"Panther Server"). This release integrates operce@and open standards server software with easgdananagement tools that make it easy
to serve Macintosh, Windows and Linux clients. bead in Panther Server include Server Admin tookfsily setting up multiple servers;
Open Directory 2 for hosting scalable LDAP diregtand Kerberos authentication services; Samba Brimriding login and home directory
support for Windows clients; and the JBoss appbicaserver for running powerful J2EE applications.

In June 2004, the Company previewed Mac OS X Semesion 10.4 (code-named "Tiger Server"), the mejor release of the Company's
UNIX-based server operating system that deploys openessalutions for Macintosh, Windows and Linux oti& Tiger Server includes nat
support for 64-bit applications; iChat Server tpldg private, encrypted communications within agasization; and migration tools to make it
easy to upgrade from legacy Windows servers to ®I&cX Server.

In June 2004, the Company introduced Apple Remetskidp™ 2, the second generation of the Compasg&t ananagement, software
distribution and help desk support software. Alevith improvements in screen sharing performancelé&Remote Desktop 2 includes more
than 50 features for centrally managing Mac OS 3teaps. Apple Remote Desktop 2 can perform a widga@f desktop management tasks
such as installing operating system and applicat@ftware, running hardware and software inventeports and executing commands on one
or more remote Mac OS X systems on the network.®esoftware installation tools allow IT professadsito install single or multiple
software packages immediately or at specific datestimes. Comprehensive hardware and softwareteehbased on more than 200 system
information attributes allow administrators to keegrk of their Mac OS X systems. In addition, birlreal-time screen sharing enables help
desk professionals to provide online assistancgbsgrving and controlling the desktops of any remMdacintosh or Virtual Network
Computing-enabled computer, including Windows aimik systems.

Xsan, the Company's enterprise-class Storage Aedadik (SAN) file system, was introduced as a lvetaion in April 2004 and is expected

to be available for general release in the FallGfi4. Xsan is a 64-bit cluster file system for M8 X that enables organizations to consolidate
storage resources and provide multiple computetts ezincurrent file-level read/write access to star@umes over Fibre Channel. Advanced
features such as metadata controller failover abeFChannel multipathing ensure high availabilftie-level locking allows multiple systems

to read and write concurrently to the same volurh&kwis ideal for complex workflows; bandwidth resstion provides for effective ingestion
of bandwidth-intensive data streams, such as lggblution video; and flexible volume managementltesn more efficient use of storage
resources. Since Xsan is interoperable with ADEItsNext File System, it can be used in heterogemeavironments that include Windows,
UNIX and Linux server operating system platforms.

Professional Application Softwa

Final Cut Pro® HD, the latest version of the Compsrideo editing software, was introduced in ARGI04 and features retine performanc
of high-quality native DVCPRO HD, a high-definitisideo format, in addition to real-time support €hgital video (DV) and standard
definition (SD) formats. Final Cut Pro HD suppantgive DVCPRO HD editing with no recompressionmage degradation and enables HD
preview monitoring through the computer's DVI degpbutput via the Digital Cinema Desktop featurieaFCut Pro HD's support of native
DVCPRO HD makes media conversion unnecessary, piagehe full quality of the camera original. Fir@ut Pro HD includes precision,
non-modal editing and trimming tools; powerful iritee customization features; advanced real-tinker @mrrection and image control; and
enhanced audio editing capabilities with multi-k@atidio mixing and multi-channel audio output.
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In April 2004, the Company announced DVD Studio®#8) the latest version of the Company's profesdi@VD authoring application. DVD
Studio Pro 3 features Alpha Transitions, which@ueckTime®based movie transitions that may be used as ségiwsen DVD menus and
DVD slide show transitions, and a new Graphical/fer easy visualization of a project's entire flona storyboard environment. Graphical
View makes it easy to see the relationships betweemnus, tracks, slideshows, stories and scriptd Btdio Pro 3 also includes Compressor
1.2, the latest version of the Company's digitatlime&ncoding and compression software that prowiilgis-quality constant and variable bit
rate MPEG-2 encoding. In addition to DV and SD, D8fdio Pro 3 now provides the ability to scale &3l encode directly to MPEGall in
one step.

In August 2004, the Company began shipping Motiomotion graphic design and production applicatdation features interactive
animation of text, graphics and video, with reaidipreviewing of multiple filters and particle effe. Motion introduces "Behaviors," a
procedural animation technology that allows for dldeling of natural looking movement to type ancpbies, such as gravity and wind, without
the use of complex keyframes. Motion's "Interacihashboard” gives users access to a contextualstemmsparent floating palette that
provides the tools and slider parameters for objbetng manipulated on screen. Motion's "ProjeaePallows users to view and manage all
filters, Behaviors, masks and other propertiesieggb all objects and layers of objects withinrajgct.

In August 2004, the Company introduced ProductioiteSwhich combines the latest versions of Final Bro HD, DVD Studio Pro 3 and
Apple Motion into a software suite for film and eidl production that delivers real-time productionlsdn one comprehensive and integrated
package. Production Suite provides an integratettfleov environment where content that is updatedne of the applications in the suite is
automatically updated in the other applications.

Shake® 3.5, an upgrade of the Company's compositidgvisual effects software designed for largenftrfilm and video productions was
introduced in April 2004. Shake 3.5 features shiag&ed morphing and warping tools for advanced caitipg and "shape shifting" special
effects. Morphing and warping further enhance Sisakisual effects tools, including layering, trawlj rotoscoping, painting and color
correction. Shake 3.5 also improves upon the Skakaster network render manager that can now halsti#buted rendering tasks for both
Shake and Alias Systems Corp.'s Maya product, aligor distribution of rendering tasks acrossstdr of servers or computers.

Logic® Pro 7, introduced by the Company in Septem2®®4 is actively used by musicians around thddvand by professionals in music
production, film scoring, and audio post-productiaailities. It combines digital music compositiargtation and audio production facilities in
one comprehensive product and includes softwateumgnts such as Sculpture, a component-modelisgbsynthesizer; UltraBeat, a drum
synthesizer with built-in step sequencer; and digitgnal processing (DSP) plug-ins including Guitanp Pro, a full-featured guitar amplifier
simulator. Along with over 100 workflow enhancengmhastering plug-ins and support for Apple Lodysyic Pro 7 debuts distributed audio
processing, a technology which allows audio prampointo a number of Macintosh systems to expamdlable DSP power via an Ethernet
network.

Consumer, Education and Business Oriented Apptinedioftware

In January 2004, the Company introduced iLife® &, next generation suite of its digital lifestgleplications, which features iPhoto®,
iMovie®, iDVD®, iTunes®software, and introduced GarageBand™, a musicioreabftware application. All of these iLife ap@itons com:
preinstalled on the Company's Macintosh systen@duding servers and storage systems. Burning DV i®VD requires a Macintosh
system configured with a SuperDrive.

iTunes® software, available for both Macintosh &vithdows-based computers, lets users create andgadheair own digital music library.
iTunes organizes music using searching, browsingpéaylist features and supports automatic syndbhadion with the music stored on an
iPod. iTunes supports AAC




and MP3 encoding from audio CDs, provides the tgtii burn custom playlists to CDs and MP3 CDs, altalvs for music sharing between
networked computers. In October 2004, the Compamgigest version, iTunes 4.7, included support émying photos to an iPod photo. Since
April 2003, the Company's iTunes software has betgrated with the Company's iTunes Music Store®atilitate the sale of third-party
music and audio books. Further discussion of tha&BE Music Store may be found above under the hgdMusic Products and Services."

iMovie® is the Company's consumer digital videctiedi software for creation of home and classroonvie® iMovie 4 features an enhanced
user interface, improved audio editing capabiljtesshanced controls for titling and transitionsj added special effects. Users may edit and
trim audio and video clips in the enhanced timelirtn click-and-drag editing and even select anidl mdiltiple clips simultaneously. With
graphical audio waveforms and live audio scrubbirsggrs can locate specific edit points in audioksaand alignment guides make it easy to
precisely sync video and audio.

iDVD® is consumer oriented software that makesgyeto turn iMovie files, QuickTime files and digjitpictures into DVDs that can be played
on most consumer DVD players. iDVD simplifies DVDthoring by including professionally designed themaad drag-and-drop simplicity.
iDVD® 4 includes themes and professional effec& Hillow users to use photos and movies as butb@aeigrounds and menus. Movies from
iMovie, photos from iPhoto and music from eitheuiies or GarageBand can be added directly to a D(Ehe media browser, and enhanced
photo slideshows can include cinematic transitemd iTunes playlists. The DVD Map provides an oieof an entire DVD project and
instant accessibility to all project elements.

GarageBand™, the Company's consumer oriented ratesition software, allows users to play, record @edte music using a simple
interface. With GarageBand, recorded performaraigial audio and looping tracks can be arrangetiatited to create songs. GarageBand
comes with more than 50 software instruments, peended audio loops for making complete songs okibg tracks, pro-quality effects
presets for mixing, and vintage amplifier soundstfi@ guitar. The Company also offers three difiedam Packs, which provide additional
software instruments and loops that enhance thefusarageBand to create and record music.

iPhoto® is consumer oriented digital photo softwiiia makes it easy to import, edit, save, share paint digital photos, as well as organize
and manage an entire digital photo collection dairig thousands of photos. Users are able to vimir photos in full-screen; use the slide
show feature accompanied by their favorite musitomatically create custom web pages of their phyamail photos to friends and family;
order professionally-processed prints and enlargésranline; or easily design and order custom-pdnlineneovered hard bound photo boc
online. Customers in numerous countries can ordetsp enlargements, and photo books directly fraithin iPhoto. iPhoto® 4 has features
that allow users to scroll through thousands oftphiin seconds to easily find a particular photmtains Smart Albums which automatically
organizes photos based on date, keyword or thésusen rating, and has controls for rotating, p@md deleting photos.

Final Cut® Express, based on Final Cut Pro, enabitesl business users, educators, students and@etyaobbyists to perform professional-
quality digital video editing. In January 2004, thempany introduced Final Cut Express 2, whichuiest RT Extreme for real-time
compositing and effects, an enhanced user interfaaétime color correction tools and enhancedaaditing capabilities.

Logic® Express 7, introduced by the Company in Seybter 2004, is a streamlined version of Logic Ptieaf provides a basic set of
professional tools to compose and produce musisttatents, educators and advanced hobbyists. Eogitess 7 comes with support for
projects from GarageBand offering users a smootration path to high-end audio production.

Keynote™ is the Company's presentation softwaredivas users the ability to create high-qualitggentations. Designed to be easy to use,
Keynote includes professionally designed themeseaed
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typography, professional-quality image resizingnaated charts and tables that can be created guikt cinematic-quality transitions.
Keynote imports and exports PowerPoint, QuickTiare] PDF files to simplify the creation and sharfigresentations.

AppleWorks® 6.2 is an integrated productivity apgtion that incorporates word processing, pageugymage manipulation, spreadsheets,
databases and presentations in a single applicdtimded to be an easy-to-use product for the famyis consumer and education customers,
AppleWorks makes it simple to create professionaking documents in the classroom and at home.

FileMaker, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of theripany, develops, publishes, and distributes dpdbésed database management
application software for either a Macintosh or Wing-based computer. The FileMak&Pro database software and related products offer
relational databases and desktop-to-web publistépabilities. In March 2004, the Company introduE@dMaker Pro 7 with new architecture
and enhancements in ease-of-use, customizabilitydameloper productivity. FileMaker Pro 7 has besgesigned using a modern, streamlined
relational architecture, which enables users tgbfyninformation management by storing multiplékkes within a single file and includes the
relationships graph feature which presents a visuap" of the database and lets users create adifymelationships with a simple click and
drag tool. FileMaker Pro 7 has also expanded its dapacity to 8 terabytes per file or 4,000 titesformer limit.

Internet Software, Integration, and Services

Apple's Internet strategy is focused on delivesagmless integration with and access to the Intémmeughout the Company's product lines.
The Company's Internet products and technologiesrado many industry standards in order to progitleptimized user experience through
interoperability. An easy to use Internet Setupigtast is included with the Mac OS.

Safari™

Safari, the Company's Mac OS X compatible web bewwis capable of loading web pages rapidly. Safses the advanced interface
technologies underlying Mac OS X and includes HuilGoogle search; SnapBack™ to instantly retursgarch results; a way to name,
organize and present bookmarks; tabbed browsirgaatomatic "pop-up" ad blocking. The Company atdeased a software development kit
that allows developers to embed the Safari HTMIdegimg engine directly into their applications.

Quicktime®

QuickTime, the Company's multimedia software fdhei a Macintosh or Windows-based computer, featstieaming of live and stored video
and audio over the Internet and playback of higaliguaudio and video on computers. QuickTime 8udes the Instant-On Streaming feature
that eliminates buffer delays and provides usetis thie ability to quickly and easily scrub througtheaming media content to locate and
instantly view specific sections. In addition, Qdidme 6 running on Mac OS X now supports JPEG 2889 next generation JPEG standard
that allows users to capture still images in a éigjuality and smaller file size than ever bef@aickTime 6 also includes AAC, the standard
MPEG-4 audio format. AAC is the next generationfessional-quality audio format that delivers supesound quality with reduced file sizes.

The Company also offers several other QuickTimapets, including QuickTime Pro, a suite of softwhels that allows creation and editing
of Internet-ready audio and video files and all@ausser to add special effects and other featur@uickTime movies; QuickTime Streaming
Server which facilitates the broadcasting of stiegndigital video; and QuickTime Broadcaster thédwas users to quickly and easily produce
professional-quality live events for online deliyer
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.Mac™

The Company's .Mac offering is a suite of Inteseatvices that for an annual fee provides Macintesgrs with powerful Internet tools. .Mac
features email service with IMAP, POP or wedsed access and 125MB of storage, iDisk Intetoed@e capacity of an additional 125MB, ¢
hosting for personalized homepages and shareagdgjibto albums. Also included with .Mac is McAfe¥/irex anti-virus software and
Backup, a personal back-up solution allowing usechive data to their Internet storage, CD, ¥iDD

Wireless Connectivity and Networking
AirPort Extreme®

AirPort Extreme, introduced in January 2003, is@menpany's next generation of Wi-Fi wireless nekiray technology. AirPort Extreme is
based on the 802.11g standard, which supports spgeth 54 Mbps, and is fully compatible with m@étFi devices which use the 802.11b
standard. AirPort Extreme Base Stations can sgvwe 60 Macintosh and Windows users simultaneoystyyide wireless bridging to extend
the range beyond just one base station, and sup@Btprinter sharing to allow multiple users toeléssly share USB printers connected
directly to the base station.

AirPort® Express

In June 2004, the Company introduced AirPort® Egpréhe first 802.11g mobile base station thatteaplugged directly into the wall for
wireless Internet connections and USB printing pait Express also features analog and digital aodiputs that can be connected to a stereo
and AirTunes™ music networking software which wonkth iTunes, giving users a way to wirelessly aimeiTunes music from their
Macintosh or Windows-based computer to any roothénhouse. AirPort Express features a single plesgn weighing 6.7 ounces.

Other Connectivity and Networking Solutions

Mac OS X includes capabilities for Bluetooth teclugy. Bluetooth is an industry standard for wirslgsconnecting computers and peripherals
that supports transmission of data at up to 1 Mbilsin a range of approximately 30 feet. The ConmymBluetooth technology for Mac OS X
lets customers wirelessly share files between Masmsystems, synchronize and share contact infmmaith Palm-OS based PDAs, and
access the Internet through Bluetooth-enabledobelhes. A Bluetooth USB adaptor can Bluetooth-emahly USB-based Macintosh computer
running in Mac OS X version 10.1.4 or higher.

The Company's zero configuration networking techgyplis based on open Internet Engineering Taskd=HOECTF) Standard Protocols such as
IP, ARP and DNS and is built into Mac OS X. Thisheology uses industry standard networking pro®eold zero configuration technology

to automatically discover and connect devices amgrlP network, including Ethernet or 802.11-bas@eless networks like the Company's
AirPort products. The source code for this techgplalso includes software to support UNIX, LinurdaVindows-based systems and devices.
Major developers such as Canon, Epson, Hewlettd&dckexmark, Philips, Sybase, World Book and Xenaxe announced support for this
zero configuration networking technology in a broadge of products including network printers, agnser electronics, enterprise database
management and educational applications. The Coynpas made the source code for this technologyyfeeailable to developers for use in
their network-enabled devices or software appliceti

The Company developed FireWigetechnology, also referred to as IEEE 1394, which lisgh-speed serial 1/0 technology for connecting
digital devices such as digital camcorders and cast® desktop and portable computers. With ith digta-transfer speed and "hot plug-and-
play" capability, FireWire has become an estabtistress-platform industry standard for both consgnaad professionals and is the data
interface of choice for today's digital video andlis devices, as well as external hard drives and
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other high-speed peripherals. FireWire is curreimtyuded on all Macintosh systems and is a datsster technology utilized by iPod.
Product Support and Services

AppleCare® offers a range of support options for Apple custtan€&hese options include assistance that is imtidtsoftware products, printed
and electronic product manuals, online supporuiticlg comprehensive product information as wetegtnical assistance, and the AppleCare
Protection Plan. The AppleCare Protection Planfeeabased service that typically includes thresry®f phone support and hardware repairs,
dedicated web-based support resources, and uggrodigc tools.

Specialized Education Products and Services

The Company offers a variety of unique servicesoducts to its education customers, includingasate online store for education
customers offering special education price list® promotions; special financing programs for K-h2l digher education students, faculty, and
staff; a special edition of its productivity softwessuite, AppleWorks, that is compatible for bothdihtosh and Windows-based computers;
Wireless Mobile Labs that allows teachers and sttgd® share iBook computers, a printer, and alegeenetwork/Internet connection stored
on a cart for mobility between classrooms; andelsgecial Digital Media Studio solutions designedefducation, including one that is
integrated into a mobile cart. Additionally, ther@oany offers one-to-one (1:1) learning solutionkicly are a complete solution typically
consisting of an iBook portable system for evendent and teacher along with a wireless networkeoted to a central server.

The Company's PowerScha®lsoftware product is a web-based student informatjmtem for K-12 schools and school districts. R&gkool
software products give school administrators aadhers the ability to easily and cost-effectivelgnmage student records and give parents real-
time access to track their children's performanadhe Internet. PowerSchool offers the optioneshote hosting with an application service
provider model.

Markets and Distribution

The Company's customers are primarily in the edocatreative, consumer, and business markets.eAqmtomers are attracted to Macintosh
computers for a variety of reasons, including #guced amount of training resulting from the Mam$tt computer's intuitive ease of use,
advanced graphics capabilities, industrial desggiures of the Company's hardware products, atityadfiMacintosh computers to network
and communicate with other computer systems antl@maents. Apple personal computers were firsbititiced to education customers in the
late 1970s. Over 16% of the Company's net sal2®0d were through its U.S. education channel, dioly sales to elementary and secondary
schools, higher education institutions and indiidcustomers.

The Company distributes its products through whadégs, resellers, national and regional retaileds@ataloguers. No individual customer
accounted for more than 10% of net sales in 20083 2r 2002. The Company also sells many of itslpets and resells certain third-party
products in most of its major markets directly emsumers, education customers, and businessegthitsuetail stores in the U.S. and
internationally, or through one of its online stoeround the world. Total direct and indirect satassacted through the Company's online
stores totaled approximately $3.9 billion, $2.9it, and $2.4 billion for fiscal years 2004, 20&3d 2002, respectively.

Competition

The Company is confronted by aggressive competitiail areas of its business. The market for th&igh, manufacture, and sale of personal
computers and related software and peripheral pteds highly competitive. This market continued&characterized by rapid technological
advances in both hardware and software developmaith have substantially increased the capalslitied applications of these products,
have resulted in the frequent introduction of neadpicts and significant price,
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feature, and performance competition. Over the pagtral years, price competition in the markepfnsonal computers has been particularly
intense. The Company's competitors who sell petsmmaputers based on other operating systems rgyressively cut prices and lowered
their product margins to gain or maintain marketrehThe Company's results of operations and fiahoondition have been, and in the future
may continue to be, adversely affected by theseottmel industry-wide downward pressures on groSgims.

The principal competitive factors in the market personal computers include relative price/perforoea product quality and reliability, design
innovation, availability of software, product feets, marketing and distribution capability, senéeel support, availability of hardware
peripherals, and corporate reputation. Furthethapersonal computer industry and its customexsepmore reliance on the Internet, an
increasing number of Internet devices that are lemaimpler, and less expensive than traditioeaspnal computers may compete for market
share with the Company's existing products.

The Company is currently taking and will continoedke steps to respond to the competitive pressemg placed on its personal computer
sales as a result of innovations in competing ptat. The Company's future operating results amhfiial condition are substantially
dependent on its ability to continue to developriowements to the Macintosh platform in order tomtein perceived functional and design
advantages over competing platforms.

The Company's initial success with the developmé&an end-to-end music offering, which includesithienes software, iTunes Music Store
and iPod digital music player, has already encaotegignificant competition in this area from otbempanies, many of whom have greater
financial, marketing, and manufacturing resourbes tthose of the Company. The Company anticipagscompetition will intensify requirir
the Company to respond as hardware, software amemioproviders work more collaboratively to offetegrated products that compete
against the Company's offerings. The Company bediévmaintains a competitive advantage by morecéffely integrating the entire end-to-
end music solution, including the hardware (iPadftware (iTunes) and distribution of third-partysic content (iTunes Music Store).

Raw Materials

Although most components essential to the Compdmgisiess are generally available from multiplerses, certain key components
(including microprocessors and application-spedgiftegrated circuits ("ASICs")) are currently olmtadl by the Company from single or limited
sources. Some other key components, while currentijlable to the Company from multiple sources,artimes subject to industry wide
availability constraints and pricing pressuresadidition, the Company uses some components thaioaigmmon to the rest of the personal
computer and consumer electronics industries, amdproducts introduced by the Company often injtiatilize custom components obtained
from only one source until the Company has evatlatieether there is a need for, and subsequentlffiggaadditional suppliers. If the supply
of a key or single-sourced component to the Compeang to be delayed or curtailed or in the evekgyamanufacturing vendor delays
shipments of completed products to the CompanyCtmapany's ability to ship related products in debguantities and in a timely manner
could be adversely affected. The Company did egped such delays during fiscal 2004, which resutidtle constrained availability of
certain products. The Company's business and fialgperformance could also be adversely affectquedding on the time required to obtain
sufficient quantities from the original source tolidentify and obtain sufficient quantities from alternative source. Continued availability of
these components may be affected if producers twatecide to concentrate on the production of comowmponents instead of components
customized to meet the Company's requirementsChimepany attempts to mitigate these potential tiskw/orking closely with these and
other key suppliers on product introduction plastsategic inventories, coordinated product intraauns, and internal and external
manufacturing schedules and levels. Consistentiwitbstry practice, the Company acquires componéntsigh a combination of formal
purchase orders, supplier
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contracts, and open orders based on projected deimonmation. Such purchase commitments typicatlyer the Company's requirements for
periods ranging from 30 to 130 days.

The Company believes there are several compongptists and manufacturing vendors whose loss t@rapany could have a material
adverse effect upon the Company's business anacfagosition. At this time, such vendors inclusigere Systems, Inc., Ambit Microsystems
Corporation, ASUSTeK Corporation, ATl Technologibs;., Broadcom Corporation, Freescale Semicondukbto. (formerly the
Semiconductor Products Segment of Motorola, Ihtitachi Global Storage Technologies, Hon Hai Piiecisndustry Co., Ltd., IBM
Corporation, International Display Technology, Intex Appliances Corporation, LG. Phillips Co., L teatsushita, Mitsubishi Electric
Corporation, NVIDIA Corp., Portal Player, Inc., Qua Computer, Inc., Samsung Electronics, Synagtics, and Toshiba Corporation.

Research and Development

Because the personal computer industry is charaeteby rapid technological advances, the Compaabyjlgy to compete successfully is
heavily dependent upon its ability to ensure aiooimig and timely flow of competitive products aied¢hnology to the marketplace. The
Company continues to develop new products and tdogies and to enhance existing products in thasaoé hardware and peripherals,
consumer electronic products, system softwarejegipins software, networking and communicatiorféngre and solutions, and the Internet.
The Company may expand the range of its produetioffs and intellectual property through licensamgl/or acquisition of thirgharty busines
and technology. The Company's research and developexpenditures totaled $489 million, $471 milliand $446 million in 2004, 2003, a
2002, respectively.

Patents, Trademarks, Copyrights and Licenses

The Company currently holds rights to patents amydghts relating to certain aspects of its corepsistems, iPods, peripherals and
software. In addition, the Company has registesied/or has applied to register, trademarks andcgemarks in the U.S. and a number of
foreign countries for "Apple,” the Apple logo, "Matosh,"” and numerous other trademarks and semar&s. Although the Company believes
the ownership of such patents, copyrights, tradksnand service marks is an important factor ibitsiness and that its success does depend i
part on the ownership thereof, the Company religsgrily on the innovative skills, technical comeete, and marketing abilities of its
personnel.

Many of the Company's products are designed tadecintellectual property obtained from third-pestiWhile it may be necessary in the
future to seek or renew licenses relating to variaspects of its products and business method€dimpany believes that, based upon past
experience and industry practice, such licensesrgéiy could be obtained on commercially reasontdries; however, there is no guarantee
that such licenses could be obtained at all. Bexafitechnological changes in the computer industiyrent extensive patent coverage, anc
rapid rate of issuance of new patents, it is pdssibrtain components of the Company's productsasthess methods may unknowingly
infringe existing patents of others. The Company fneam time to time been notified that it may b&imging certain patents or other intellect
property rights of others.

Foreign and Domestic Operations and Geographic Data

The U.S. represents the Company's largest geograprketplace. Approximately 59% of the Compangtssales in fiscal 2004 came from
sales to customers inside the U.S. Final assenilgyoducts sold by the Company is conducted inGbepany's manufacturing facility in
Cork, Ireland, and by external vendors in Frem@atljfornia, Fullerton, California, Taiwan, Korehget Netherlands, the People's Republic of
China, and the Czech Republic. Currently, manufaobdi many of the components used in the Compamgducts and final assembly of
substantially all of the Company's portable prodiictiuding PowerBooks, iBooks, and the iPod aréopened by third-party vendors in
Taiwan and China. Margins on sales of Apple praslircforeign countries, and on sales of produdsiticlude components obtained from
foreign
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suppliers, can be adversely affected by foreigmetuny exchange rate fluctuations and by internatitnade regulations, including tariffs and
antidumping penalties.

Information regarding financial data by geograpegment is set forth in Part Il, Item 8 of this#at0-K in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements at Note 11, "Segment Infolonatind Geographic Data."

Seasonal Business

The Company has historically experienced increastdales in its first and fourth fiscal quarte@mnpared to other quarters in its fiscal year,
due to seasonal demand related to the holiday seasbthe school year, respectively. Past perfocmahould not be considered a reliable
indicator of the Company's future net sales orrfaial performance.

Warranty

The Company offers a basic limited parts and latenranty on its hardware products. The basic wéyrperiod for hardware products is
typically one year from the date of purchase byehé-user. The Company also offers a 90-day baaicanty for Apple service parts used to
repair Apple hardware products. In addition, constsimay purchase extended service coverage onAppkt hardware products in all of the
Company's major markets.

Backlog

In the Company's experience, the actual amountarfyct backlog at any particular time is not a niegiul indication of its future business
prospects. In particular, backlog often increasemniticipation of or immediately following new pract introductions because of over-ordering
by dealers anticipating shortages. Backlog oftardsiced once dealers and customers believe timeghtain sufficient supply. Because of the
foregoing, backlog should not be considered alsldiandicator of the Company's ability to achiewy particular level of revenue or financial
performance.

Environmental Laws

Compliance with federal, state, local, and fordegms enacted for the protection of the environntexst to date had no material effect on the
Company's capital expenditures, earnings, or catiyeposition. In the future, these laws could @amaterial adverse affect on the
Company.

Production and marketing of products in certaitestand countries may subject the Company to emviemtal and other regulations including,
in some instances, the requirement that the Compeowde consumers with the ability to return te thompany product at the end of its us
life, and place responsibility for environmentadigfe disposal or recycling with the Company. Saetsland regulations have recently been
passed in several jurisdictions in which the Conypaperates, including various European Union merstaes, Japan and California. In the
future, these laws could have a material adverfeetadn the Company.

Employees

As of September 25, 2004, Apple and its subsidiasierldwide had 11,695 employees and an additibjYal1 temporary employees and
contractors.

Available Information

The Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, QuartBeyports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8¢, amendments to reports filed
pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Seesiiixchange Act of 1934, as amended, are avaitabits website at
http://www.apple.com/investor when such reportsaa@lable on the U.S. Securities and Exchange Csgiom (SEC) website. The public
may read and copy any materials filed by the Compeith the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Roo#b@ Fifth Street, NW, Washington,
DC 20549. The public may obtain information on tiperation of
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the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC ab@@-8EC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet siteciiatains reports, proxy and
information statements and other information regeydssuers that file electronically with the SEChap://www.sec.gov. The contents of these
websites are not incorporated into this filing. ther, the Company's references to the URLs forethesbsites are intended to be inactive
textual references only.

Item 2. Properties

The Company's headquarters are located in Cupe@aldornia. The Company has manufacturing faesitin Cork, Ireland. As of

September 25, 2004, the Company leased approxiyr@atimillion square feet of space, primarily ietd.S., and to a lesser extent, in Europe,
Japan, and the Asia Pacific region. The majoritgdiases are for terms of 5 to 10 years and gdigegrovide renewal options for terms of -

5 additional years. Leased space includes 660 §@érs feet of retail space, a majority of whicimishe U.S. Lease terms for retail space re
from 5 to 16 years, the majority of which are frylears, and often contain multi-year renewal oytio

The Company owns its manufacturing facility in Cdreland, which has approximately 352,000 squeeg. fThe Cork facility also houses a
customer support call center. The Company also @vis2,000 square-foot facility in Sacramento, f0atia, which has a customer support
call center and is used for warehousing and digioh. In addition, the Company owns approxima,000 square feet of facilities located
in Cupertino, California, used for research andettggment and corporate functions. Outside the th8.Company owns additional facilities
totaling approximately 169,000 square feet.

The Company believes its existing facilities andipment are well maintained and in good operatimgdétion. The Company has invested in
internal capacity and strategic relationships wititside manufacturing vendors, and therefore bediévhas adequate manufacturing capacity
for the foreseeable future. The Company continoesdke investments in capital equipment as neeslateet anticipated demand for its
products.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company is subject to various legal proceedamgkclaims that are discussed below. The Commalgd subject to certain other legal
proceedings and claims that have arisen in thenargicourse of business and which have not begnddjudicated. In the opinion of
management, the Company does not have a potaabdity related to any current legal proceedingd alaims that would individually or in
the aggregate have a material adverse effect dimascial condition, liquidity or results of opéi@ns. However, the results of legal
proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty.uhthe Company fail to prevail in any of thesedlegatters or should several of these legal
matters be resolved against the Company in the sapueting period, the operating results of a pafér reporting period could be materially
adversely affected. The Company settled certainersain 2004, which did not individually or in thggregate have a material impact on the
Company's results of operations.

Antor Media Corporation v. Apple Computer, Inc.aét

Plaintiff Antor Media filed this action on Septenmtie 2003 in the United States District Court ie tBastern District of Texas alleging
infringement by the Company and other defendants.8f patent 5,754,961 relating to a "Method angakptus for Transmitting Information
Recorded on Information Storage Means from a CeStever to Subscribers via a High Data Rate Dididecommunications Network." The
complaint seeks unspecified damages and othef.rélie Company has answered the complaint, dersfirajlegations and asserting numet
affirmative defenses. The Company also assertedtentiaims requesting declaratory judgment for mdringement and invalidity. Trial is set
for March 2005. The Court held a Markman hearingeptember 16, 2004 but has not yet issued a ruling
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Apple Corps Ltd. v. Apple Computer, Inc.; Apple @atar, Inc. v. Apple Corps Lt

Plaintiff Apple Corps filed this action on July 2003 in the High Court of Justice, Chancery Diuisim London alleging that the Company has
breached a 1991 agreement that resolved earldartrark litigation between the parties regardingafs&pple marks. Plaintiff seeks an
injunction, unspecified damages and other relieE Tompany filed a motion on October 13, 2003,lehging jurisdiction in the UK, but the
Court denied the motion on April 7, 2004. The Compfiled an appeal of the Court's decision but sghently withdrew the appeal and is
preparing its defense in this matter.

On October 8, 2003, the Company filed a lawsuth&United States District Court for the Northeristbct of California requesting a
declaratory judgment that the Company has not beghthe 1991 agreement. Apple Corps challengestjgtion in the California case but the
Court denied that challenge on March 25, 2004. A@rps subsequently prevailed on a motion totsiayCalifornia case during the pende
of the UK action. The Company has dismissed th&d®ala lawsuit without prejudice.

Cagney v. Apple Computer, Inc.

Plaintiff filed this purported class action on Janu9, 2004 in Los Angeles County Superior Couleging improper collection of sales tax in
transactions involving mail-in rebates. The comulaileges violations of California Civil Code Sect 17200 (unfair competition) and seeks
unspecified damages and other relief. The Compas/served on January 21, 2004, and filed an armwEebruary 20, 2004, denying all
allegations and asserting numerous affirmativerdefe. The Company is investigating these allegatibhe Company filed a motion to
disqualify Plaintiff's counsel, which the Court deth The Company filed a petition for a writ of naate with respect to this ruling and the
Court of Appeal has issued an order to show casise @why the writ should not issue. Plaintiffs leaminsel subsequently withdrew. The
hearing on the show cause order is scheduled faradg 29, 2005. The Company also has obtained mioopon the tax issue from the State
Board of Equalization.

Compression Labs, Inc. v. Apple Computer, Inca).efApple v. Compression Labs, Inc., et al.

Plaintiff Compression Labs, Inc. filed this patérftingement action on April 22, 2004 against then@pany and twenty-seven other defendants
in the United States District Court for the EastBistrict of Texas, Marshall Division, alleging mfgement of U.S. patent 4,698,672. Plaintiff
alleges that the Company infringes the patent Imyptging with the JPEG standard as defined by COREEommendation T.81 entitled
“Information Technology—Digital Compression and @agof Continuous Tone Still Images—Requirements @uidelines." Plaintiff seeks
unspecified damages and other relief. The Compamwestigating this claim. Defendants have filedation to dismiss or, in the alternative,

to transfer the case to Delaware. The case isstodery and trial is expected in October 2005. @y 3, 2004, the Company and several other
defendants in the Texas action filed a lawsuihe Wnited States District Court in Delaware requgstieclaratory judgment of
noninfringement, invalidity, implied license andeumforceability with respect to the '672 patent. Aiddal actions regarding this patent have
been filed in other jurisdictions. A petition hasen filed with the Panel on MulBistrict Litigation (MDL), seeking coordination arichnsfer o

all of these cases to one court for pre-trial peciegs.

Craft v. Apple Computer, In¢filed December 23, 2003, Santa Clara County Sop&ourt);Chin v. Apple Computer, Inffiled December 23,
2003, San Mateo County Superior Courtiighes v. Apple Computer, Iféled December 23, 2003, Santa Clara County Sop&wourt);
Westley v. Apple Computer, Irffiled December 26, 2003, San Francisco County Sap€ourt); Keegan v. Apple Computer, Ir(@iled
December 30, 2003, Alameda County Superior CoWggya v. Apple Computer, Inéiled February 19, 2004, Alameda County Superior
Court); Yamin v. Apple Computer, Indiled February 24, 2004, Los Angeles County Suge@iourt);Kieta v. Apple Computer, In¢filed

July 8, 2004, Alameda County Superior Court)

Eight separate plaintiffs filed purported classacttases in various California courts allegingnepsesentations by the Company relative to
iPod battery life. The complaints include causeaation
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for violation of California Civil Code Section 17@@unfair competition), the Consumer Legal Remedietson ("CLRA") and claims for false
advertising, fraudulent concealment and breachasfamty. The complaints seek unspecified damageé®otmer relief. The Company is
investigating these claims. The cases have beesolidated in San Mateo County and Plaintiffs haleglfa consolidated complaint.

In addition, a similar complaint relative to iPodttery life,Mosley v. Apple Computer, Inwas filed in Westchester County, New York on
June 23, 2004 alleging violations of New York Geth@&usiness Law Sections 349 (unfair competitiorg 850 (false advertising). The
Company removed the case to Federal Court andtififiled a motion for remand, which the Court haat yet decided.

Davis v. Apple Computer, In

Plaintiff filed this purported class action in Sarancisco County Superior Court on December 5, 2802ging that the Company engaged in
unfair and deceptive business practices relatints tAppleCare Extended Service and Warranty F¥aintiff asserts causes of action for
violation of the California Business and Professi@ode §17200 and 817500, breach of the Song-Bewatranty Act, intentional
misrepresentation and concealment. Plaintiff reguasspecified damages and other relief. The Comfial a demurrer and motion to strike
which were granted, in part, and Plaintiff filed @amended complaint. The Company filed an answeXmii 17, 2003 denying all allegations
and asserting numerous affirmative defenses. Hfanbsequently amended its complaint. On Oct@$r2003, the Company filed a motior
disqualify Plaintiff's counsel in his role as coeh® the purported class and to the general publie Court granted the motion, but allowed
Plaintiff to retain substitute counsel. Plaintifidengage new counsel for the general public, btifer the class. The Company moved to
disqualify Plaintiff's new counsel and to have @wurt dismiss the general public claims for equéablief. The Court declined to disqualify
Plaintiff's new counsel or to dismiss the equitatims, but did confirm that the class actionrosiare dismissed. The case is stayed pending
an appeal.

East Texas Technology Partners LP v. Apple Complrter

Plaintiff filed this patent infringement action danuary 23, 2004 in the United States District Couthe Eastern District of Texas alleging
infringement by the Company and seven other defasdz U.S. patent 6,574,239 relating to "Virtuaimdection of a Remote Unit to a
Server." The complaint seeks unspecified damageotner relief. The Plaintiff's law firm withdrewdm the case because of a conflict of
interest and dismissed the complaint without priegidThe case was re-filed on February 10, 20@4érNorthern District of Texas by a new
law firm. The Company received service of the nemplaint on May 17, 2004 and filed a response ogust 6, 2004, denying all allegations
and asserting numerous affirmative defenses. Tmep@ay is investigating this claim, and the cada discovery.

Gobeli Research Ltd. v. Apple Computer, Inc., et al

Plaintiff Gobeli Research Ltd. filed this patenfringement action against the Company and Sun Mi@tems, Inc. on April 15, 2004 in the
United States District Court for the Eastern Dittdf Texas, Marshall Division, alleging infringemnteof U.S. patent 5,418,968 related to a
"System and Method of Controlling Interrupt Prodegs Plaintiff alleges that the Company's Mac O&@ Mac OS X operating systems
infringe Plaintiff's patent. Plaintiff seeks unsjjieei damages and other relief. The Company haweresl the complaint, denying all allegati
and asserting numerous defenses. The Companyaestigating this claim.

Goldberg, et al. v. Apple Computer, Inc., et ak.é. "Dan v. Apple Computer, Inc.")

Plaintiffs filed this purported class action on &spber 22, 2003 in Los Angeles County Superior Cagainst the Company and other
members of the industry on behalf of an allegeibnatide class of purchasers of certain computed daives. The case alleges violations of
Civil Code Section 17200 (unfair competition), thensumer Legal Remedies Act ("CLRA") and false atisiag related to the size of the
drives. Plaintiffs allege that calculation of hahive size using the decimal method misrepreséets t
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actual size of the drive. The complaint seeks utifipd damages and other relief. Plaintiff filed @mended complaint on March 30, 2004 and
the Company filed an answer on September 23, 208ying all allegations and asserting numerousnadfiive defenses. The Company is
investigating this claim. The parties are condugtiiscovery related to class certification.

Hawaii Structural Iron Workers and Pension Trustiéw. Apple Computer, Inc. and Steven P. Jobs; y@uApple Computer, Inc., et a
Hsu v. Apple Computer Inc., et

Beginning on September 27, 2001, three shareholdss action lawsuits were filed in the United &dDistrict Court for the Northern District
of California against the Company and its Chief &ive Officer. These lawsuits are substantialbnitical, and purport to bring suit on behalf
of persons who purchased the Company's publictiettaommon stock between July 19, 2000, and Segte®d) 2000. The complaints allege
violations of the 1934 Securities Exchange Act seek unspecified compensatory damages and otledt fiddle Company filed a motion to
dismiss on June 4, 2002, which was heard by thet@ouSeptember 13, 2002. On December 11, 2002 dleet granted the Company's mo
to dismiss for failure to state a cause of actwith leave to Plaintiffs to amend their complairithin thirty days. Plaintiffs filed their amended
complaint on January 31, 2003, and on March 17320 Company filed a motion to dismiss the amdraemplaint. The Court heard the
Company's motion on July 11, 2003 and dismisseitifa’ claims with prejudice on August 12, 20038aintiffs have appealed the ruling.

Honeywell International, Inc., et al. v. Apple Cautgr, Inc., et al

Plaintiffs Honeywell International, Inc. and Honestintellectual Properties, Inc. filed this action October 6, 2004 in the United States
District Court in Delaware alleging infringement the Company and other defendants of U.S. pat@803371 entitled "Directional Diffuser
for a Liquid Crystal Display." Plaintiffs seek uresjified damages and other relief. The Companyvsstigating this claim in connection with
preparing its response to the complaint.

MacTech Systems v. Apple Computer, Inc.; Macadakpple Computer, Inc.; Computer International, ImcApple Computer, Inc.; Elit
Computers and Software, Inc. v. Apple Computer; Iifee Neighborhood Computer Store v. Apple Commplrte. (all in Santa Clara County
Superior Court)

Five resellers have filed similar lawsuits agathst Company for various causes of action includireach of contract, fraud, negligent and
intentional interference with economic relationshipgligent misrepresentation, trade libel, unfaimpetition and false advertising. Plaintiffs
request unspecified damages and other relief. Tdmepany answered the Computer International comipdeirNovember 12, 2003 denying all
allegations and asserting numerous affirmativertsgs. The parties are in discovery in that case.Qdmpany expects the other four plaintiffs
to file amended complaints. On October 1, 2003,afribe resellers, Macadam, was deauthorized @gpple reseller. Macadam filed a motion
for a temporary order to reinstate it as a reselich the Court denied. The Court denied Macadandtion for a preliminary injunction on
December 19, 2003.

Teleshuttle Technologies, LLC and BTG Internatidnal v. Microsoft and Apple Computer, Inc.

Plaintiffs filed this case on July 20, 2004 in WmitStates District Court for the Northern Disto€California alleging infringement of U.S.
patent 6,557,054, entitled "Method and System fistributing Updates by Presenting Directory of Safite Available for User Installation Tt
is Not Already Installed on User Station." Plaifgtifeek unspecified damages and other relief. tiffaifiled an amended complaint on
September 7, 2004, adding a second patent, USta#§9,009 entitled "Method and System for Seferti Personalized Set of Information
Channels." The Company filed an answer on OctoBeRQ04, denying all allegations and asserting moogaffirmative defenses.

VirginMega/French Competition Council

On June 28, 2004, VirginMega filed a complaint vthle French Competition Council against Apple Cotap&rance. VirginMega sought
"interim measures," requiring the Company to lieeits FairPlay
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digital rights management ("DRM") technology to §iimMega and all other interested parties withimtyhilays. A hearing on VirginMega's
request for interim measures took place on Oct&BeP004. On November 9, 2004, the French Comegatifiouncil issued a decision denying
VirginMega's request for interim measures and tigjgcvirginMega's complaint.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securitydolders
No matters were submitted to a vote of securitgled during the fourth quarter of the Companysaliyear ended September 25, 2(
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for the Registrant's Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &fquity Securities
(a) Stock Market Information

The Company's common stock is traded on the owectlunter market and is quoted on the NASDAQ Nalidtarket under the symbol
AAPL, on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (TSE) under gratsol APPLE, and on the Frankfurt Stock Exchangadenthe symbol APCD. On
November 17, 2004, the Company filed an applicatiith the TSE to delist the Company's shares fr@ding on the TSE. As (
November 19, 2004, there were 28,518 shareholdeezord.

The Company did not pay cash dividends in eitrerali 2004 or 2003. The Company anticipates thathivforeseeable future, it will retain
any earnings for use in the operation of its bussn&he price range per share of common stock piegéelow represents the highest and
lowest closing prices for the Company's commonkstocthe NASDAQ National Market during each quarter

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarter First Quarter
Fiscal 2004 price range per common st $38.0:-$29.1« $33.7(-$25.7¢ $27.66$21.1¢ $24.8:-$19.7(
Fiscal 2003 price range per common st $23.1(-$19.0¢ $19.2¢-$13.1¢ $15.27-$13.8( $17.2-$13.5¢

(b) Related Shareholder Matters
None.
(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

In July 1999, the Company's Board of Directors atigted a plan for the Company to repurchase ub@®$nillion of its common stock.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company mtento a forward purchase agreement to acquirenillion shares of its common stock in
September of 2003 at an average price of $16.64hme for a total cost of $25.5 million. In Aug@s03, the Company settled this agreement
prior to its maturity, at which time the Compangtsnmon stock had a fair value of $22.81. Sincegptioa of the stock repurchase plan, the
Company has repurchased a total of 6.55 milliomeshat a cost of $217 million. The Company was @ughd to repurchase up to an additic
$283 million of its common stock as of SeptemberZ®4. The Company did not repurchase any sh&iesammon stock during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2004.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial information hashelerived from the audited consolidated finansialements. The information set forth
below is not necessarily indicative of resultsufife operations, and should be read in conjunetiitim item 7, "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems" and the consolidated financial statememdsralated notes thereto included in
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Item 8 of this Form 10-K in order to fully undensthfactors that may affect the comparability of itfermation presented below.

Five fiscal years ended September 25, 20

(In millions, except share and per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Net sales $ 8,27¢ $ 6,207 $ 574: $ 536: $ 7,98
Net income (loss $ 27¢ % 69 $ 65 $ (25 $ 78€
Earnings (loss) per common she
Basic $ 07¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.0 $ 2.4z
Diluted $ 071 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.0 $ 2.1¢
Cash dividends declared per common s $ — % — 8 — $ — —
Shares used in computing earnings (loss) per ghe
thousands)
Basic 371,59( 360,63: 355,02: 345,61 324,56¢
Diluted 387,31: 363,46¢ 361,78! 345,61: 360,32:
Cash, cash equivalents, and s-term investment $ 546: $ 4,566 $ 4337 % 433¢ $ 4,027
Total asset $ 8,05 $ 6,81t $ 6,29¢ $ 6,021 $ 6,80z
Long-term debt (including current maturitie $ — 3 304 $ 31€ $ 317 $ 30C
Total liabilities $ 297¢ % 259: $ 2,20 $ 2,101 $ 2,69¢
Shareholders' equi $ 507¢ $ 4227 $ 4,09 $ 392 $ 4,107

Net gains before taxes related to the Company'-current debt and equity investments of $4 milli$hQ million, $75 million, and

$367 million were recognized in 2004, 2003, 2001 2000, respectively. A net loss before taxededlto the Company's nanwrent debt ar
equity investments of $42 million was recognize@@92. In 2002, the Company acquired Emagic resplti a charge of approximately

$1 million for acquired in-process technologieshwib alternative future use. The Company recogrézeitilar charge of $11 million in 2001
related to its acquisition of PowerSchool. Net gearrelated to Company restructuring actions ofi$fion, $26 million, $30 million, and

$8 million were recognized in 2004, 2003, 2002, 26600, respectively. During 2000, the Company recaeyl the cost of a special executive
bonus for the Company's Chief Executive Officergast services in the form of an aircraft with &keost to the Company of approximately
$90 million. In 2002, of the original $90 milliorcerual, $2 million remained unspent and was rewkrse2003, settlement of the Company's
forward stock purchase agreement resulted in ageé#6 million. Favorable cumulative-effect typgwatments, net of taxes, of $1 million and
$12 million were recognized in 2003 and 2001, retipely.

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

This section and other parts of this Form 10-K eimforward-looking statements that involve riskslaincertainties. Forward-looking
statements can also be identified by words suclamticipates,” "expects,” "believes,” "plans,” "pliets,” and similar terms. Forward-looking
statements are not guarantees of future performamnckthe Company's actual results may differ sigaiftly from the results discussed in the
forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause sliifarences include, but are not limited to, thdgEussed in the subsection entitled
"Factors That May Affect Future Results and Finah€&@ondition" below. The following discussion shbbk read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and notes theretiuded in Iltem 8 of this Form 10-K. All infornat presented herein is based on the
Company's fiscal calendar. The Company assumesligation to revise or update any forward-lookingtements for any reason, except as
required by law.

Executive Overview

Apple designs, manufactures and markets persongbaters and related software, services, peripharadsetworking solutions. The
Company also designs, develops and markets aflipertable digital music
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players along with related accessories and serincasding the online distribution of third-partyusic and audio books. The Company's
products and services include the Macintosh lindesktop and notebook computers, the iPod digitaioplayer, the Xserve server and
Xserve RAID storage products, a portfolio of consurmnd professional software applications, the ®&cX operating system, the online
iTunes Music Store, a portfolio of peripherals thapport and enhance the Macintosh and iPod prdidest, and a variety of other service and
support offerings. The Company sells its produatsldwide through its online stores, its own retadres, its direct sales force, and third-party
wholesalers, resellers and value added reselleesddition, the Company sells a variety of thity Macintosh compatible products, incluc
computer printers and printing supplies, storagacgs, computer memory, digital video and still eaas, personal digital assistants, and
various other computing products and supplies tndts online and retail stores. The Company seleducation, consumer, creative
professional, business and government customefigrtider description of the Company's products maydund in Part I, Item 1 of this
document under the heading "Business."

The Company's business strategy leverages its eilgility, through the design and developmentbin operating system, hardware and
many software applications and technologies, togot its customers around the world compelling peaducts and solutions with superior
ease-of-use, seamless integration and innovatdustnial design.

The Company patrticipates in several highly competinarkets, including personal computers withivecintosh line of computers, consumer
electronics with its iPod line of digital music pé&s and distribution of third-party digital musirough its online iTunes Music Store. While
the Company is widely recognized as an innovattinénpersonal computer market as well as a leadéei emerging market for distribution of
digital music, these are highly competitive markbtst are subject to aggressive pricing and inegasmpetition. In order to remain
competitive, the Company believes that increaseedsiment in research and development (R&D) is rezegsn order to maintain and extend
its position in the markets where it competes. Thenpany's R&D spending is focused on deliveringetimupdates and enhancements to its
existing line of personal computers, displays, apeg systems, software applications and portakisicrplayers; developing new digital
lifestyle consumer and professional software apfiies; and investing in new product areas such@smount servers, RAID storage
systems, and wireless technologies.

The Company utilizes a variety of direct and indirgistribution channels. The Company believes sh#ts of its innovative and differentiated
products are enhanced by knowledgeable salespamdansan convey the value of the hardware, softwaceperipheral integration,
demonstrate the unique digital lifestyle solutitimat are available only on Macintosh computers, dgrdonstrate the seamless compatibility of
the Macintosh with the Windows platform and netvgrkhe Company further believes that providingghfduality sales and after-sales
support experience is critical to attracting artdiréng customers. To ensure a high-quality buyrgerience for its products in which service
and education are emphasized, the Company hasdaeghamd improved its distribution capabilities Ipening its own retail stores in the U.S.
and internationally. The Company had 86 stores @genf September 25, 2004.

The Company has also staffed selected third-péotes with the Company's own employees to imprbeebuying experience through reseller
channels. The Company has deployed Apple empldagpeeseller locations around the world including th.S., Europe, Japan and Australia.
The Company also sells to customers direct thraughof its online stores around the world.

To improve the accessibility of its iPod producilj the Company has significantly expanded the murabdistribution points where iPods are
sold. The iPod product line can now be purchasetpartment stores, discount stores and specialsjcnand audio-visual stores.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and reldiedosures in conformity with U.S. generally guteel accounting principles and the
Company's discussion and analysis of its finarmaldition and results of operations require the gamy's management to make judgments,
assumptions, and estimates that affect the amoepdsted in its consolidated financial statements @ companying notes. Note 1 of the N

to Consolidated Financial Statements of this FobaKldescribes the significant accounting policied anethods used in the preparation of the
Company's consolidated financial statements. Managébases its estimates on historical experiendea various other assumptions it
believes to be reasonable under the circumstatiwesesults of which form the basis for making jodgnts about the carrying values of assets
and liabilities. Actual results may differ from geeestimates and such differences may be material.

Management believes the Company's critical accogrgolicies and estimates are those related tonteveecognition, allowance for doubtful
accounts, inventory valuation and exposures refat@aventory purchase commitments, valuation afjldived assets including acquired
intangibles, warranty costs, and income taxes. Igament believes these policies to be critical beedliey are both important to the portrayal
of the Company's financial condition and resultg] they require management to make judgments dimdagss about matters that are
inherently uncertain. The Company's senior managéemms reviewed these critical accounting polieied related disclosures with the Audit
and Finance Committee of the Company's Board cédDirs.

Revenue Recognitic

Net sales consist primarily of revenue from the sdlproducts (i.e., hardware, software, and perigls), and extended warranty and sup
contracts. The Company recognizes revenue pursoiapplicable accounting standards, including $tata of Position (SOP) No. 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognitioms amended, and Securities and Exchange Comm{&iC) Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 104,
Revenue Recognitio

The Company recognizes revenue when persuasiveregdf an arrangement exists, delivery has oatutine sales price is fixed or
determinable, and collection is probable. Prodsicbinsidered delivered to the customer once ibkaa shipped, and title and risk of loss have
been transferred. For most of the Company's proshles, these criteria are met at the time theyatad shipped. For online sales to
individuals, for some sales to education custoriretise U.S., and for certain other sales, the Comukefers revenue until the customer
receives the product because the Company legadineea portion of the risk of loss on these sdleing transit. If at the outset of an
arrangement the Company determines the arrangdeeeig not, or is presumed not to be, fixed or iheieable, revenue is deferred and
subsequently recognized as amounts become dueagatlp.

The Company records reductions to revenue for estidhcommitments related to price protection amddistomer incentive programs,
including reseller and end-user rebates, and atles programs and volume-based incentives. Theatstl cost of these programs is accrued
as a reduction to revenue in the period the Compasysold the product and committed to a plan.Jémpany also records reductions to
revenue for expected future product returns baseti®@ Company's historical experience. Future ntarieditions and product transitions may
require the Company to increase customer inceptiwgrams and incur incremental price protectiongattions that could result in additional
reductions to revenue at the time such programsféeeed. Additionally, certain customer incentim@grams require management to estimate
the number of customers who will actually redeemitttentive based on historical experience andpleeific terms and conditions of
particular incentive programs. If a greater thatmested proportion of customers redeem such ineestithe Company would be required to
record additional reductions to revenue, which ddwdve a material adverse impact on the Compaestgts of operations.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accoun

The Company distributes its products through tipiadty resellers and directly to certain educatemmsumer, and commercial customers. The
Company generally does not require collateral fisncustomers. However, when possible the Compaeyg dttempt to limit credit risk on
trade receivables with credit insurance for certaistomers in Latin America, Europe and Asia andfgnging with third-party financing
companies to provide flooring arrangements andrdt@a and lease programs to the Company's ditestbmers. These credit-financing
arrangements are directly between the third-pangniting company and the end customer. As suchCtmepany generally does not assume
any recourse or credit risk sharing related to @fithese arrangements. However, considerable tesmgvables that are not covered by
collateral, third-party flooring arrangements, cedit insurance are outstanding with the Compadhigsibution and retail channel partners.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based onagament's assessment of the collectibility of weciistomer accounts and includes
consideration of the credit worthiness and finanoiedition of those specific customers. The Comypatords an allowance to reduce the
specific receivables to the amount that is reasgrizddieved to be collectible. The Company alswrds an allowance for all other trade
receivables based on multiple factors includingdnisal experience with bad debts, the general @coo environment, the financial condition
of the Company's distribution channels, and tha@gf such receivables. If there is a deterioratiba major customer's financial condition, if
the Company becomes aware of additional informatidexed to the credit worthiness of a major cuggrar if future actual default rates on
trade receivables in general differ from those ety anticipated, the Company may have to adjasiliowance for doubtful accounts, which
would affect earnings in the period the adjustmeantésmade.

Inventory Valuation and Inventory Purchase Committs

The Company must order components for its prodaieisbuild inventory in advance of product shipmeitee Company records a write-down
for inventories of components and products, inelgahird-party products held for resale, which heeeome obsolete or are in excess of
anticipated demand or net realizable value. The fizow performs a detailed review of inventory eaehqal that considers multiple factors
including demand forecasts, product life cycletsaproduct development plans, current sales leaals component cost trends. The personal
computer industry is subject to a rapid and unptatie pace of product and component obsolescamtdemand changes. If future deman
market conditions for the Company's products ase favorable than forecasted or if unforeseen wolgical changes negatively impact the
utility of component inventory, the Company mayrbguired to record additional write-downs which \Webnegatively affect gross margins in
the period when the write-downs are recorded.

The Company accrues necessary reserves for carmeliees related to component orders that hava baecelled. Consistent with industry
practice, the Company acquires components througimdination of formal purchase orders, supplientiaxts, and open orders based on
projected demand information. These commitmentE&lly cover the Company's requirements for peri@agying from 30 to 130 days. If th
is an abrupt and substantial decline in demandiieror more of the Company's products or an unpated change in technological
requirements for any of the Company's productsCibiapany may be required to record additional resefor cancellation fees that would
negatively affect gross margins in the period wtiencancellation fees are identified.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets Including Acquirathhgibles

The Company reviews property, plant, and equipraadtcertain identifiable intangible assets for impant when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of sucthsset may not be recoverable. Recoverabilitiyesfe assets is measured by comparis
their carrying amount to future undiscounted cdsivg the assets are expected to generate. If @sghsaare considered to be impaired, the
impairment to be recognized in earnings equalsitheunt by which the carrying value of
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the assets exceeds their fair market value. Althadhg Company has recognized no material impairraéjistments related to its property,
plant, and equipment or identifiable intangiblesinly the past three fiscal years, except those riradenjunction with restructuring actions,
deterioration in the Company's business in a getdcaegion or business segment in the futureptioly deterioration in the performance of
individual retail stores, could lead to such imp@nt adjustments in future periods in which suciness issues are identified.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accountitandards (SFAS) No. 14@podwill and Other Intangible Assetthe Company

performs a review of goodwill for impairment anrlyabr earlier if indicators of potential impairmeexist. The review of goodwill for

potential impairment is highly subjective and reqsithat: (1) goodwill be allocated to various mipg units of the Company's business to
which it relates; (2) the Company estimate thevalue of those reporting units to which the godbkeiates; and (3) the Company determine
the book value of those reporting units. If théreated fair value of reporting units with allocatgolodwill is determined to be less than their
book value, the Company is required to estimatdamevalue of all identifiable assets and liali@g of those reporting units in a manner similar
to a purchase price allocation for an acquiredri®ss. This requires independent valuation of aentaernally developed and unrecognized
assets including in-process research and develdpemedeveloped technology. Once this processngptzie, the amount of goodwill
impairment, if any, can be determined.

Based on the Company's estimates as of Septemp20@4 there was no impairment of goodwill. Howewdranges in various circumstances
including changes in the Company's market capétiin, changes in the Company's forecasts, andyelsan the Company's internal business
structure could cause one or more of the Compaeptsting units to be valued differently therebysiag an impairment of goodwiill.
Additionally, in response to changes in the persoomputer industry and changes in global or regli@@onomic conditions, the Company
may strategically realign its resources and comsigitructuring, disposing, or otherwise exitingimesses, which could result in an impairn
of property, plant, and equipment, identifiableaimgibles, or goodwiill.

Warranty Costs

The Company provides currently for the estimatest éar product warranties at the time the relaggnue is recognized based on historical
and projected warranty claim rates, historical prajected cost-per-claim, and knowledge of spegifaduct failures that are outside of the
Company's typical experience. Each quarter, thefamy reevaluates its estimates to assess the agegjlits recorded warranty liabilities
considering the size of the installed base of petalaubject to warranty protection, and adjustsatheunts as necessary. If actual product
failure rates or repair costs differ from estimatesisions to the estimated warranty liability udbe required and could negatively affect the
Company's results of operations.

Income Taxe

The Company records a tax provision for the anditeig tax consequences of the reported resultsestipns. In accordance with SFAS

No. 109,Accounting for Income Taxeshe provision for income taxes is computed usigasset and liability method, under which defirre
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for ttpeeted future tax consequences of temporary éifiees between the financial reporting anc
bases of assets and liabilities, and for operadtiages and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred &pet and liabilities are measured using the
currently enacted tax rates that apply to taxaiterne in effect for the years in which those tesetsare expected to be realized or settled. The
Company records a valuation allowance to reducerck tax assets to the amount that is believee fitlaly than not to be realized.

Management believes it is more likely than not foa¢casted income, including income that may breegeted as a result of certain tax plan
strategies, together with the tax effects of thiewnled tax
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liabilities, will be sufficient to fully recover thremaining deferred tax assets. In the even@that part of the net deferred tax assets are
determined not to be realizable in the future, djnstiment to the valuation allowance would be chdrtp earnings in the period such
determination is made. Similarly, if the Companpsequently realizes deferred tax assets that wexéopisly determined to be unrealizable,
the respective valuation allowance would be rewressulting in a positive adjustment to earninga decrease in goodwill in the period such
determination is made. In addition, the calculatétax liabilities involves significant judgment estimating the impact of uncertainties in the
application of complex tax laws. Resolution of ¢n@sicertainties in a manner inconsistent with manmsnt's expectations could have a
material impact on the Company's results of opematand financial position.

Net Sales

Net sales and Macintosh unit sales by operatingneagand net sales and unit sales by product fofimtsales in millions and Macintosh u
sales in thousands):

2004 Change 2003 Change 2002
Net Sales by Operating Segmen
Americas net sale $ 4,01¢ 26 % $ 3,181 2% $ 3,131
Europe net sale 1,79¢ 37 % 1,30¢ 5 % 1,257
Japan net sale 677 )% 69¢ 2% 71C
Retall net sale 1,18¢ 91 % 621 11¢€ % 28:
Other segments net sales 59¢ 51 % 39¢ 8 % 367
Total net sale $ 8,27¢ 3% $ 6,207 8% $ 5,74
| | .|
Unit Sales by Operating Segment:
Americas Macintosh unit sali 1,68 4 % 1,62( (6)% 1,72¢
Europe Macintosh unit sali 77z 13 % 684 (5)% 722
Japan Macintosh unit sal 291 (19)% 33¢ (12% 38¢€
Retail Macintosh unit sale 314 68 % 187 10Z % 92
Other segments Macintosh unit sales 23C 26 % 182 5 % 17z
Total Macintosh unit sale 3,29( 9 % 3,012 3)% 3,101
I I I
Net Sales by Product:
Power Macintosh net sales | $ 1,41¢ 15 % $ 1,23 10% $ 1,38(
PowerBook net sale 1,58¢ 22 % 1,29¢ 56 % 831
iMac net sales (¢ 954 (23)% 1,23¢ (19% 1,44¢
iBook net sale: 961 34 % 717 (18)% 87t
Total Macintosh net sale 4,92 1C % 4,491 (D% 4,53¢
iPod 1,30¢ 27 % 34E 141 % 14z
Other Music Products (¢ 27¢ 672 % 36 80C % 4
Peripherals and Other Hardware 951 38 % 691 31 % 527
Software (f) 50z 39 % 362 18 % 307
Service and other sal 31¢ 13 % 282 24 % 227
Total net sale $ 8,27¢ 3% $ 6,207 8% $ 5,74:
| | .|
28
Unit Sales by Product:
Power Macintosh unit sales ( 70¢ 6 % 667 (13)% 76€
PowerBook unit sale 78t 3C % 604 638 % 357
iMac unit sales (c 91€ (16)% 1,094 (16)% 1,301

iBook unit sales 88C 36 % 647 (4% 677




Total Macintosh unit sale 3,29( 9 % 3,012 )% 3,101
| | |

Net sales per Macintosh unit sold $ 1,49¢ 0% $ 1,491 2% $ 1,46:
| | |

iPod unit sale: 4,41¢ 37C % 93¢ 14€ % 381
| | |

Notes:

(a) Other Segments include Asia Pacific and FileMaker.
(b) Includes Xserve product line.
(c) Includes eMac product lin

(d) Other Music Products consists of iTunes Music Ssates, iPo-related services, and Apj-branded and thi-party iPoc-related
accessories.

(e) Net sales of Peripherals and Other Hardware incéadles of Appl-branded and thi-party displays, wireless connectivity a
networking solutions, and other hardware accessorie

4] Net sales of Software include sales of Apple-branalgerating system and application software aneksafl third-party software.

(9) Net sales per Macintosh unit sold is derived bydilng total Macintosh net sales by total Macintostit sales.
Fiscal Year 2004 versus 2003
During fiscal 2004, net sales increased 33% or BRlibn from fiscal 2003. Several factors have tirted favorably to net sales during 2004:

. Net sales of Macintosh systems increased $432omitr 10% during fiscal 2004 compared to 2003 whéesales pe
Macintosh unit sold remained relatively flat onemay-overyear basis. Unit sales of Macintosh systems inex@238,000 units
9% during fiscal 2004 compared to 2003. These as®s in net sales and unit sales were a resutonigsdemand for all of the
Company's Macintosh systems, except for the iMae. Company's portable systems, consisting of threeFRook and iBook,
produced the strongest revenue and unit growtmddiscal 2004 compared to 2003 of approximateBo26d 33%,
respectively. Unit sales of portable systems actmlifor 51% of all Macintosh systems sold duriregl 2004 compared to or
42% during 2003. The Company believes that thesdteereflect an overall trend in the industry tosisaportable systems.
Performance of the Company's Power Macintosh systdso yielded positive results in fiscal 2004 )uding a 15% and 6%
increase in net sales and unit sales, respectiValyincrease in year-to-date Power Macintosh salége primarily to the
introduction of the Power Mac G5, which began shigmt the end of fiscal 2003. Although Power M&éa#h sales have
increased from the prior year, sales of this progere constrained in the second half of 2004 esalt of manufacturing
problems at IBM, the Company's sole supplier ofRbgverPC G5 processor.

. Net sales of iPods rose $961 million or 279% dufisgal 2004 compared to 2003. Unit sales of iPotised 4.4 million in

fiscal 2004, which represents an increase of 37@¥ the 939,000 iPod units sold in fiscal 2003068¢rdemand for the iPods
during fiscal 2004 continued to be
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experienced in all of the Company's operating segsn@nd was driven by enhancements to the iPodntieeluction of the iPod
mini, increased expansion of the Company's iPatlildligion network, and continued success of then&aMusic Store due
largely to making it available to both Macintosidanindows users in the U.S., U.K., France and Gagm&ince inception of
the iPod product line in fiscal 2002, the Compaag kold approximately 5.7 million iPods.

The Retail segment's net sales grew 91% to $li@rbduring fiscal 2004 compared to 2003. This @ase is largely attributak
to the increase in total stores from 65 at thea2D03 to 86 at the end of 2004, as well as a $68&b6-over-year increase in
average revenue per store. While the Company'smass in areas where the Retail segment has oo may elect to
purchase from the Retail segment stores ratherttte@ompany’s preexisting sales channels in tBe &hd Japan, the Compe
believes that a substantial portion of the Retginsent's net sales is incremental to the Compéotgknet sales. See additional
comments below related to the Retail segment utgeheading "Segment Operating Performance."

Net sales of peripherals and other hardware ros38bfy during fiscal 2004 compared to 2003 primadiye to an increase in r
sales of displays and other computer accessorissadles of other computer accessories includeofiidards and base stations,
iSight digital video cameras, and third party haadsvproducts. The increase in total net sales riplperals and other hardware
is related to the overall increase in Macintostt sales and the introduction of new and updateibperal products and was
experienced predominantly by the Company's Amerieasope, and Retail segments.

Other music products consists of sales associatbdive iTunes Music Store and iPod related sesvared accessories. Net s¢
of other music products increased $242 million 2% during fiscal 2004 compared to 2003. The Compeas experienced
strong growth in sales of iPod services and actessoonsistent with the increase in overall iPod sales for fiscal 2004. The
increased sales from the iTunes Music Store, wiviah originally introduced in April 2003, is primgrdue to making the store
available for Windows in October 2003 and the idtrction of the store in the U.K., France, and Geryria June 2004.

Net sales of software rose $140 million or 39% wgifiscal 2004 compared to 2003 due primarily ghler net sales of the
Company's Apple-branded software and in partictiigher net sales of the Company's operating systdtware, Mac OS X
version 10.3 "Panther," which was released in Gat@003. Net sales of Panther accounted for apmiately $74 million or
over 50% of the increase in software net salefigoal 2004 compared to 2003.

The Company's U.S. education channel experiencadoxer-year growth in net sales of approximaté9elfor fiscal 2004
compared to 2003. Unit sales also increased by didag fiscal 2004 compared to 2003. The increndg.&. education net
sales for fiscal 2004 relates primarily to a 40%ryever-year increase in higher education net salds0 a lesser extent the
Company's 3% growth in K-12 net sales.

The Company believes the U.S. K-12 education maskatins challenging due to multiple factors inahgdfunding pressures
due to weak economic conditions, large budget defic many states, and increased competition qaatily for desktop
computers. Although the Company has taken steplwihcontinue to take steps, to address weakimege U.S. education
channel, it remains difficult to anticipate wherdahthis trend will reverse.

Service and other sales increased $37 million &6 @8ring fiscal 2004 compared to 2003. These irsmgare the result of
significant year-over-year increases in net sadss@ated with AppleCare Protection Plan (APP)rdeel maintenance and
support services, as well as increases in net aakexciated with the Company's .Mac Internet serVireased net sales
associated with APP are primarily the result ohleigMacintosh unit sales and higher attach rate&Rip over the last several
years.
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Offsetting the favorable factors discussed abdwe Gompany's net sales during fiscal 2004 weretivefyaimpacted by the following:

. Net sales and unit sales of iMac systems were d28% and 16%, respectively, during fiscal 2004 vei2003. The decrease in
iMac net sales and unit sales was largely duedda#fay in the introduction of the new iMac, basadhe PowerPC G5
processor, primarily as a result of manufacturingbfems experienced by IBM. The delays in the nédad resulted in the
depletion of inventory of the old iMac flat panelqy to availability of the new iMac G5. The oldflpanel iMac form factor
which was available during most of fiscal 2004, waarly 3 years old by the time the new iMac G5ameshipping in
September 2004 and had experienced declines is asle result of the age of this product. The Compelieves that sales of
iMac systems have also declined due to a shifoirsamer preference to portable systems and compéésktop models with
price points below $1,000. The Company introduceéw version of the eMac in April 2004 with a sugigel retail price
starting at $799 aimed at the price sensitive ensto

. Net sales and unit sales in the Company's Japanesgglecreased 3% and 14%, respectively, durioglf004 versus 200
The Company believes these declines relate tofisisiales from the Japan Segment to the Retgihsat as a result of the
Tokyo and Osaka store openings in fiscal 2004. iDeslin Japan may also relate to delays in compuggrades by certain
professional and creative customers pending reiea¥sgpan of certain Mac OS X native applicatiaugh as Quark Xpress 6,
which did not become available until September 200Hen sales from the Japan retail stores arededin the results for the
Japan segment, the combined revenue in Japanegsuld 3% year-over-year increase in fiscal 2G0daampared to 2003. See
additional comments below related to the Japan sagonder the heading "Segment Operating Perforexanc

Fiscal Year 2003 versus 2002

Net sales increased $465 million or 8% during 26@3pared to 2002 while Macintosh unit sales dedli3¥% yes-over-year to approximately
3 million units in 2003. Several factors contritdifavorably to net sales during 2003 including:

. The Retail segment's net sales grew to $621 mitlioiing 2003 from $283 million in 2002, an increa$d 19%. While the
Company's customers may have elected to purchadegirfrom their local Apple Retail store ratheatithrough other
preexisting sales channels in the U.S., the Compatigves that a substantial portion of the Re@ment's net sales was
incremental to total net sales. See additional centmbelow related to the Retail segment undehdlagling "Segment
Operating Performance."

. Net sales of iPods rose $202 million or 141% du893 compared to 2002. This increase was experiebyg all of the
Company's operating segments. iPod sales during &@@e favorably affected by the introduction dfstantially redesigned
new models, which were compatible with both Macshtand Windows operating systems. The Companytsdiyital music
player is sold by a variety of resellers, many biah do not currently market the Company's Macintegstems. The Company
expanded this distribution network during 2003, ehcontributed to the 2003 increase in iPod unéssaf 146%.

. The Company also experienced an increase in reg shperipherals and other hardware totaling $tékbn or 31% during
2003 compared to 2002, reflecting an overall insegia net sales of other computer accessoriesdimgjlAirPort cards and base
stations, which facilitate wireless connectivityirtl party digital cameras and printers; and a nemath portable computer relat
accessories.

. Net sales of other music products, including satsociated with the iTunes Music Store and iPaatedlservices and

accessories, increased $32 million or 800% durb@BZompared to 2002. This increase was due ptintarthe introduction of
the iTunes Music Store for the Macintosh
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operating system in April 2003 and higher sale#ofl services and accessories consistent witmtirease in iPod net sales ¢
unit sales during 2003.

. Although total Macintosh unit sales were down 392003, unit sales of the Company's portable systeemns relatively stron
primarily due to the 69% or 247,000 unit increas®owerBook unit sales, slightly offset by a 4%86y000 unit decrease in
iBook unit sales. The increase in PowerBook neissaf $468 million or 56% was due primarily to thecess of the Company's
new 12-inch, 15-inch and 17-inch models that weteduced during 2003. The decline in iBook consupwetable sales during
2003 was primarily due to a lower average priceydt: Portable systems represented 42% of all Mash systems sold in
2003 versus 33% in 2002, which reflected an ovamdlistry trend towards portable systems.

. The Company's average net sales per Macintostsaoidiincreased 2% to $1,491 in 2003 as a reswagdus changes in over;
unit mix towards relatively higher-priced PowerBamkstems and increases direct sales primarily fl@Company's retail and
online stores, offset by somewhat lower year-owaarypricing on comparable Macintosh systems fortrobthe Company's
Macintosh product lines in response to industrgipg pressure, particularly with the Company's iBoconsumer portable
systems. PowerBook and Power Macintosh systemsuataxb for 42% of total unit sales in 2003 versu%36 2002.

. Net sales of software increased $55 million or I8%ing 2003 compared to the prior year and refttbigher net sales «
Apple-branded application and server software aird-party software. Net sales of Apple-brandedligppon and server
software increased due to the introduction of sweew software titles during fiscal 2003 includifimal Cut Express, iLife, al
Keynote, as well as from higher sales of softwatated to recent acquisitions including PowerSclamol Emagic. Growth in n
sales of third-party software during 2003 was paltérly strong in the Americas Segment due to gtsales of software by the
Company's online store and its Retail segment.

. Service and other sales rose $55 million or 24%ndu2003 which primarily resulted from significaygar-ovel-year increases
net sales associated with APP extended mainteraamteupport services, as well as the Company'mktteclated services.
Increased net sales associated with APP were phyntlae result of increasing attach rates overl#s¢ several years. Increased
net sales associated with Internet services wezdaincreased net sales of the Company's .Mamkitservice.

Offsetting the favorable factors discussed abdwe Gompany's net sales during 2003 were negatinglgcted by the following factors:

. Total unit sales of desktop systems fell 15% duif@3 compared to 2002. iMac systems unit salelindelc16% from 2003 to
2002 resulting from a shift in sales away from deglsystems in favor of portables. Also, the flabel iMac form factor
available during fiscal 2003 was in the eighth ¢graof its life cycle by the end of 2003.

. Unit sales of Power Macintosh systems fell 13%mp&2003 compared to 2002. For the first nine mooftR003 compared to
the same period in 2002, unit sales of Power Masimsystems decreased 24%, which was represerétive decline of Pow:
Macintosh systems sales experienced by the Conyghaniryg recent years and was also believed to bibatible to delays in
purchasing pending the release of the Power Madd&®xpected, this trend reversed in the fourthtguaf 2003 with unit sals
increasing 26% during the quarter as comparedeaame period in the prior year due largely tonte Power Mac G5, which
the Company introduced in June 2003 and beganisigigp the end of fiscal 2003. The decline in Poeacintosh sales over
the previous several years also reflects the shiales to portable systems, particularly PowekBom addition, the Company
believes that weak economic conditions over thé pas
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several years had a pronounced negative impads gndfessional and creative customers. Additignatbme of the Company's
professional and creative customers may have dglaygrades of their systems in anticipation ofaiarsoftware vendors
transitioning their professionally oriented Macisttosoftware applications to run natively on MacXaS

. The Company experienced ongoing weakness in itsedl&ation channel during 2003. Net sales andsatés in U.S.
education during 2003 were down 4% and 6%, resgaygtias compared to 2002. This decline was dw@edecrease in K-12
sales, partially offset by an increase in higharoation sales. Net sales declined primarily asaltef a continued shift in mix
away from higher priced Power Macintosh and iMastems towards lower priced eMac and iBook systaiftispugh the
Company did experience a significant increase liessaf its PowerBook systems primarily to higheneation customers.
Portable systems accounted for approximately 43%taf unit sales in the education channel durid@3 as compared to
approximately 34% in 2002.

Segment Operating Performance

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. The Company's reportable operaéggents are comprised of the
Americas, Europe, Japan, and Retail. The Ameriegmsnt includes both North and South America, eddmehe activities of the Company's
Retail segment. The Europe segment includes Eunopaantries as well as the Middle East and Afridee Japan segment includes only Japan
and excludes revenue from the Company's own &tais in Japan, which is included in the CompaRgtsil segment. The Retail segment
operated Apple-owned retail stores in the U.S. Japhn during fiscal 2004. Each reportable geogcagberating segment provides similar
hardware and software products and similar servieegher information regarding the Company's ofregesegments may be found in Item 8
of this Form 10-K in the Notes to Consolidated Ricial Statements at Note 11, "Segment Informatiwh @eographic Data."

Americas

During fiscal 2004, net sales in the Americas segrgesw 26% or $838 million compared to fiscal 200Be increase in net sales during 2004
was primarily attributable to the significant yearer-year increase in iPod sales as well as stsales of peripherals, software, and services.
This increase was partially offset by a shift ifesao the Retail segment, which had 84 storekant.S. as of the end of fiscal 2004. Macintosh
unit sales also increased by 4% in fiscal 2004 amebto 2003, driven primarily by strong sales @ft@ble and Power Macintosh systems,
partially offset by continued weakness in iMac saleuring 2004 and 2003, the Americas segment septed approximately 49% and 51%,
respectively, of the Company's total net salesraptesented approximately 51% and 54%, respectigétptal Macintosh unit sales. As noted
above, the Company experienced an increase inddugation channel net sales of 19% for fiscal 288pared to 2003. Strong U.S.
education net sales for the current year relataanily to strength in higher education net saled thsulted from a successful back-to-school
selling season with strong demand for the Compauorsbles. This strength drove year-over-year gfniaw net sales of 40% for the higher
education channel during fiscal 2004. The Compafy12 net sales grew year-ovgear by 3% during fiscal 2004, despite the chakenig the
K-12 market from continued budget constraints amtldased competition, due to the Company's cordifeeis and success with delivering
1:1 education solutions.

Net sales in the Americas segment during 2003 @iseré $50 million or 2% compared to 2002. During280d 2002, the Americas segm
represented approximately 51% and 55%, respectioéine Company's total net sales and represeapprbximately 54% and 56%,
respectively, of total Macintosh unit sales. Theutts of the Americas segment are similar to theral results of the Company as they reflect
substantially lower unit sales and net sales ofé¥dvacintosh systems and iMac systems, partiafsedby increases in unit sales and net ¢
of PowerBooks. The net sales of the Americas segraad the Company in total, also reflect subssdigthigher sales of iPods, peripherals,
software, and services during 2003 compared to 2002 Americas segment had been negatively affdntedeakness in its U.S. education
channel during 2003. Total net sales and unit saldse U.S. education channel during 2003
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were down 4% and 6%, respectively, compared tadmee period in 2002. The Company believes thidrdeetas caused by increased
competition in the education market and by a rédadh spending by U.S. educational institutiong doi federal and state funding concerns
and tax revenue shortfalls resulting from the weednomy. Additionally, some of the decline duririp2 in net sales and unit sales of
Macintosh systems in the Americas segment maydeetult of the operation of the Company's Retghsent whose net sales, all of which
occurred within the U.S., increased significantlyidg 2003.

Europe

Net sales in Europe rebounded in fiscal 2004 irgingg$490 million or 37% from 2003. Total Macintaghit sales in Europe also experien
growth during the current year by increasing 13%soal 2004 compared to 2003. Consistent withAheericas segment, Europe experienced
strong net sales across all product lines, exagphe iMac systems. Demand in Europe during fi2€8i4 was particularly strong for the
Company's Power Macintosh systems and portableritesti systems, which experienced year-over-yeaeases of 29% and 42%,
respectively. Similar to the results of the Compaigher segments, net sales of iPods, periphanalsoftware were strong in fiscal 2004.

Net sales in Europe increased $58 million or 5%miuP003 as compared to 2002 while Macintosh wlésdeclined by 5% during the sa
period. Europe's operating results were consistéhtthe trend experienced in the Americas andigy@Gompany as a whole. Europe
experienced weakened demand for Power Macintoshg éhd iBook systems in 2003, partially offset tygrsg demand for PowerBooks wh
net sales increased by 48% or $100 million from2@urope also realized increased sales of iPatgherals, software, and services.

Japan

The Japan segment continues to be a challengbdd@dmpany, with four consecutive years of yeargear declines in both net sales and
Macintosh unit sales. Japan's net sales and Ued# seere down 3% and 14%, respectively during fi2684 compared to 2003, continuing to
lag behind all of the Company's other operatingre=gs. These decreases in net sales and unitesalbglieved to be attributable in part to a
shift in sales from the Japan segment to the Regginent as a result of the opening of two stardapan in fiscal 2004. In addition, such
decreases may have been related to delayed congystem upgrades by some professional and creaistemers who were awaiting the
release of Quark XPress 6 for Mac OS X, which ditlatcur until September 2004. The decrease isales was partially offset by strong if
and iBook sales during fiscal 2004 compared to 2003

Net sales in Japan decreased $12 million or 2%ndW@003 as compared to the same period in 2002y¢h&est yei-to-date performance of
any of the Company's operating segments. Japarcsddah unit sales were particularly weak in 20@;lining 12%, and were primarily
attributable to lower sales of iMac and iBook sysée partially offset by an increase in PowerBodksas well as higher sales of iPods, and
peripherals and other hardware. Japan's Macintoislsales remained significantly below the segnsdmistoric levels due to economic
conditions that remained particularly negativeapah.

Retail

The Company opened 21 new retail stores during ,2@081iding its first two international stores imKyo and Osaka, Japan, bringing the total
number of open stores to 86 as of September 258L. 200s compares to 65 open stores as of SepteATH@003 and 40 open stores as of
September 28, 2002. During the first quarter of2@6e Company anticipates opening approximatelgdditional stores to end the calendar
year at approximately 100 stores. Approximately bfthe stores expected to open during the fiustrtgr of 2005 will be in the new "min
store design, which is the Company's smallest $twreat to date; allowing it to be placed in a e#yiof new locations to introduce the
Company's innovative products to even more custenidre Company also opened its third internatistaie in London, England during the
first quarter of 2005.
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Net sales of the Retail segment grew to $1.18®hilluring 2004 from $621 million and $283 millidn,2003 and 2002, respectively. T
increases in net sales during both 2004 and 2G@&t¢he impact of new store openings for eactdliyear, including the opening of 21 new
stores in 2004 and 25 new stores in 2003. An iser@@average revenue per store also contributdteteegment's strong sales in fiscal 2004.
With an average of 76 stores open during 2004R#tail segment achieved annualized revenue per st@pproximately $15.6 million, as
compared to $11.5 million in 2003 with a 54 stoverage and $10.2 million in 2002 with a 28 storerage.

As measured by the Company's operating segmenttirgpdhe Retail segment reported profit of $3%iom during fiscal 2004 as compared to
losses of $5 million and $22 million during 200312002, respectively. This improvement is primaatiributable to the segment's year-over-
year increase in average quarterly revenue peg,dtue impact of opening new stores, and the setgnga-over-year increase in net sales,
which resulted in higher leverage on occupancyretgation and other fixed costs.

Expansion of the Retail segment has required afidoritinue to require a substantial investmerfixad assets and related infrastructure,
operating lease commitments, personnel, and othexiating expenses. Capital expenditures assoacidtedhe Retail segment were

$104 million in fiscal 2004, bringing the total ¢t expenditures since inception of the Retailnsegt to approximately $394 million. As of
September 25, 2004, the Retail segment had appatedyn2,100 employees and had outstanding operkg&sg commitments associated with
retail store space and related facilities of appnately $436 million. The Company would incur swgtal costs should it choose to terminate
its Retail segment or close individual stores. Stasts could adversely affect the Company's resilltgperations and financial condition.

Gross Margin

Gross margin for the three fiscal years ended Sape 25, 2004 are as follows (in millions, exceisg margin percentages):

2004 2003 2002
Net sales $ 827¢ $ 6207 $ 5,74
Cost of sale 6,02( 4,49¢ 4,13¢
Gross margir $ 225¢ $ 1,70¢ $ 1,60¢
I NN

Gross margin percenta 27.% 27.5% 27.%%

Gross margin declined in fiscal 2004 to 27.3% dfgades from 27.5% of net sales in 2003. The Cowyipaross margin during fiscal 2004
declined due to an increase in mix towards lowergnaPod and iBook sales, pricing actions on éarBower Macintosh G5 models that were
transitioned during the beginning of 2004, higharmanty costs on certain portable Macintosh pragjwastd higher freight and duty costs du
fiscal 2004. These unfavorable factors were péytaffset by an increase in direct sales and a $88-over-year increase in higher margin
software sales.

The Company anticipates that its gross margin hedjtoss margin of the overall personal computdrcamsumer electronics industries will
remain under pressure throughout fiscal 2005 int laf price competition, especially for the iPodguct line. The Company also expects to
continue to incur air freight charges, which negglti impact gross margins on the iMac and othedpets during the first quarter of 2005 and
possibly beyond.

The foregoing statements regarding the Compangsa&d gross margin during 2005, general demangeficaonal computers, anticipated air
freight charges, and future economic conditionsfan@ard-looking. There can be no assurance that curr@sisgnargins will be maintained
targeted gross margin levels will be achieved.dneggal, gross margins and margins on individuadipets, including iPods, will remain under
significant downward pressure due to a varietyaotdrs, including continued industry wide
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global pricing pressures, increased competitiompme@ssed product life cycles, potential increasdké cost and availability of raw material
and outside manufacturing services, and potentiahges to the Company's product mix, including déiginit sales of consumer products with
lower average selling prices and lower gross mardimresponse to these downward pressures, th@&uonexpects it will continue to take
pricing actions with respect to its products. Gnessgins could also be affected by the Companylgyato effectively manage product quality
and warranty costs and to stimulate demand foatedf its products. The Company's operating sgsatand pricing take into account
anticipated changes in foreign currency exchangss raver time; however, the Company's results efatpns can be significantly affected in
the short-term by fluctuations in exchange rates.

The Company orders components for its productsbaiilds inventory in advance of product shipmentsc&ise the Company's markets are
volatile and subject to rapid technology and pdbanges, there is a risk the Company will foregasirrectly and produce or order from third-
parties excess or insufficient inventories of mauir products or components. The Company's operatisults and financial condition in the
past have been and may in the future be mateadigrsely affected by the Company's ability to ngenigs inventory levels and outstanding
purchase commitments and to respond to short-thifts én customer demand patterns.

Gross margin decreased to 27.5% of net sales i 206t 27.9% of net sales in 2002. This declingross margin reflects relatively aggres:
pricing actions on several Macintosh models insidlby the Company beginning in late fiscal 2002 assult of continued pricing pressure
throughout the personal computer industry, lowérssaf relatively higher margin Power Macintoshtepss during the first three fiscal quart
of 2003, and increased air freight and manufactucmsts associated with the production ramp-up@fiew Power Mac G5 and 15-inch
PowerBook, both of which began shipping in volumeiny September 2003. This decline is also attaiblat to a rise in certain component
costs as the year progressed. The aforementiomgadive factors affecting gross margins during 2@0@8e partially offset by the increase in
higher margin software and direct sales.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses for the three fiscal years eBeéptember 25, 2004 are as follows (in milliongegt for percentages):

2004 2003 2002
Research and developm $ 48¢ $ 471 $ 44¢
Percentage of net sal 6% 8% 8%
Selling, general, and administrative exper $ 1,421 $ 121z $ 1,10¢
Percentage of net sal 17% 20% 19%
Restructuring cosi $ 23 $ 26 $ 30
Purchased -process research and developn — — $ 1

Research and Development (R&

The Company recognizes that focused investmerR&iD are critical to its future growth and compet#tiposition in the marketplace and are
directly related to timely development of new amth@&nced products that are central to the Companysbusiness strategy. The Company has
historically relied upon innovation to remain cortifpee. R&D expense amounted to approximately 6%otdl net sales during fiscal 2004
down from 8% of total net sales in both 2003 and20 his decrease is due to the significant inee@ds83% in total net sales of the Company
for fiscal 2004. Although R&D expense decreased psrcentage of total net sales in fiscal 2004ig@xpenditures for R&D in fiscal 2004
increased $18 million or 4% from fiscal 2003, whicHows a 6% or $25 million increase in 2003 comguhto 2002. The overall increase in
R&D expense relates primarily to increased headcand support for new product development actisiiad the impact of employee salary
merit increases in 2004. R&D spending also incluckuitalized software development costs of appratéty $4.5 million related to the
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development of Mac OS X Tiger and $2.3 million tethto the development of FileMaker Pro 7 in 20R144.7 million related to the
development of Mac OS X Panther in 2003; and apprately $13.3 million associated with the developinef Mac OS X Jaguar and
approximately $6 million associated with the PovetrSl enterprise student information system in 2602ther information related to the
Company's capitalization of software developmestEmay be found in Part II, Item 8 of this FormKL@t Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expense (SG&A)

Expenditures for SG&A increased $209 million or 1@¥%ing 2004 compared to 2003. These increaseduar@rimarily to the Company's
continued expansion of its Retail segment in batmelstic and international markets, a current yeerease in discretionary spending on
marketing and advertising, an increase in amoitimatosts associated with restricted stock compamsand higher direct and channel selling
expenses resulting from the increase in net sal@&mployee salary merit increases. SG&A as a ptage of total net sales in 2004 was 17%,
down from 20% in 2003. This decrease is due tartbease of 33% in total net sales of the Companyigcal 2004, reflecting leverage on the
Company's fixed costs.

SG&A increased $103 million or 9% during 2003 ampared to 2002 due primarily to the Company's caiil expansion of the Retall
segment and increases in headcount. The overadidee was partially offset by a decrease in 208&elionary spending on marketing and
advertising and by savings resulting from the 2808 2002 restructuring activities described below.

Fiscal 2004 Restructuring Actiol

The Company recorded total restructuring chargegppfoximately $23 million during the year endeg@t®mber 25, 2004, including
approximately $14 million in severance costs, $Bifion in asset impairments, and a $3.5 milliorarde for lease cancellations. Of the
$23 million charge, $14.3 million had been spentt®/end of 2004, with the remaining $8.7 milliamsisting of $5.2 million for employee
severance benefits and $3.5 million for lease déatmms.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company geiped restructuring expense of $5.5 million. Imjomction with the European workforce
reduction during the second quarter of 2004, then@any vacated a leased sales facility during thetficquarter of 2004 resulting in a charge
of $3.7 million for contract termination and aswepairment costs. The Company also recognized gyapltermination costs of $1.8 million
related to the elimination of non-essential posgigprincipally in Europe. In addition, the Compaayersed $400,000 of excess restructuring
expense from prior periods related primarily to ésthan expected disposal costs on Sacramento awntihg-related fixed assets. The net
cost of the restructuring plans for the fourth geof 2004 was $5.1 million, of which $300,000 Hekn paid prior to the end of 2004. These
actions will result in the termination of 54 posits, 4 of which had been terminated prior to the @R2004.

During the third quarter of 2004, the Company fired restructuring plans related to closing Companned manufacturing activities in
Sacramento. In addition, the Company's managenpgmbeed restructuring plans related to certain beadt reductions primarily for various
sales and marketing activities principally in théSUTotal cost of the restructuring plan for thiediyuarter of 2004 was $7.9 million, of which
$7.2 million had been paid prior to the end of 20Ddese actions will result in the termination 8f@sitions, 77 of which had been terminated
prior to the end of 2004.

The closing of manufacturing operations in Sacramessulted in the elimination of 67 positions foseverance cost of $1.9 million and write-
off of $5.3 million in manufacturing-related fixetsets whose use ceased during the third quarB®0df Termination of sales and marketing
activities, principally in the U.S., resulted inveeance of $0.7 million for the elimination of 16gitions.

During the second quarter of 2004, the Companylsagement approved restructuring plans relatedetdettmination of Company-owned
manufacturing activities in Sacramento and headc@gductions
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related primarily to various sales and marketiniyaes in the U.S. and Europe. Total cost of #utions was $9.6 million for the termination
of 348 positions. As of the end of the fourth gaeadf 2004, $6.8 million had been spent and 31@ipos had been eliminated related to these
actions.

The Company estimates the closing of the Sacrammeatwfacturing operations will result in reduceg@ing quarterly operating expenses of
approximately $2 million. In addition, the Compagstimates that the remaining restructuring actiaken in fiscal 2004 will ultimately result
in reduced ongoing quarterly operating expenseppfoximately $6 million.

Fiscal 2003 Restructuring Actiol

The Company recorded total restructuring chargegppfoximately $26.8 million during the year en@&sptember 27, 2003, including
approximately $7.4 million in severance costs, #$8illion charge to write-off deferred compensati7.1 million in asset impairments and a
$7.3 million charge for lease cancellations. Of$26.8 million charge, all had been spent by th@&2004, except for approximately

$3.0 million related to operating lease costs amaioned facilities. During the third quarter of 3p@pproximately $500,000 of the amount
originally accrued for lease cancellations was mheitged to be in excess due to the sublease of@epsosooner than originally estimated and
an approximately $500,000 shortfall was identifiethe severance accrual due to higher than expeeteerance costs related to the closure of
the Company's Singapore manufacturing operatioinss& adjustments had no net effect on reportechtipgrexpense.

During the second quarter of 2003, the Companysag@ment approved and initiated restructuring asttbat resulted in recognition of a tc
restructuring charge of $2.8 million, including $2nillion in severance costs and $400,000 for assig-offs and lease payments on an
abandoned facility. Actions taken in the secondtguavere for the most part supplemental to actinitmted in the prior two quarters and
focused on further headcount reductions in vargales and marketing functions in the Company's Asasrand Europe operating segments
and further reductions associated with PowerSchelated activities in the Americas operating sedgimenluding an accrual for asset write-
offs and lease payments on an abandoned facility.SEcond quarter actions resulted in the ternoinatf 93 employees.

During the first quarter of 2003, the Company's aggment approved and initiated restructuring astieith a total cost of $24 million that
resulted in the termination of manufacturing operes at the Company-owned facility in Singaporettfer reductions in headcount resulting
from the shift in PowerSchool product strategy thak place at the end of fiscal 2002, and ternomadf various sales and marketing activities
in the U.S. and Europe. These restructuring actiesglted in the elimination of 260 positions wavide.

Closure of the Company's Singapore manufacturirggaijns resulted in severance costs of $1.8 mibllied costs of $6.7 million to write-off
manufacturing related fixed assets, whose use dahs@éng the first quarter. PowerSchool relatedsoxluded severance of approximately
$550,000 and recognition of $5 million of previoudkferred stock compensation that arose when FBukeol was acquired by the Company
in 2001 related to certain PowerSchool employeekstolders who were terminated in the first quaofe2003. Termination of sales and
marketing activities and employees, principallyhie U.S. and Europe, resulted in severance co$2.8fmillion and accrual of costs
associated with operating leases on closed fasliti $6.7 million. The total net restructuring ieof $23 million recognized during the first
quarter of 2003 also reflects the reversal of $800,0f unused restructuring accrual originally medeng the first quarter of 2002.

Fiscal 2002 Restructuring Actiol

During fiscal 2002, the Company recorded totalruestiring charges of approximately $30 million tethto actions intended to eliminate
certain activities and better align the Companpisrating expenses with

38




existing general economic conditions and to paytiaffset the cost of continuing investments in neneduct development and investments in
the Company's Retail operating segment.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company'siaggement approved and initiated restructuring astieith a total cost of approximately
$6 million designed to reduce headcount costs iparate operations and sales and to adjust its F8mnhkeol product strategy. These
restructuring actions resulted in the eliminatiémpproximately 180 positions worldwide at a cas$b.8 million, all of which were eliminated
by September 27, 2003. Eliminated positions weiranily in corporate operations, sales, and Poweo8krelated research and development
in the Americas operating segment. The shift irdpo strategy at PowerSchool included discontingiegelopment and marketing of
PowerSchool's PSE product. This shift resultedhvénitnpairment of previously capitalized developmerdts associated with the PSE product
in the amount of $4.5 million.

During the first quarter of 2002, the Company's agggment approved and initiated restructuring astigith a total cost of approximately
$24 million. These restructuring actions resultethie elimination of approximately 425 positionsrigwide at a cost of $8 million. Positions
were eliminated primarily in the Company's operadiagnformation systems, and administrative fungidn addition, these restructuring
actions also included significant changes in then@any's information systems strategy resultingegimination of equipment leases and
cancellation of existing projects and activitieeeTCompany ceased using the assets associatefirstitiuarter 2002 restructuring actions
during that same quarter. Related lease and caomtmacellation charges totaled $12 million, andrgka for asset impairments totaled

$4 million. The first quarter 2002 restructurindgians were primarily related to corporate activityt allocated to operating segments. During
the first quarter of 2003, the Company reversedéhgaining unused accrual of $600,000.

Purchased I-Process Research and Development (IPR&D)

During 2002, the Company acquired Emagic GmbH paider of professional software solutions for cotgpiased music production, for
approximately $30 million in cash; $551,000 of whigas allocated to IPR&D. The amount of the pureharice allocated to IPR&D was
expensed upon acquisition, because the technoldgasibility of products under development had Ine¢n established and no alternative
future uses existed. The fair value of the IPR&swatermined using the income approach, whichaesflhe projected free cash flows that
will be generated by the IPR&D projects and thatattributable to the acquired technology, andatisting the projected net cash flows back
to their present value using a discount rate of 25%

Other Income and Expense

Other income and expense for the three fiscal yereaded September 25, 2004 are as follows (in mahio

2004 2003 2002
Gains (losses) on n-current investments, n $ 4 $ 10 $ (42
Interest incom: $ 64 $ 69 $ 11¢€
Interest expens 3) (8) (11)
Gains on sales of short term investments 1 21 7
Other income (expense), r 9 5) 2
Gain on forward purchase agreem — 6 —
Interest and other income, r $ 53 $ 83 $ 11z
Total other income and exper $ 57 $ 93 $ 70
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Gains and Losses on Non-current Investments

Over the course of the last three years, the Coynpas held investments that were classified adablaifor-sale in EarthLink Inc.
(EarthLink), Akamai Technologies, Inc. (Akamai), MRHoldings plc (ARM) and certain investments inyatie companies. Further informat
related to the Company's non-current debt and equiestments may be found in Part Il, Item 8 a$ fhorm 10-K at Note 2 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

During 2004, the Company sold its remaining 986 ,98&res of Akamai stock. The transaction genegateceeds of approximately $5 million
and a gain before taxes of approximately $4 millids of September 25, 2004, the Company does na& &iay non-current public company
investments reflected in its consolidated balamezt

During 2003, the Company sold 1,875,000 shareskah#ai stock for net proceeds of approximately $8ionj and a gain before taxes of
approximately $8 million. Additionally, the Compaswld its remaining investment in ARM stock, 27&Ghares, for net proceeds of
approximately $295,000, and a gain before tax&2@0,000, and sold its remaining investment intiank stock, 6,540,000 shares, for net
proceeds of approximately $37 million, and a gafobe taxes of $2 million.

During 2002, the Company determined that declindghé fair value of certain investments were othan-temporary. As a result, the
Company recognized a $44 million charge to earnioggritedown the basis of its investment in Eaitii. a $6 million charge to earnings to
writedown the basis of its investment in Akamaid a$15 million charge to earnings to writedown lthsis of its investment in a private
company investment. These losses in 2002 wereapianiffset by the sale of 117,000 shares of Eartkistock for net proceeds of $2 million
and a gain before taxes of $223,000, the sale @020 shares of Akamai stock for net proceeds ahifilon and a gain before taxes of
$710,000, and the sale of approximately 4.7 milsbares of ARM stock for both net proceeds andm lggfore taxes of $21 million.

Interest and Other Income, N

Total interest and other income, net decreased@ion or 36% to $53 million during fiscal 2004 mpared to $83 million in 2003 and

$112 million in 2002. These decreases are attrithatarimarily to declining investment yields on tBempany's cash and short-term
investments resulting from lower market interest arshortening of the average maturity of the Camglsainvestment portfolio, as well as
lower gains on sales of short-term investmentssitaf 2004. The weighted average interest rateegldoy the Company on its cash, cash
equivalents and shotérm investments fell to 1.38% in 2004 compareth&1.89% and 2.85% rates earned during 2003 abi2, 28spectivel’
The Company occasionally sells short-term investmprior to their stated maturities. As a resulsoth sales, the Company recognized net
gains of $1 million, $21 million and $7 million dog fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Theréase in total interest and other income,
net during fiscal 2003 was also offset by the $Bioni gain related to the forward purchase agredrdaring the fourth quarter of 2003 whicl
further discussed below under the heading "Cunwuddfiffects of Accounting Changes."

Interest expense consisted primarily of interesthenCompany's $300 million aggregate principal am@nsecured notes, which were repaid
upon their maturity in February 2004, partiallys#t by amortization of deferred gains realizeddfi2and 2001 that resulted from the closure
of swap positions associated with the unsecureglsndthe unsecured notes were sold at 99.925% dbpan effective yield to maturity of
6.51%. Total deferred gain resulting from the ctesof debt swaps of approximately $23 million wakyfamortized as of the notes' maturity
February 2004.

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company's effective tax rate for the year erBiatember 25, 2004 was approximately 28%. The @owip effective rate differs from the
statutory federal income tax rate of 35% due prilp&o certain undistributed foreign earnings fonish no U.S. taxes are provided because
such earnings are intended to
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be indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S. As ep@mber 25, 2004, the Company had deferred t@tsaadsing from deductible temporary
differences, tax losses, and tax credits of $64liamibefore being offset against certain defertadliabilities and a valuation allowance for
presentation on the Company's balance sheet. Mareagédelieves it is more likely than not that fasted income, including income that may
be generated as a result of certain tax planniagesfies, will be sufficient to fully recover themnaining net deferred tax assets. As of
September 25, 2004, a valuation allowance of $3llomiwas recorded against the deferred tax assehé benefits of tax losses that may not
be realized. The valuation allowance relates ppialty to the operating loss carryforwards acquiredh NeXT and other acquisitions, the
utilization of which is subject to certain limitatis imposed by the Internal Revenue Code. The Coynwdl continue to evaluate the
realizability of the deferred tax assets quartbghassessing the need for and amount of the vatuatiowance.

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has completefieid audit of the Company's federal income &tams for all years prior to 2001 and
proposed certain adjustments. Certain of thesesadgnts are being contested through the IRS Ap@féitse. Substantially all IRS audit isst
for these years have been resolved. In additienCibimpany is also subject to audits by state, |@al foreign tax authorities. Management
believes that adequate provision has been madmfoadjustments that may result from tax examinatiblowever, the outcome of tax audits
cannot be predicted with certainty. Should anydssaddressed in the Company's tax audits be resmha&emanner not consistent with
management's expectations, the Company could lireedo adjust its provision for income tax in fheriod such resolution occurs.

Cumulative Effects of Accounting Changes
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Bdfiabilities and Equity

On May 15, 2003, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (FASB) issued SFAS No. 158 counting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of Both Liabilities and EquitysFAS No. 150 requires issuers to classify aglili@s certain freestanding financial instruments
that embody obligations for the issuer and haveasteristics of both liabilities and equity. Thermany adopted the provisions of SFAS

No. 150 on June 29, 2003, which resulted in a falviercumulative effect type adjustment of approxetya$3 million. This adjustmer
represented the mark-to-market adjustment to firesfor a forward purchase agreement that allalwedCompany to acquire 1.5 million
shares of its common stock at a price of $16.64hare. The Company settled this forward purchgeseaent in August 2003. The settlen
resulted in an additional gain of approximatelynilion, which is included in interest and othecame, net.

Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligatic

On September 29, 2002, the Company adopted SFASAB0Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligatigneghich addresses financial
accounting and reporting for obligations associatét the retirement of tangible loryed assets and the associated asset retiremstst &e

of the related income tax effect of approximatelyrillion, adoption of SFAS No. 143 resulted inwarfavorable cumulative-effect type
adjustment to net income during 2003 of approxigeh2 million. This adjustment represents cumulatilepreciation and accretion that would
have been recognized through the date of adopfi®@+AS No. 143 had the statement been appliedet@thimpany's existing asset retirement
obligations at the time they were initially incudire

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2003, the Securities and Exchange Cesioni released Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) NO64,Revenue Recognitigrwhich
supercedes SAB 10Revenue Recognition in Financial Stateme@8B 104 clarifies existing guidance regardingemawe contracts that
contain multiple deliverables to make it consisteith Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 00-®e adoption of SAB 104 did not have a
material impact on the Company's results of openatdr financial position.
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In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Stansl&uolard (FASB) issued Interpretation No. (FIN) 4@Revision to FIN 46Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entitie$:IN 46R clarifies some of the provisions of FIN &&d exempts certain entities from its requiremerifd.46R is
effective at the end of the first interim periodlerg after March 15, 2004. The adoption of FIN 488 not have a material impact on the
Company's results of operations or financial positi

In March 2004, the FASB issued EITF Issue No. 03He Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment lisd\pplication to Certain
Investment. EITF 03-1 includes new guidance for evaluating eetording impairment losses on debt and equitgstments, as well as new
disclosure requirements for investments that aesndel to be temporarily impaired. In September 2681FASB issued FASB Staff Position
EITF 03-1-1, which delays the effective date uatititional guidance is issued for the applicatibthe recognition and measurement
provisions of EITF 03-1 to investments in secusitieat are impaired; however, the disclosure requénts are effective for annual periods
ending after June 15, 2004. Although the Comparilycentinue to evaluate the application of EITF D3nanagement does not currently
believe adoption will have a material impact orr@sults of operations or financial position.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The Company currently measures compensation expengs employee stock-based compensation plaimg ke intrinsic value method
prescribed by Accounting Principles Board (APB) @i No. 25Accounting for Stock Issued to Employaed provides pro forma
disclosures of the effect on net income and eamp®y share as if the fair value-based method bed bpplied in measuring compensation
expense. The Company has elected to follow APB iOpiNo. 25 because, as further discussed in Pdteth 8 of this Form 10-K at Note 1 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementsalteenative fair value accounting provided for an8FAS No. 123Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensatic, requires use of option valuation models that wertedeveloped for use in valuing employee stodioos and employee
stock purchase plan shares. Under APB Opinion Npwken the exercise price of the Company's emplsyack options equals the market
price of the underlying stock on the date of thengrno compensation expense is recognized.

On March 31, 2004, the FASB issued a proposed8@atgShare-Based Paymettihat addresses the accounting for share-based payme
transactions in which an enterprise receives engg®grvices in exchange for (a) equity instrumehtle enterprise or (b) liabilities that are
based on the fair value of the enterprise's edquiiyuments or that may be settled by the issuahsech equity instruments. The proposed
Statement would eliminate the ability to accoumtdbare-based compensation transactions using ARfdD No. 25 and generally would
require instead that such transactions be accotiotesing a fair-value-based method. If adopted, currently anticipated that the proposed
Statement would be effective for the Company beagionim its fourth fiscal quarter of 2005.

At the Company's annual shareholders meeting oil 2¢r2003, shareholders approved a proposal stipgethat the Company's Board of
Directors (the Board) establish a policy of expegghe value of all future employee stock optiesued by the Company. The Board and
management appreciate and take seriously the \egpressed by the Company's shareholders. The Conaeaided not to expense the value
of employee stock options until the FASB finalizissnew accounting standard on the matter, which ptay a significant role in determining
the fair value of and accounting for employee stogtions. The Company monitors progress at the FASBother developments with respect
to the general issue of employee stock compensdftoem Company is currently reviewing the potentigbact from the guidance of the
proposed statement, which may require the Compangcognize substantially more compensation expensgure periods that could have a
material adverse impact on the Company's futunalteesf operations. The accounting impact had tom@any chosen to apply the fair-value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, insteadhaf recognition provisions under APB Opinion No, B5escribed in Part Il, Item 8 of this
Form 10-K at Note 1 of the Notes to ConsolidatathRcial Statements.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table presents selected financiabinfation and statistics for each of the last tliiszl years (dollars in millions):

2004 2003 2002
Cash, cash equivalents, and s-term investment $ 546/ $ 4566 $ 4,330
Accounts receivable, n $ 774 $ 76€ $ 56t
Inventory $ 101 $ 56 $ 45
Working capital $ 437 $ 353 $ 3,73«
Days sales in accounts receivable (DSO 30 41 36
Days of supply in inventory (k 5 4 4
Days payables outstanding (DPO) 76 82 77
Annual operating cash flo $ 934 $ 28¢ % 89

(@) DSO is based on ending net trade receivables amsti necent quarterly net sales for each period.
(b) Days supply of inventory is based on ending invenémd most recent quarterly cost of sales for gectod.

(c) DPO is based on ending accounts payable and neesitrguarterly cost of sales adjusted for the chamdgnventory.

As of September 25, 2004, the Company had $5.4bdnbin cash, cash equivalents, and short-ternestments, an increase of $898 million
over the same balances at the end of fiscal 2088 pfincipal components of this increase were gasierated by operating activities of
$934 million and proceeds of $427 million from tkeuance of common stock under stock plans, pgroéfset by cash used to repay the
Company's outstanding debt of $300 million and pases of property, plant, and equipment of $178anilThe Company's short-term
investment portfolio is primarily invested in highedit quality, liquid investments. Approximatel8.2 billion of this cash, cash equivalents,
and short-term investments are held by the Compdaseign subsidiaries and would be subject to th&me taxation on repatriation to the
U.S. The Company is currently assessing the impfatte one-time favorable foreign dividend provisaecently enacted as part of the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, and may detidepatriate earnings from some of its foreignsidibries.

The Company believes its existing balances of caath equivalents, and short-term investmentsheibufficient to satisfy its working capital
needs, capital expenditures, stock repurchasetgctvitstanding commitments, and other liquidigguirements associated with its existing
operations over the next 12 months.

Debt

In February 2004, the Company retired $300 milliblebt outstanding in the form of 6.5% unsecuregs The notes were originally issued
in 1994 and were sold at 99.9925% of par for aaatiffe yield to maturity of 6.51%. The Company eatty has no long-term debt obligations.

Capital Expenditures

The Company's total capital expenditures were $iilléon during fiscal 2004, $104 million of whichewe for retail store facilities and
equipment related to the Company's Retail segmeh&@2 million of which were primarily for corpogainfrastructure, including information
systems enhancements and operating facilities eehaents and expansions. The Company currentlyiattss it will utilize approximately
$240 million for capital expenditures during 20@pproximately $125 million of which is expectedom® utilized for further expansion of the
Company's Retail segment and the remainder utitieestipport normal replacement of existing cagitsets and enhancements to general
information technology infrastructure.
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Stock Repurchase Plan

In July 1999, the Company's Board of Directors atigted a plan for the Company to repurchase ub@®$nillion of its common stock. This
repurchase plan does not obligate the Companyqguoit@cany specific number of shares or acquireeshaver any specified period of time.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company etento a forward purchase agreement to acquirenillion shares of its common stock in
September of 2003 at an average price of $16.64t@e for a total cost of $25.5 million. In Aug@s03, the Company settled this agreement
prior to its maturity, at which time the Compangtsnmon stock had a fair value of $22.81. Other thanforward purchase transaction, the
Company has not engaged in any transactions taalease its common stock since fiscal 2000. Sinception of the stock repurchase plan,
Company had repurchased a total of 6.55 milliomeshat a cost of $217 million. The Company was atithorized to repurchase up to an
additional $283 million of its common stock as ejp&mber 25, 2004.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obgations

The Company has not entered into any transactigthsuwuconsolidated entities whereby the Companyfinascial guarantees, subordinated
retained interests, derivative instruments or otlmgitingent arrangements that expose the Compamgaterial continuing risks, contingent
liabilities, or any other obligation under a vat@mterest in an unconsolidated entity that presifinancing, liquidity, market risk or credit ri
support to the Company.

The following table presents certain payments duthb Company under contractual obligations withimum firm commitments as of
September 25, 2004 and excludes amounts alreadsdezton the Company's balance sheet as currbiiitiées (in millions):

Payments Payments Payments Payments
Due in Less Due in Due in Due in More
TOTAL Than 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years Than 5 years
Operating Lease $ 617 $ 89 $ 17C 3 12¢ $ 232
Purchase Obligatior 1,112 1,112 — — —
Asset Retirement Obligatior 12 — 1 2 9
Other Obligation: 24 14 1C — —
Total $ 1,765 $ 121 % 181 $ 12¢ $ 241

Lease Commitmen

As of September 25, 2004, the Company had totatanding commitments on noncancelable operatirggteaf approximately $617 million,
$436 million of which related to the lease of respace and related facilities. Remaining termshenCompany's existing operating leases r
from 2 to 16 years.

Purchase Obligation

The Company utilizes several contract manufactutersanufacture sub-assemblies for the Compangtugts and to perform final assembly
and test of finished products. These contract nertufers acquire components and build product basettmand information supplied by the
Company, which typically covers periods rangingrird0 to 130 days. The Company also obtains indalidamponents for its products fron
wide variety of individual suppliers. Consistentlwindustry practice, the Company acquires comptthamough a combination of purchase
orders, supplier contracts, and open orders basguojected demand information. Such purchase comenits typically cover the Company's
forecasted component and manufacturing requirenfentseriods ranging from 30 to 130 days. The ratfrthe Company's outstanding third-
party manufacturing commitments and component @seltommitments has not changed significantly gimeend of its fiscal 2003. As of
September 25, 2004, the Company had
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outstanding third-party manufacturing commitmemd aomponent purchase commitments of approxim&ely billion.
Asset Retirement Obligatio

The Company's asset retirement obligations areceded with commitments to return property subjeabperating leases to original condition
upon lease termination. As of September 25, 20@Company estimates that gross expected futureficags of approximately $12 million
would be required to fulfill these obligations.

Other Obligations
The Company's other obligations of approximatelg §gllion are primarily related to telecommunicatioservices.
Indemnifications

The Company generally does not indemnify end-uskits operating system and application softwarairsf legal claims that the software
infringes third-party intellectual property right3ther agreements entered into by the Company soe®include indemnification provisions
under which the Company could be subject to casdéos damages in the event of an infringement ckgrminst the Company or an
indemnified third-party. However, the Company haslreen required to make any significant paymesgalting from such an infringement
claim asserted against itself or an indemnifiecdtipiarty and, in the opinion of management, doesawve a liability related to unresolved
infringement claims subject to indemnification tiatuld have a material adverse affect on its fifgreondition, liquidity or results of
operations.

Factors That May Affect Future Results and FinancidCondition

Because of the following factors, as well as ofhetors affecting the Company's operating resultsfaancial condition, past financial
performance should not be considered to be a teliaticator of future performance, and investdrsudd not use historical trends to anticipate
results or trends in future periods.

General economic conditions and current economit alitical uncertainty could adversely affect themand for the Company's products and
the financial health of its suppliers, distributpend resellers.

The Company's operating performance depends signifiy on general economic conditions in the Uril abroad. Over the past several ye
demand for the Company's products has been nelyativeacted by difficult global economic conditiamsdditionally, some of the Compan
education customers appeared to be delaying teatmplurchases due to concerns about the overadidtrgd the weaker economy and state
budget deficits on their available funding. Althtugcent macroeconomic trends seem to indicate@moenic recovery, continued uncertainty
about future economic conditions makes it diffidolforecast future demand for the Company's prisdaied related operating results. Should
global and/or regional economic conditions detati®rdemand for the Company's products could beradly affected, as could the financial
health of its suppliers, distributors, and ressller

War, terrorism, public health issues or other besis interruptions could disrupt supply, deliverydemand of products, which could negati
affect the Company's operations and performance.

War, terrorism, public health issues and otherrmss interruptions whether in the U.S. or abroasdlettaused and could continue to cause
damage or disruption to international commerceregting economic and political uncertainties thayrhave a strong negative impact on the
global economy, the Company, and the Company'slisappr customers. The Company's major businessatipns are subject to interruption
by earthquake, fire, power shortages, terrorisickt and other hostile acts, labor disputes, medigalitions, and other events beyond its
control. The majority of the Company's research dexklopment activities, its corporate headquartefgrmation technology systems, and
other critical business operations, including dartmmponent suppliers and manufacturing vendoeslazated near
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major seismic faults. Because the Company doesarof earthquake insurance for direct quake-rellmtsses, the Company's operating results
and financial condition could be materially advérsdfected in the event of a major earthquaketheonatural or manmade disaster.

Although it is impossible to predict the occurresioe consequences of any such events, such ewaritsresult in a decrease in demand for
Company's products, make it difficult or impossitdedeliver products to its customers or to recewmponents from its suppliers, and could
create delays and inefficiencies in the Companyply chain. In addition, should major public hbaisues, including epidemics, arise the
Company could be negatively impacted by the neechfre stringent employee travel restrictions, tiddal limitations in the availability of
freight services, governmental actions limiting thevement of products between various regionsydetaproduction ramps of new products,
and disruptions in the operations of the Compamgeufacturing vendors and component suppliers.Gdrapany's operating results and
financial condition have been, and in the futureyroantinue to be, adversely affected by these svent

The market for personal computers and related enipls and services, as well as digital music deviand related services, is highly
competitive. If the Company is unable to effegfieeimpete in these markets, its results of oparatamuld be adversely affected.

The personal computer industry is highly competitand is characterized by aggressive pricing mestidownward pressure on gross margins,
frequent introduction of new products, short prddifie cycles, evolving industry standards, consihimprovement in product
price/performance characteristics, rapid adoptiotechnological and product advancements by congustiprice sensitivity on the part of
consumers, and a large number of competitors. @weepast several years, price competition in theketdor personal computers and related
peripherals has been particularly intense. The Gmyip competitors who sell Windows and Linux bgseonal computers have aggressively
cut prices and lowered their product margins ireotd gain or maintain market share in responskgaveakness in demand that began in the
second half of calendar 2000 for personal computioglucts. The Company's results of operationsfiaadcial condition have been, and in
future may continue to be, adversely affected legéhand other industry-wide pricing pressures amwhd/ard pressures on gross margins.

The personal computer industry has also been diesized by rapid technological advances in softwWanetionality, hardware performance,
and features based on existing or emerging indgsanydards. Further, as the personal computertirydaisd its customers place more reliance
on the Internet, an increasing number of Intermeiaks that are smaller and simpler than traditippesonal computers may compete for
market share with the Company's existing prodi@#seral competitors of the Company have eitheetathor announced their intention to
target certain of the Company's key market segmersiding consumer, education, professional amtsamer digital video editing, and
design and publishing. Several of the Company'spatitors have introduced or announced plans todiite digital music products and/or
online stores offering digital music distributidmt mimic many of the unique design, technicalfezgt, and solutions of the Company's
products. The Company has a significant numbepofpetitors, many of whom have greater financialketng, manufacturing, and
technological resources, as well as broader prdaheg and larger installed customer bases thasetbbthe Company. Additionally, there has
been a trend towards consolidation in the perscoralputer industry that has resulted in larger aotémtially stronger competitors in the
Company's markets.

The Company is currently the only maker of hardwesieg the Mac OS. The Mac OS has a minority maskate in the personal computer
market, which is dominated by makers of computéilizing other competing operating systems, inchgdiVindows and Linux. The
Company's future operating results and financiabd@ion are substantially dependent on its abtlitgontinue to develop improvements to the
Macintosh platform in order to maintain perceivesidn and functional advantages over competindopfas.
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The Company is currently focused on market oppdigsrelated to digital music distribution andateld consumer electronic devices,
including iPods. The Company faces increasing caitige from other companies promoting their ownitiigmusic products and distribution
services and free peer-to-peer music services.elt@mpetitors include both new entrants with nowatket approaches, such as subscription
services models, and also larger companies thathaay greater technical, marketing, distributiod ather resources than those of the
Company, as well as established hardware, softarsdenusic content supplier relationships. Failoreffectively compete could negatively
affect the Company's operating results and findpaisition. There can be no assurance that the @ognwill be able to continue to provide
products and services that effectively compet&@sé markets or successfully distribute and sgitalimusic outside the U.S. The Company
may also have to respond to price competition kyeking prices and/or increasing features which @@aversely affect the Company's music
product gross margins as well as overall Companggmargins.

The Company also faces increased competition itJtBe education market. Sales in the U.S. to blatmentary and secondary schools, as

as for college and university customers, remaiara market for the Company. Uncertainty in thisrofel remains as several competitors of
Company have either targeted or announced theintiioin to target the education market for personaiputers, which could negatively affect
the Company's market share. In an effort to regairket share and remain competitive, the Compasyban and will continue to pursue one-
to-one (1:1) learning solutions in education. Thempany's 1:1 learning solutions are a completetisnlconsisting of an iBook portable

system for every student and teacher along witlir@less network connected to a central server. tieHearning solutions and other strate
sales are generally priced more aggressively anltlcesult in significantly less profitability oven in financial losses, particularly for larger
deals. Although the Company believes it has taleetam steps to strengthen its position in the atlan market, there can be no assurance that
the Company will be able to increase or maintarsitare of the education market or execute prdyita large strategic arrangements. Failure
to do so may have an adverse impact on the Congpapgrating results and financial condition.

The Company must successfully manage frequent grodroductions and transitions in order to remaiompetitive and effectively stimulate
customer demand.

Due to the highly volatile and competitive natufetee personal computer and consumer electrongissinies, which are characterized by
dynamic customer demand patterns and rapid techivaloadvances, the Company must continually intoednew products and technologies,
enhance existing products in order to remain coitipetand effectively stimulate customer demandrfew products and upgraded versions of
the Company's existing products. The success ofpmeduct introductions is dependent on a numbéaatbrs, including market acceptance;
the Company's ability to manage the risks assatiatth product transitions, including productiommaissues; the availability of application
software for new products; the effective manageméirtventory levels in line with anticipated praduemand; the availability of products in
appropriate quantities to meet anticipated demand;the risk that new products may have qualitytber defects in the early stages of
introduction. Accordingly, the Company cannot detiere in advance the ultimate effect that new présludll have on its sales or results of
operations.

The Company's products, from time to time, expeéejuality problems that can result in decreasetdsages and operating profits.

The Company sells highly complex hardware and so#vproducts that can contain defects in desigmaantlifacture. Sophisticated operating
system software and applications, such as thoskebyathe Company, often contain "bugs" that carxpaetedly interfere with the operation of
the software. Defects may also occur in componamdsproducts the Company purchases from thirdgsarlihere can be no assurance that the
Company will be able to detect and fix all defantthe hardware and software it sells.
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Failure to do so could result in lost revenue, lofseputation, and significant warranty and otbepense to remedy.

Because orders for components, and in some casesitments to purchase components, must be placativance of customer orders,
Company faces substantial inventory risk.

The Company records a write-down for inventoriesa@hponents and products that have become obswlate in excess of anticipated
demand or net realizable value and accrues neyessarves for cancellation fees of orders for imwges that have been cancelled. Although
the Company believes its inventory and related isions are adequate, given the rapid and unprdaiécigace of product obsolescence in the
computer and consumer electronics industries, soraace can be given that the Company will notriaciditional inventory and related
charges. In addition, such charges have had, agchenee, a material effect on the Company's findramaition and results of operations.

The Company must order components for its prodaieisbuild inventory in advance of product shipmeBecause the Company's markets are
volatile and subject to rapid technology and pdbanges, there is a risk the Company will foregagirrectly and produce or order from third
parties excess or insufficient inventories of matar products. Consistent with industry practam@nponents are normally acquired through a
combination of formal purchase orders, supplieti@ms, and open orders based on projected deméordhiation. Such purchase commitme
typically cover the Company's forecasted compoaedtmanufacturing requirements for periods ranfiogn 30 to 130 days. The Company's
operating results and financial condition have hieehe past and may in the future be materiallyeasely affected by the Company's ability to
manage its inventory levels and respond to shomt-&hifts in customer demand patterns.

Future operating results are dependent upon the @2om's ability to obtain a sufficient supply of qgmnents, including microprocessors, s¢
of which are in short supply or available only frdimited sources.

Although most components essential to the Compdmugsiess are generally available from multiplerses, certain key components including
microprocessors and ASICs are currently obtainethbyCompany from single or limited sources. Soeyedomponents (including without
limitation DRAM, and TFT-LCD flat-panel displays)hile currently available to the Company from nmplki sources, are at times subject to
industry-wide availability and pricing pressuresaddition, new products introduced by the Compafitgn initially utilize custom components
obtained from only one source until the Companyewaduated whether there is a need for, and suksdglqualifies, additional suppliers. In
situations where a component or product utilizes technologies, initial capacity constraints majseuntil such time as the suppliers' yields
have matured. The Company and other producergipdhsonal computer industry also compete for uarmmponents with other industries
that have experienced increased demand for thedtusts. The Company uses some components thabecemmon to the rest of the personal
computer industry including certain microprocessurd ASICs. Continued availability of these compuaenay be affected if producers were
to decide to concentrate on the production of camepts other than those customized to meet the Cuytgpeequirements. If the supply of a
key component were to be delayed or constraineal ew or existing product, the Company's resultgpefrations and financial condition
could be adversely affected.

The Company's ability to produce and market cortipetproducts is also dependent on the ability desire of IBM and Freescale
Semiconductor, Inc. (formerly the Semiconductordeiais Segment of Motorola, Inc.), the sole supplarthe PowerPC RISC-based
microprocessor for the Company's Macintosh computerprovide the Company with a sufficient supplynicroprocessors with
price/performance features that compare favorabthdse supplied to the Company's competitors t®t Dorporation and other developers
producers of microprocessors used by personal ctargusing other operating systems. Further, dedpiefforts to educate the marketplac
the contrary, the Company believes that many afutsent and potential customers believe that ¢tetively slower MHz
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rating or clock speed of the microprocessors lizes in its Macintosh systems compares unfavortbthose utilized by other operating
systems and translates to slower overall systefonpeance. There have been instances in recent yédeme the inability of the Company's
suppliers to provide advanced PowerPC microproeessaufficient quantity has had significant acdbeeeffects on the Company's results of
operations. In addition, IBM is currently the Comga sole supplier of the PowerPC G5 processorginisi used in the Company's current
Power Mac, Xserve, and iMac products. Freescalecemuctor, Inc. is the sole supplier of the G4gassor, which is used in the Company's
eMac and portable products. IBM has recently expeed manufacturing problems with the PowerPC @bgssor, which resulted in the
Company delaying the shipment of various products@nstrained certain product shipments duringéuoend half of 2004. The inability of
IBM to remedy these problems in a timely manneojéwnanufacturing problems in the future, and tlivee to the Company microprocessors
in sufficient quantities with competitive price/pammance features could further constrain shipmehpsoducts containing the G5 processor
and could adversely affect the Company's resultgpefations and financial condition.

The Company is dependent on manufacturing andtlogiservices provided by third parties, many obmhare located outside of the U.S.

Most of the Company's products are manufacturedhiole or in part by third-party manufacturers. tdaion, the Company has outsourced
much of its transportation and logistics manageméfhtile outsourcing arrangements may lower the absperations, they also reduce the
Company's direct control over production and disitibn. It is uncertain what effect such diminishehtrol will have on the quality or quant
of the products manufactured or services rendenette flexibility of the Company to respond to nggang market conditions. Moreover,
although arrangements with such manufacturers ratain provisions for warranty expense reimbursdptie Company may remain at least
initially responsible to the ultimate consumer faarranty service in the event of product defectsy Ananticipated product defect or warranty
liability, whether pursuant to arrangements withtcact manufacturers or otherwise, could advera#gct the Company's future operating
results and financial condition.

Final assembly of products sold by the Companyisenitly conducted in the Company's manufacturaailify in Cork, Ireland, and by
external vendors in Fremont, California, Fullert@alifornia, Taiwan, Korea, the Netherlands, thegte's Republic of China, and the Czech
Republic. Currently, manufacture of many of the poments used in the Company's products and fisanalsly of substantially all of the
Company's portable products including PowerBod&spks, and the iPod is performed by third-partydes in Taiwan and China. If for any
reason manufacturing or logistics in any of themations is disrupted by events such as regiomalauic, business, environmental, medical,
political, information technology system failures,military actions, the Company's results of opierss and financial condition could be
adversely affected.

The Company's future operating performance is dégenon the performance of distributors and otresellers of the Company's products.

The Company distributes its products through whadégs, resellers, national and regional retaileds@ataloguers, many of whom distribute
products from competing manufacturers. In addittbe,Company also sells many of its products asellsecertain thirgsarty products in mo
of its major markets directly to end users, cer&ncation customers, and certain resellers thrgaginline stores around the world and its
retail stores. Many of the Company's significasetkers operate on narrow product margins and haee negatively affected by recent
economic conditions. Considerable trade receivablgsare not covered by collateral or credit iasge are outstanding with the Company's
distribution and retail channel partners. The Comyfsabusiness and financial results could be adWeedfected if the financial condition of
these resellers weaken, if resellers within consuwrhannels were to cease distribution of the Comiggroducts, or if uncertainty regarding
demand for the Company's products caused restdlers
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reduce their ordering and marketing of the Compmapsoducts. The Company has invested and will nagtto invest in various programs to
enhance reseller sales, including staffing selexsédllers' stores with Company employees. Thesgrams could require a substantial
investment from the Company, while providing nouaaace of return or incremental revenue to offsistinvestment.

Over the past several years, an increasing prapooti the Company's net sales have been made l§yatmpany directly to end-users through
its online stores around the world and throughdtail stores in the U.S. and Japan. Some of thegaay's resellers have perceived this
expansion of the Company's direct sales as canfliatith their own business and economic interastdistributors and resellers of the
Company's products. Perception of such a confliataccdiscourage the Company's resellers from ivgstdditional resources in the
distribution and sale of the Company's productead them to limit or cease distribution of the @amy's products. The Company's business
and financial results could be adversely affectekpansion of its direct sales to end-users casse or all of its resellers to cease or limit
distribution of the Company's products.

Further information regarding risks associated Witirketing and Distribution may be found in Pardtém 1 of this Form 10-K under the
heading "Markets and Distribution."

The Company relies on third-party music contenictvimay not be available to the Company on comraklygieasonable terms or at all.

The Company contracts with third parties to offezit music content to customers through the Comjpdmynes Music Store. The Company
pays substantial fees to obtain the rights to dffets customers this third-party music. Manyloé Company's licensing arrangements with
these third-party content providers are short-termature and do not guarantee the future renefithlese arrangements at commercially
reasonable terms, if at all. Certain parties inrthusic industry have announced their intent to olidate their music distribution operations,
which could limit the availability and increase fiees required to offer music content to custorttemeugh the iTunes Music Store. Further,
some third-party content providers currently, oryritathe future, offer music products and serviteg compete with the Company's music
products and services, and could take action tcentakore difficult or impossible for the Compamylicense their music content in the future.
If the Company is unable to continue to offer aewdriety of music content at reasonable priceb adceptable usage rules, or continue to
expand its geographic reach outside the U.S.,dbkys and gross margins of the Company's iTuneschbigre as well as related hardware and
peripherals, including iPods, may be adverselycaéid:

Third-party content providers and artists requirat the Company provide certain digital rights ngeamaent solutions and other security
mechanisms. If the requirements from content pergar artists change, then the Company may bereebto further develop or license
technology to address such new rights and requimesn&here is no assurance that the Company wilibe to develop or license such
solutions at a reasonable cost and in a timely manfnat all, which could have a materially adeeesfect on the Company's operating results
and financial position.

The Company's future performance is dependent gppport from third-party software developers. ifdhparty software applications cease
to be developed or available for the Company's Waré products, then customers may choose not taheugompany's products.

The Company believes that decisions by customepsrchase the Company's personal computers, asegppo Windows-based systems, are
often based on the availability of third-party sadte for particular applications such as Microgofice. The Company also believes the
availability of third-party application softwarerfthe Company's hardware products depends in pattial-party developers' perception and
analysis of the relative benefits of developingjntening, and upgrading such software for the Camys products versus software for the
larger Windows market. This analysis is based otofa such as the perceived strength of the Comaadyts products, the anticipated
potential revenue that may be generated, contiagedptance by customers of Mac OS X, and the obstsveloping such
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software products. To the extent the Company'sifiizd losses in prior years and the minority mastetre held by the Company in the
personal computer market, as well as the Compaegision to end its Mac OS licensing program, heaesed software developers to question
the Company's prospects in the personal computgkatialevelopers could be less inclined to develepw application software or upgrade
existing software for the Company's products andeniclined to devote their resources to develoging upgrading software for the larger
Windows market. Moreover, there can be no assursoiteare developers will continue to develop saeftvfor Mac OS X, the Company's
operating system, on a timely basis or at all.

In addition, past and future development by the Gamy of its own software applications and solutiores/ negatively impact the decision of
software developers to develop, maintain, and wgegsamilar or competitive software for the Comparproducts. The Company currently
markets and sells a variety of software applicatifum use by professionals, consumers, and educetistomers that could influence the
decisions of third-party software developers toadep or upgrade Macintosh-compatible software petgluSoftware applications currently
marketed by the Company include software for pitesal film and video editing, professional compiogi and visual effects for large format
film and video productions, professional music prettbn and music post production, professional @msumer DVD encoding and authoring,
consumer digital video and digital photo editinglananagement, digital music management, desktopdbdetabase management, and high-
quality presentations. The Company also marketatagrated productivity application that incorp@stvord processing, page layout, image
manipulation, spreadsheets, databases, and priisesta a single application.

In August 1997, the Company and Microsoft Corporagntered into patent cross license and technaggsements. In addition, for a period
of five years through August 2002, and subjectetdain limitations related to the number of Macsit@omputers sold by the Company,
Microsoft was required to make versions of its Mawft Office and Internet Explorer products for Mac OS. Although Microsoft has relea
Microsoft Office and Internet Explorer for Mac OS Microsoft has not been obligated to produce fittgrsions of its products subsequent to
August 2002. While the Company believes its retetfop with Microsoft has been and will continueombeneficial to the Company and to its
efforts to increase the installed base for the K& the Company does compete directly with Microso& number of key areas. Accordingly,
Microsoft's interest in producing application saoditw for the Mac OS following expiration of the agmeents may be influenced by Microsoft's
perception of its interests as the vendor of thadbivs operating system and competing digital meggications, including music distribution
service and technology. In June of 2003, Microstdted that it would no longer develop new versionsternet Explorer for the Mac OS,
subsequent to the Company's introduction durin3260ts own web browser, Safari. Further discamtince of products for the Macintosh
platform, including Microsoft Office and other Masoft products could have an adverse effect ofCthmapany’s net sales and results of
operations.

The Company's business relies on access to paedtsitellectual property obtained from third pa&si and the Company's future results ci
be adversely affected if it is alleged or foundh&we infringed on the intellectual property riglofsothers.

Many of the Company's products are designed tadecintellectual property obtained from third-pestiWhile it may be necessary in the
future to seek or renew licenses relating to variaspects of its products and business method€,aimpany believes that based upon past
experience and industry practice, such licensesrgéin could be obtained on commercially reasonédaies. However, there can be no
assurance that the necessary licenses would blalaeadr available on acceptable terms.

Because of technological changes in the computktcansumer electronics industries, current extengatent coverage, and the rapid rate of
issuance of new patents, it is possible certainpmorants of the Company's products and businessodeethay unknowingly infringe existing
patents of others. The Company has from time te tigen notified that it may be infringing certaatgnts or other intellectual
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property rights of others. Responding to such cdairegardless of their merit, can be time consupriggult in significant expenses, and cause
the diversion of management and technical persoesferal pending claims are in various stagevafiation. The Company may consider
the desirability of entering into licensing agreentsein certain of these cases. However, no asseirearc be given that such licenses can be
obtained on acceptable terms or that litigation mot occur. In the event there is a temporaryan@mnent injunction entered prohibiting the
Company from marketing or selling certain of itegucts or a successful claim of infringement agaims Company requiring it to pay
royalties to a third-party, the Company's futuremaping results and financial condition could beeadely affected. Information regarding
certain claims and litigation involving the Compamyated to alleged patent infringement and othattens is set forth in Part |, Item 3 of this
Form 10-K. In the opinion of management, the Comypdmes not have a potential liability for damagesoyalties from any current legal
proceedings or claims related to the infringemémtadent or other intellectual property rights difiers that would individually or in the
aggregate have a material adverse effect on itdtsesf operations, or financial condition. Howevire results of such legal proceedings ca
be predicted with certainty. Should the Companltéaprevail in any of the matters related to infiement of patent or other intellectual
property rights of others described in Part I, It8@f this Form 10-K or should several of thesetaratbe resolved against the Company in the
same reporting period, the operating results aréiqular reporting period could be materially achety affected.

The Company's retail initiative has required andl wontinue to require a substantial investment aoedhmitment of resources and is subject to
numerous risks and uncertainties.

Through September 2004, the Company has openegt&bstores. The Company's retail initiative heguired substantial investment in
equipment and leasehold improvements, informatystesns, inventory, and personnel. The Company lsaseatered into substantial opera
lease commitments for retail space with lease teamging from 5 to 16 years, the majority of whasle for 10 years. The Company could ir
substantial costs should it choose to terminateittiiative or close individual stores. Such cagisld adversely affect the Company's resul
operations and financial condition. Additionallyredatively high proportion of the Retail segmentsts are fixed because of depreciation on
store construction costs and lease expense. Asult, reignificant losses would result should theatesegment experience a decline in sales for
any reason.

Certain of the Company's stores have been desegmeduilt to serve as high profile venues that fiamcas vehicles for general corporate
marketing, corporate events, and brand awarenesaue of their unique design elements, locatindssize, these stores require substantially
more investment in equipment and leasehold imprevgsthan the Company's more typical retail stofes. Company has opened seven such
stores through November 2004. Because of theititotand size, these high profile stores also megihie Company to enter into substantially
larger operating lease commitments compared teetheguired for its more typical stores. Currensésaon such locations have terms ranging
from 10 to 16 years with total commitments per t@raover the lease terms ranging from $25 millior$50 million. Closure or poor
performance of one of these high profile storedctbave a particularly significant negative impantthe Company's results of operations and
financial condition.

Many of the general risks and uncertainties the gamy faces could also have an adverse impact éteitl segment. Also, many factors
unique to retail operations present risks and uatgies, some of which are beyond the Companyitreh that could adversely affect the
Retail segment's future results, cause its actsallis to differ from those currently expected,/antiave an adverse effect on the Company's
consolidated results of operations. Potential réakd uncertainties unique to retail operations toatd have an adverse impact on the Retail
segment include, among other things, macro-econtantors that have a negative impact on generail lattivity; inability to manage costs
associated with store construction and operatewk bf consumer acceptance of the Company's ggipiloach; failure to attract new users to
the Macintosh platform; inability to sell third-pthardware and software products at adequate marfgilure to manage relationships with
existing retail channel partners; lack of experéenc
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in managing retail operations outside the U.S.tcassociated with unanticipated fluctuations avhlue of Apple-branded and third-party
retail inventory; and inability to obtain qualitgtail locations at reasonable cost.

Investment in new business strategies and inigattould disrupt the Company's ongoing businessvadpresent risks not original
contemplated.

The Company may decide to invest in new busineategiies or engage in acquisitions that complertenCompany's strategic direction and
product roadmap. Such endeavors may involve s@ifirisks and uncertainties, including distractdmanagement’s attention away from
normal business operations; insufficient revenueeggtion to offset liabilities assumed and expemasssciated with the strategy; and
unidentified issues not discovered in the Compathyé&sdiligence process. Because these new verargésherently risky, no assurance can be
given that such strategies and initiatives willsiecessful and will not materially adversely affdnet Company's business, operating results or
financial condition.

Declines in the sales of the Company's professipraducts or increases in sales of consumer praguctluding iPods, may negatively imp
the Company's gross margin and operating margirc@etages

Unit sales of the Company's professional produetduding Power Macintosh and PowerBook systemsegaly have higher gross margins
than the Company's consumer products, includinggyliooks, iPods, and content from the iTunes ®&ore. A shift in sales mix away
from higher margin professional products towardsdomargin consumer products could adversely affecCompany's future gross margin
and operating margin percentages. The Compangiiorzal professional customers may choose to lmnsemer products, specifically the
iMac G5 and iBook, instead of professional produetefessional users may choose to buy the iMad&3to its relative price performance,
use of the same PowerPC G5 processor used in tp&ty's Power Macs, and unique design featuringt @dnel screen. Potential
PowerBook customers may also choose to purchaskéBastead due to their price performance andescseze. Additionally, significant
future growth in iPod sales without correspondingygh in higher margin product sales could alsaioedgross margin and operating margin
percentages.

The Company believes that weak economic conditimes the past several years are having a pronoumegative impact on its professional
and creative customers who are significant useits girofessional systems. Also, it is likely tma&ny of the Company's current and potential
professional, creative, and small business custameéro are most likely to utilize professional gyss, believe that the relatively slower MHz
rating or clock speed of the microprocessors the@amy utilizes in its Macintosh systems compardavorably to those utilized by other
computer manufacturers and translates to slowarbtwystem performance. These factors may reswhiadverse impact to sales of the
Company's professional products as well as to grasgin and operating margin percentages.

The Company expects its quarterly revenue and ¢ipgreesults to fluctuate for a variety of reasons.

The Company's profit margins vary among its proglaetd its distribution channels. The Company'sctisales, primarily through its retail and
online stores, generally have higher associatefitaidity than its indirect sales. Additionallyhé Company's direct channels have traditionally
had more sales of software and higher priced harmaducts, which generally have higher gross marghan through its indirect channels.
As a result, the Company's gross margin and operatargin percentages as well as overall profitghitay be adversely impacted as a result
of a shift in product, geographic or channel mixatidition, the Company generally sells more presldaring the third month of each quarter
than it does during either of the first two montagattern typical in the personal computer ingusthis sales pattern can produce pressure on
the Company's internal infrastructure during thedtimonth of a quarter and may adversely impacQbmpany's ability to predict its financial
results accurately. Developments late in a quasterh as lower-than-anticipated demand for the Gmylp products, an internal systems
failure, or failure of one of the Company's keyistigs, components suppliers, or manufacturingneast, can have significant adverse impacts
on the Company and its results of operations amahfiial condition.
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The Company has higher research and developmenselhidg, general and administrative costs, as eceptage of revenue, than many of its
competitors.

The Company's ability to compete successfully aathtain attractive gross margins and revenue grasvtteavily dependent upon its ability
ensure a continuing and timely flow of innovativelacompetitive products and technologies to theketptace. As a result, the Company
incurs higher research and development costs ascanqtage of revenue than its competitors whopgeional computers based on other
operating systems. Many of these competitors seekimpete aggressively on price and maintain v@sydost structures. Further, as a resu
the expansion of the Company's Retail segment asi$ @ssociated with marketing the Company's birestdding its unique operating system,
the Company incurs higher selling costs as a p&gerof revenue than many of its competitors.éf@ompany is unable to continue to
develop and sell innovative new products with attv@ gross margins, its results of operations tmaynaterially adversely affected by its
operating cost structure.

The Company is exposed to credit risk on its actsorgteivables. This risk is heightened during gésiwhen economic conditions worsen.

The Company distributes its products through tipadty computer resellers and retailers and dirgotlyertain educational institutions and
commercial customers. A substantial majority of @@npany's outstanding trade receivables are n@red by collateral or credit insurance.
The Company also has unsecured trade receivables from certain of its manufactusiegdors resulting from the sale by the Companmaw
material components to these manufacturing vendbsmanufacture sub-assemblies or assemble findugts for the Company. While the
Company has procedures in place to monitor and érposure to credit risk on its trade and nonédnagteivables, there can be no assurance
that such procedures will be effective in limitiitg credit risk and avoiding losses. Additionalfythe global economy and regional economies
fail to improve or continue to deteriorate, it bews more likely that the Company will incur a metilioss or losses as a result of the
weakening financial condition of one or more ofdtstomers or manufacturing vendors.

The Company's success depends largely on itsyatuléttract and retain key personnel.

Much of the future success of the Company dependbecontinued service and availability of skillggtsonnel, including its Chief Executive
Officer, members of its executive team, and thagechnical, marketing and staff positions. Experéd personnel in the information
technology industry are in high demand and comipatior their talents is intense, especially in 8ikcon Valley, where the majority of the
Company's key employees are located. The Compageliad on its ability to grant stock options ag eanechanism for recruiting and
retaining this highly skilled talent. Potential aoating regulations requiring the expensing of ktogtions may impair the Company's future
ability to provide these incentives without incagisignificant compensation costs. There can bassarance that the Company will contint
successfully attract and retain key personnel.

The Company is subject to risks associated witlatladability and cost of insurance.

The Company has observed rapidly changing conditiothe insurance markets relating to nearlyralaa of traditional commercial insurance.
Such conditions have and may continue to resuitgher premium costs, higher policy deductiblesdocoverage limits and may also yield
possible policy form exclusions. For some riskgduse of cost and/or availability, the Company dasshave insurance coverage. Becaus
Company retains some portion of its insurable rigksl in some cases self insures completely, usdereor catastrophic losses in excess of
insured limits may have a material adverse effedhe Company's results of operations and finampaaition.

Failure of information technology systems and bresscin the security of data upon which the Compahgs could adversely affect t
Company's future operating results.

Information technology system failures and breadietata security could disrupt the Company's ghbib function in the normal course of
business by potentially causing delays or canéetiaif customer
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orders, impeding the manufacture or shipment oflpets, or resulting in the unintentional disclosofeustomer or Company information.
Management has taken steps to address these ceifigeits own systems by implementing sophisticatetivork security and internal control
measures. However, there can be no assurancesstesn failure or data security breach of the Camgpor a third-party vendor will not have
a material adverse effect on the Company's restittperations.

The Company's business is subject to the riskgt@friational operations.

A large portion of the Company's revenue is derifreth its international operations. As a resule @ompany's operating results and financial
condition could be significantly affected by riskssociated with international activities, includegpnomic and labor conditions, political
instability, tax laws (including U.S. taxes on figne subsidiaries), and changes in the value of & dollar versus the local currency in which
the products are sold and goods and services atbgaed. The Company's primary exposure to movenefidreign currency exchange rates
relate to non-dollar denominated sales in Euroggad, Australia, Canada, and certain parts of &sthnon-dollar denominated operating
expenses incurred throughout the world. Weaknésdeseign currencies, particularly the Japanese dfed the Euro, can adversely impact
consumer demand for the Company's products and.®edollar value of the Company's foreign curredepominated sales. Conversely,
strengthening in these and other foreign currerza@sincrease the cost to the Company of produnoponents, negatively affecting the
Company's results of operations.

Margins on sales of the Company's products in §oreopuntries, and on sales of products that incbaeponents obtained from foreign
suppliers, can be adversely affected by foreigmetuay exchange rate fluctuations and by internatitnade regulations, including tariffs and
antidumping penalties.

Derivative instruments, such as foreign exchangedod and option positions have been utilized ly@ompany to hedge exposures to
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates Tike of such hedging activities may not offsetertban a portion of the adverse financial
impact resulting from unfavorable movements in iigneexchange rates.

Further information related to the Company's glabalket risks may be found in Part Il, Item 7A listForm 10-K under the subheading
"Foreign Currency Risk" and may be found in Parttdm 8 of this Form 10-K at Notes 1 and 2 of Maie Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company is subject to risks associated witir@mwental regulations.

Production and marketing of products in certaitestand countries may subject the Company to emviemtal and other regulations including,
in some instances, the requirement to provide custs the ability to return product at the end stiseful life, and place responsibility for
environmentally safe disposal or recycling with @@mpany. Such laws and regulations have recerty ipassed in several jurisdictions in
which the Company operates, including various EeampUnion member countries, Japan and certairsstatiin the U.S. In the future, these
laws could have a material adverse affect on thegzmy.

Changes in accounting rules could adversely atfeetCompany's future operating results.

Financial statements are prepared in accordantelh&. generally accepted accounting principlegs€hprinciples are subject to interpreta
by various governing bodies, including the FASB #mal Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC),imtlegpret and create appropriate
accounting regulations. A change from current anting regulations, including accounting for stocsbd compensation, could have a
significant effect on the Company's results of aiens and could impact the manner in which the @amy conducts business.
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Unanticipated changes in the Company's tax ratesdcaffect its future results.

The Company's future effective tax rates couldaweifably or unfavorably affected by unanticipatedrges in the mix of earnings in count
with differing statutory tax rates, changes inviaduation of the Company's deferred tax assetdiabitities, or by changes in tax laws or their
interpretation. In addition, the Company is subjedhe continuous examination of its income teunmes by the Internal Revenue Service and
other tax authorities. The Company regularly assette likelihood of adverse outcomes resultinghftoese examinations to determine the
adequacy of its provision for income taxes. Thene loe no assurance that the outcomes from thesiewous examinations will not have an
adverse effect on the Company's operating resottdinancial condition.

The Company's stock price may be volatile.

The Company's stock has at times experienced suiladtarice volatility as a result of variationstiveen its actual and anticipated financial
results and as a result of announcements by thep@ayrand its competitors. The stock market hasréequeed extreme price and volume
fluctuations that have affected the market pricenahy technology companies in ways that have beeslated to the operating performance of
these companies. These factors, including laclositpe performance in the Company's stock prisayell as general economic and political
conditions and investors' concerns regarding thdibility of corporate financial reporting and igtéy of financial markets, may materially
adversely affect the market price of the Compastgsk in the future. In addition, increases in@wmpany's stock price may result in greater
dilution of earnings per share.
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Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk
Interest Rate and Foreign Currency Risk Manager

The Company regularly reviews its foreign exchafugeard and option positions and its interest satap and option positions, both on a
stand-alone basis and in conjunction with its ulyileg foreign currency and interest rate relatedasures. However, given the effective
horizons of the Company's risk management acts/died the anticipatory nature of the exposuresett@n be no assurance the hedges will
offset more than a portion of the financial impaegulting from movements in either foreign exchaagmterest rates. In addition, the timing
the accounting for recognition of gains and losseésed to mark-to-market instruments for any giperiod may not coincide with the timing
of gains and losses related to the underlying emdnexposures and, therefore, may adversely affiec€ompany's operating results and
financial position.

Interest Rate Ris

While the Company is exposed to interest rate diations in many of the world's leading industriatizountries, the Company's interest
income and expense is most sensitive to fluctuationhe general level of U.S. interest rateshla tegard, changes in U.S. interest rates affect
the interest earned on the Company's cash, ca$heé&nts, and shoiterm investments as well as costs associated widigh currency hedge

The Company's short-term investment policy andesfais to ensure the preservation of capital, Higeidity requirements, and optimize
return in light of current credit and interest raends. The Company benchmarks its performanagiliging external money managers to
manage a small portion of the aggregate investmenfolio. The external managers adhere to the Gy investment policies and also
provide occasional research and market informatiahsupplements internal research used to maki decisions in the investment process.

The Company's exposure to market risk for changé@serest rates relates primarily to the Compaimysstment portfolio. The Company
places its short-term investments in highly ligaéturities issued by high credit quality issuerd, &y policy, limits the amount of credit
exposure to any one issuer. The Company's genaliey s to limit the risk of principal loss and gure the safety of invested funds by limiting
market and credit risk. All highly liquid investmisrwith maturities of three months or less aredifeesl as cash equivalents; highly liquid
investments with maturities greater than three tmoate classified as short-term investments. ABeptember 25, 2004, approximately

$180 million of the Company's short-term investrsemdd underlying maturities ranging from 1 to 5rgeés of September 27, 2003,

$629 million of the Company's investment portfallassified as shoterm investments had maturities ranging from 1 y@&rs. The remaind
all had underlying maturities between 3 and 12 imenthe Company may sell its investments prioh&rtstated maturities, due to liquidity
needs, in anticipation of credit deteriorationfarduration management. As a result of such agtithe Company recognized net gains of

$1 million in 2004, $21 million in 2003, and $7 fith in 2002.

In order to provide a meaningful assessment oirttegest rate risk associated with the Companysstment portfolio, the Company perforr

a sensitivity analysis to determine the impact ¢hahange in interest rates would have on the \@fitiee investment portfolio assuming a 100
basis point parallel shift in the yield curve. Basa investment positions as of September 25, 2008 pothetical 100 basis point increase in
interest rates across all maturities would resuét $14.4 million decline in the fair market vahfethe portfolio. As of September 27, 2003, a
similar 100 basis point shift in the yield curvewahave resulted in a $12.9 million decline irr fealue. Such losses would only be realized if
the Company sold the investments prior to matuBiycept in instances noted above, the Companyisypiglto hold investments to maturity.

From time to time, the Company has entered interast rate derivative transactions with finanaiatitutions in order to better match the
Company's floating-rate interest income on its caghivalents
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and short-term investments with its fixed-rate iegt expense on its debt, and/or to diversify sigoiof the Company's exposure away from
fluctuations in short-term U.S. interest rates. TQuenpany did not enter into any interest rate dees during 2004 or 2003 and had no open
interest rate derivatives at September 25, 2004.

In prior years, the Company had entered into istai@e debt swaps with financial institutions. Titerest rate debt swaps required the
Company to pay a floating interest rate based eriftttee- or six-month U.S. dollar LIBOR and recevixed rate of interest without
exchanges of the underlying notional amounts. Thesps effectively converted the Company's fixdd-fi#-year debt to floating-rate debt.
Due to prevailing market interest rates, during280d 2002 the Company entered into and then suba#y closed out interest rate debt s\
positions realizing gains of $23 million. The gaimere deferred, recognized in long-term debt ancwaenortized to other income and expense
over the remaining life of the debt.

Foreign Currency Ris

In general, the Company is a net receiver of caigsnother than the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, chesigh exchange rates, and in particular a
strengthening of the U.S. dollar, may negativefeafthe Company's net sales and gross margingpasssed in U.S. dollars. There is also a
risk that the Company will have to adjust localrency product pricing due to competitive pressuvken there has been significant volatility
in foreign currency exchange rates.

The Company may enter into foreign currency forwemd option contracts with financial institutiomsprotect against foreign exchange risks
associated with existing assets and liabilitiestaie firmly committed transactions, forecastedifetcash flows, and net investments in foreign
subsidiaries. Generally, the Company's practite feedge a majority of its existing material foreigxchange transaction exposures. However,
the Company may not hedge certain foreign exchénagsaction exposures due to immateriality, praividieconomic cost of hedging
particular exposures, and limited availability ppaopriate hedging instruments.

In order to provide a meaningful assessment ofdhegn currency risk associated with certain & @ompany's foreign currency derivative
positions, the Company performed a sensitivity ysialusing a value-at-risk (VAR) model to assesspibtential impact of fluctuations in
exchange rates. The VAR model consisted of usikigate Carlo simulation to generate 3000 random etgukice paths. The VAR is the
maximum expected loss in fair value, for a givenfmence interval, to the Company's foreign excleapgrtfolio due to adverse movements in
rates. The VAR model is not intended to represetutad losses but is used as a risk estimation aarthgement tool. The model assumes
normal market conditions. Forecasted transactiiimms,commitments, and assets and liabilities demat&d in foreign currencies were
excluded from the model. Based on the resultsefibdel, the Company estimates with 95% confidenceximum one-day loss in fair value
of $3.2 million as of September 25, 2004 compaoea maximum one-day loss of $#bllion as of September 27, 2003. Because the Coy
uses foreign currency instruments for hedging psepplosses incurred on those instruments areapneffset by increases in the fair value
the underlying exposures.

Actual gains and losses in the future associatéiul tve Company's investment portfolio and derivawsitions may differ materially from the
sensitivity analyses performed as of Septembe2@84 due to the inherent limitations associateti pitdicting the changes in the timing and
amount of interest rates, foreign currency exchamgtes, and the Company's actual exposures aittbpss
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements Page

Financial Statement
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Consolidated Statements of Operations for the tfiseal years ended September 25, 2 61
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equitthiothree fiscal years ended September 25, 62
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All financial statement schedules have been omitgate the required information is not applicatniés not present in amounts sufficient to
require submission of the schedule, or becausitbiemation required is included in the ConsolidaEénancial Statements and Notes thereto.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions, except share amounts)

September 25, 2004

September 27, 2003

ASSETS:
Current assett

Cash and cash equivalel $ 2,96¢ % 3,39¢
Shor-term investment 2,49¢ 1,17¢C
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $47 and $pectively 774 76¢€
Inventories 101 56
Deferred tax asse 231 19C
Other current asse 48t 30¢

Total current asse 7,05t 5,88
Property, plant, and equipment, | 707 66¢
Goodwill 80 85
Acquired intangible asse 17 24
Other asset 191 15C

Total asset $ 8,05( $ 6,81¢

Current liabilities:

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:

Accounts payabl $ 1451 $ 1,15¢
Accrued expense 1,22¢ 89¢
Current deb — 304
Total current liabilities 2,68( 2,35
Deferred tax liabilities and other n-current liabilities 294 23t
Total liabilities 2,97¢ 2,592
Commitments and contingenci
Shareholders' equit'
Common stock, no par value; 900,000,000 share®emn¢; 391,443,617 ar
366,726,584 shares issued and outstanding, resplgc 2,51¢ 1,92¢
Deferred stock compensati (93 (62
Retained earning 2,67( 2,394
Accumulated other comprehensive income (i (15) (35)
Total shareholders' equi 5,07¢ 4,22
Total liabilities and shareholders' equ $ 8,05( % 6,81¢t

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In millions, except share and per share amounts)

Three fiscal years ended September 25, 2004 2004 2003 2002
Net sales $ 8,27¢ $ 6,207 $ 5,742
Cost of sale: 6,02( 4,49¢ 4,13¢
Gross margit 2,25¢ 1,70¢ 1,60:
Operating expense
Research and developm 48¢ 471 44¢€
Selling, general, and administrati 1,421 1,212 1,10¢
Restructuring cosl 23 26 30
Purchased -process research and developn — — 1
Total operating expens 1,93: 1,70¢ 1,58¢
Operating income (los: 32¢ D 17
Other income and expens
Gains (losses) on n-current investments, n 4 10 (42
Interest and other income, r 53 83 112
Total other income and exper 57 93 70
Income before provision for income ta» 383 92 87
Provision for income taxe 107 24 22
Income before accounting chang 27¢€ 68 65
Cumulative effects of accounting changes, net cbine taxe: — 1 —
Net income $ 27€¢ % 69 $ 65
I I |
Earnings per common share before accounting cha
Basic $ 0.7¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢
Diluted $ 071 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢
Earnings per common sha
Basic $ 074 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢
Diluted $ 071 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢€
Shares used in computing earnings per share (us#muls)
Basic 371,59( 360,63: 355,02:
Diluted 387,31: 363,46t 361,78!

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(In millions, except share amounts which are in thasands)

Common Stock Accumulated
Other Total
Deferred Stock Retained Comprehensive Shareholders'
Shares Amount Compensation Earnings Income (Loss) Equity
Balances as of September 29, 2 350,92! $ 1,69 $ 11 % 2,26( $ 22 $ 3,92(
Components of comprehensive incor
Net income — — — 65 — 65
Change in foreign currency translati — — — — 5 5
Change in unrealized gain on
availablefor-sale securities, net of ti — — — — a7) (Y
Change in unrealized gain on
derivative investments, net of t — — — — (15) (15)
Total comprehensive incon 38
Amortization of deferred stock
compensatiol — — 4 — — 4
Common stock issued under stock pl 8,03 10t — — — 10t
Tax benefit related to stock optio — 28 — — — 28
Balances as of September 28, 2| 358,95¢ $  1,82¢ $ s 2,32t $ (49 $ 4,09t
Components of comprehensive incor
Net income — — — 69 — 69
Change in foreign currency translati — — — — 31 31
Change in unrealized gain on
availablefor-sale securities, net of ti — — — — (12 12
Change in unrealized gain
derivative investments, net of t — — — — 5) 5)
Total comprehensive incon 83
Amortization of deferred stoc
compensatiol — — 15 — — 15
Write-off of deferred stock compensati — — 5 — — 5
Common stock issued under stock pl 9,29¢ 12¢ (75) — — 53
Settlement of forward purchase
agreemen (1,53)) (35) — — — (35)
Tax benefit related to stock optio — 7 — — — 7
Balances as of September 27, 2| 366,72° $  1,92¢ $ (62 $ 2,392 $ (35 % 4,22
Components of comprehensive incor
Net income — — — 27¢ — 27¢
Change in foreign currency translati — — — — 13 13
Change in unrealized gain |
availablefor-sale securities, net of ti — — — — (5) (5)
Change in unrealized loss
derivative investments, net of t — — — — 12 12
Total comprehensive incon 29¢€
Issuance of restricted stock ur — 64 (64) — — —
Adjustment to common stock related t
prior year acquisitiol (79 2 — — — 2
Amortization of deferred stoc
compensatiol — — 33 — — 33
Common stock issued under stock pl 24,79¢ 427 — — — 427
Tax benefit related to stock optio — 99 — — — 99
Balances as of September 25, 2| 391,44: $ 251¢ % 93 % 2,67C $ 15 $ 5,07¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@ssients.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions)
Three fiscal years ended September 25, 2004 2004 2003 2002
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the $ 3,39¢ $ 225; $ 2,31(
Operating Activities
Net income 27¢ 69 65
Cumulative effects of accounting changes, netxdg — D —
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash geadray operating activitie:
Depreciation, amortization and accret 15C 11z 114
Stocl-based compensation expel 33 16 5
Non-cash restructurin 5 12 8
Provision for (benefit from) deferred income ta 20 (11) (39
Loss on disposition of property, plant, and equipt 7 2 7
Gains on sales of sh-term investments, ni (D) (22) @)
(Gains) losses on n-current investments, n 4 (10 42
Gain on forward purchase agreem — (6) —
Purchased -process research and developn — — 1
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Accounts receivabl (8) (207) (99
Inventories (45) (12) (34)
Other current asse (17¢) (34) (1149
Other asset (39) (30) (1)
Accounts payabl 297 243 11C
Other liabilities 41¢ 15¢ 36
Cash generated by operating activi 934 28¢ 89
Investing Activities:
Purchases of shiterm investment (3,270 (2,64 (4,144
Proceeds from maturities of sk-term investment 1,141 2,44¢ 2,84¢
Proceeds from sales of st-term investment 801 1,11¢ 1,25¢
Proceeds from sales of r-current investment 5 45 25
Purchases of property, plant, and equipn (17€) (164) (174)
Cash used for business acquisiti — — (52
Other 11 33 (7)
Cash generated by (used for) investing activ (1,48¢) 82¢ (252)
Financing Activities:
Payment of lon-term debi (300) — —
Proceeds from issuance of common si 427 53 10t
Cash used for repurchase of common s — (26) —
Cash generated by financing activit 127 27 10t
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivs (427) 1,144 (59)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the $ 2,96¢ % 3,39 $ 2,252
.| .| .|
Supplemental cash flow disclosur
Cash paid during the year for inter $ 1c % 20 $ 20
Cash paid (received) for income taxes, $ 7 % 45 % 11

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@sstents.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Apple Computer, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Compaegjgns, manufactures and markets personal comsparnd related software, services,
peripherals and networking solutions. The Compasy designs, develops and markets a line of patdigiital music players along with

related accessories and services including theeulistribution of third-party music and audio bsokhe Company sells its products
worldwide through its online stores, its own retddres, its direct sales force and third-party lebalers, resellers and value added resellers. In
addition to its own hardware, software and periphproducts, the Company sells a variety of thiattp hardware and software products
through its online and retail stores. The Compaails $0 education, consumer, creative professidnadiness and government customers.

Basis of Presentation and Preparation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiastade the accounts of the Company. Intercompaagants and transactions have been
eliminated. The preparation of these consolidaiteahtial statements in conformity with U.S. genlgratcepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfibattthe amounts reported in these consolidateghftial statements and accompanying
notes. Actual results could differ materially frahose estimates. Certain prior year amounts ic¢imsolidated financial statements and notes
thereto have been reclassified to conform to thieeatiyear presentation.

Typically, the Company's fiscal year ends on tis¢ &aturday of September. Fiscal years 2004, 2002802 were each 52-week years.
However, approximately every six years, the Compapyprts a 53-week fiscal year to align its fisgadrters with calendar quarters by adding
a week to its first fiscal quarter. The Companyextp to add this additional week in its first fisgaarter of 2006. All information presented
herein is based on the Company's fiscal calendar.

Financial Instruments
Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments

All highly liquid investments with maturities oftde months or less at the date of purchase arsif@dalsas cash equivalents. Highly liquid
investments with maturities greater than three im®ate classified as short-term investments. Managedetermines the appropriate
classification of its investments in debt and meakke equity securities at the time of purchaseraedaluates such designation as of each
balance sheet date. The Company's debt and malkeigty securities have been classified and atealfor as available-for-sale. These
securities are carried at fair value, with the afired gains and losses, net of taxes, report@dcamponent of shareholders' equity. The cost of
securities sold is based upon the specific ideatifon method.

Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Bafiabilities and Equity

On May 15, 2003, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (FASB) issued Statement of Financial AccmgnStandards (SFAS) No. 150,
Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments witha&@acteristics of Both Liabilities and Equi. SFAS No. 150 requires issuers to classify as
liabilities (or assets in some circumstances) @eftaestanding financial instruments that emboblgations for the issuer and have
characteristics of both liabilities and equity. T@empany adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 150wre 29, 2003, which resulted in a
favorable cumulative-effect type adjustment of appnately $3 million. This adjustment related tébavard purchase agreement that allowed
the Company to acquire 1.5 million shares of itsown stock at an average price of $16.64 per shaetotal cost of $25.5 million. The
Company settled this forward purchase agreemehugust 2003, which resulted in an additional géin o
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approximately $6 million representing the increisfair value of the agreement from June 29, 2008ugh the settlement date.
Derivative Financial Instrument

The Company accounts for its derivative instrumasteither assets or liabilities and carries thefaiavalue. Derivatives that are not hedges
must be adjusted to fair value through incomehéfderivative is a hedge, depending on the nafuteechedge, changes in fair value will eitl
be offset against the change in fair value of théged assets, liabilities, or firm commitments tigio earnings, or recognized in other
comprehensive income until the hedged item is neizegl in earnings.

For derivative instruments that hedge the expotuvariability in expected future cash flows theg designated as cash flow hedges, the net
gain or loss on the derivative instrument is regabids a component of other comprehensive incoraleareholders' equity and reclassified into
earnings in the same period or periods during wttiehhedged transaction affects earnings. To redsddge accounting treatment, cash flow
hedges must be highly effective in achieving offegtchanges to expected future cash flows on hittlgasactions. For derivative instruments
that hedge the exposure to changes in the faiewaflan asset or a liability and that are desighatefair value hedges, the net gain or loss on
the derivative instrument as well as the offsetgiagn or loss on the hedged item attributable ¢éohtdged risk are recognized in earnings in the
current period. The net gain or loss on the effectiortion of a derivative instrument that is desitgd as an economic hedge of the foreign
currency translation exposure of the net investrireatforeign operation is reported in the samemeaias a foreign currency translation
adjustment. For forward contracts designated agmuestment hedges, the Company excludes chandas iralue relating to changes in the
forward carry component from its definition of effveness. Accordingly, any gains or losses rel&tettlis component are recognized in
current earnings. For derivative instruments naigleated as hedging instruments, changes in fhieware recognized in earnings in the
current period.

In accordance with SFAS No. 133, hedges relatguidbable but not firmly committed transactions ofeaticipatory nature are designated and
documented at hedge inception as cash flow hedgks\aluated for hedge effectiveness quarterly fér@ign currency forward contracts
designated as cash flow hedges, hedge effectivésessasured based on changes in the fair valtreeafontract attributable to changes in the
forward exchange rate. Changes in the expectedsfeash flows on the forecasted hedged transaatidrchanges in the fair value of the
forward hedge are both measured from the contaetto the forward exchange rate associated watlicitward contract's maturity date. For
currency option contracts, hedge effectivenesssessed by comparing the present value of the ativeichange in expected future cash fl
on the hedged transaction to changes in expecstflcav of the option hedge at maturity. The nehg®r losses on derivative instruments
qualifying as cash flow hedges are reported as oomts of other comprehensive income in shareh®ldquity and reclassified into earnings
in the same period or periods during which the leddgansaction affects earnings. Any hedge ingffecess is recognized in current earnings
in other income and expense. For interest rate agegements qualifying as fair value hedges, thegamy assumes no ineffectiveness
because these swaps meet the criteria for accgumtider the short-cut method.

The Company may enter into foreign currency forwardtracts to hedge the translation and econongosxe of a net investment position in
a foreign subsidiary. For such contracts, hedgecéffeness is measured based on changes in thalaé of the contract attributable to
changes in the spot exchange rate. The effectiktéopmf the net gain or loss on a derivative instent designated as a hedge of the net
investment position in a foreign subsidiary is né@0d in the same manner as a foreign currency
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translation adjustment. Any residual changes inviaiue of the forward contract, including changefair value based on the differential
between the spot and forward exchange rates, eogmezed in current earnings in other income argkage.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (finstirst-out) or market. If the cost of the inveries exceeds their market value, provisions are
made currently for the difference between the aastthe market value.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at Begireciation is computed by use of the straigte-fimethod over the estimated useful lives of
the assets, which are 30 years for buildings, feaim 5 years for equipment, and the shorter ofde¢asms or 10 years for leasehold
improvements. The Company capitalizes eligibleststicquire or develop internase software that are incurred subsequent to #ienary
project stage. Capitalized costs related to inteusa software are amortized using the straligi#-method over the estimated useful lives of
assets, which range from 3 to 5 years.

Asset Retirement Obligations

On September 29, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS480Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligationehich addresses financial
accounting and reporting for obligations associatéh the retirement of tangible long-lived assatsl the associated asset retirement costs.
The standard applies to legal obligations assatiaith the retirement of long-lived assets thattesom the acquisition, construction,
development and/or normal use of the assets. SFAIAB requires that the fair value of a liabifily an asset retirement obligation be
recognized in the period in which it is incurrediifeasonable estimate of fair value can be mauefdir value of the liability is added to the
carrying amount of the associated asset and thiisi@ukal carrying amount is depreciated over tfee dif the asset. All of the Company's
existing asset retirement obligations are assatiatth commitments to return property subject terping leases to original condition upon
lease termination. The Company estimated that &epfember 29, 2002, gross expected future caas 6 $9.5 million would be required to
fulfill these obligations.

As of the date of adoption, the Company record®6 million long-term asset retirement liability aadorresponding increase in leasehold
improvements. This amount represents the preséum wh expected future cash flows associated vethrning certain of the Company's leased
properties to original condition. The differenceavibeen the gross expected future cash flow of $9lliomand its present value of $6 million at
September 29, 2002, is being accreted over theflifiee related leases as an operating expenseafiitet related income tax effect of
approximately $1 million, adoption of SFAS No. 1#3ulted in an unfavorable cumulative-effect tydpistment to net income during the first
quarter of 2003 of approximately $2 million. Thifjastment represents cumulative depreciation ancetion that would have been recognized
through the date of adoption of SFAS No. 143 hadstatement been applied to the Company's exiatingt retirement obligations at the time
they were initially incurred.
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The following table reconciles changes in the Comyfsaasset retirement liabilities for fiscal 200812004 (in millions):

Asset retirement liability as of September 29, 2 $ 5.E
Additional asset retirement obligations recogni 0.t
Accretion recognize

Asset retirement liability as of September 27, 2 $ 7.2
Additional asset retirement obligations recogni 0.t
Accretion recognize 0.t

Asset retirement liability as of September 25, 2 $ 8.2

]

Long-Lived Assets Including Goodwill and Other Acqured Intangible Assets

The Company reviews property, plant, and equipraadtcertain identifiable intangibles, excluding daill, for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate the carryingLent of an asset may not be recoverable. Recailigrath these assets is measured by
comparison of its carrying amount to future undisded cash flows the assets are expected to gen#rptoperty, plant, and equipment and
certain identifiable intangibles are consideretédmpaired, the impairment to be recognized egh&lsmount by which the carrying value of
the assets exceeds its fair market value. Fohttee tyears ended September 25, 2004, Septemb20@3, and September 28, 2002 the
Company had no material impairment of its long-diessets, except for the impairment of certaintasseconnection with the restructuring
actions described in Note 5.

The Company adopted SFAS No. 1&odwill and Other Intangible Asset the first quarter of fiscal 2002. SFAS No. T48uires that
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite uddifves no longer be amortized, but instead betefor impairment at least annually or so«
whenever events or changes in circumstances imdibat they may be impaired. Prior to fiscal 20§d)dwill was amortized using the straight-
line method over its estimated useful life. The @amy completed its transitional goodwill impairmésst as of October 1, 2001, and its an
goodwill impairment tests on August 30 of each yteareafter and found no impairment. The Compatgbéished reporting units based on its
current reporting structure. For purposes of tgsioodwill for impairment, goodwill has been alltedto these reporting units to the extent it
relates to each reporting unit.

SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible assetsdefinite lives be amortized over their estinthtseful lives and reviewed for impairment
in accordance with SFAS No. 144¢counting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assetd for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Tie
Company is currently amortizing its acquired intlteyassets with definite lives over periods ragdimm 3 to 10 years.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company translates the assets and liabilifi#s mternational non-U.S. functional currencybsidiaries into U.S. dollars using exchange
rates in effect at the end of each period. Revamaeexpenses for these subsidiaries are translabed rates that approximate those in effect
during the period. Gains and losses from theselatiaons are credited or charged to foreign curydéranslation included in "accumulated ot
comprehensive income (loss)" in shareholders' ggliite Company's foreign manufacturing subsidiaai®ed certain other international
subsidiaries that use the U.S. dollar as theirtfanal currency remeasure monetary assets anditiedat exchange rates in effect at the end of
each period, and inventories, property, and nontaoyassets and liabilities at historical ratesinGand
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losses from these translations were insignificawlt lzave been included in the Company's resultpefations.
Revenue Recognition

Net sales consist primarily of revenue from the sdlproducts (hardware, software, and peripheratg) extended warranty and supy
contracts. The Company recognizes revenue pursoiapplicable accounting standards, including $tata of Position (SOP) No. 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognitioss amended, and Securities and Exchange Comm{&itC) Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 104,
Revenue Recognitic.

The Company recognizes revenue when persuasiveregdf an arrangement exists, delivery has oatutine sales price is fixed or
determinable, and collection is probable. Prodsicoinsidered delivered to the customer once ibkas shipped and title and risk of loss have
been transferred. For most of the Company's praghles, these criteria are met at the time theyatad shipped. For online sales to
individuals, for some sales to education custoriretise U.S., and for certain other sales, the Comukefers revenue until the customer
receives the product because the Company legadineea portion of the risk of loss on these sdleing transit. If at the outset of an
arrangement the Company determines the arrangdeeeist not, or is presumed to not be, fixed or eieable, revenue is deferred and
subsequently recognized as amounts become dueagatlp.

Revenue from extended warranty and support costiacteferred and recognized ratably over the wisyrrand support periods. These
contracts typically include extended phone suppertain repairs, web-based support resourcesno&ig tools, and extend the Company's
one-year basic limited parts and labor warranty.

The Company sells software and peripheral proculatzined from other companies. The Company estadigs own pricing and retains
related inventory risk, is the primary obligor mles transactions with its customers, and assumeesrédit risk for amounts billed to its
customers. Accordingly, the Company recognizesmagdor the sale of products obtained from othenganies at the gross amount billed.

Revenue on arrangements that include multiple eiésr®ich as hardware, software, and servicesoisaatid to each element based on the
relative fair value of each element, which is geiltgrdetermined by vendor specific objective evicei(VSOE). Allocated revenue for each
element is recognized when revenue recognitiorrigihave been met for each element. VSOE is d@tethbased on the price charged when
each element is sold separately.

The Company records reductions to revenue for estidhcommitments related to price protection amddstomer incentive programs,
including reseller and end user rebates, and s#iles programs and volume-based incentives. Theatet cost of these programs is accrued
as a reduction to revenue in the period the Compasysold the product and committed to a plan.Jémpany also records reductions to
revenue for expected future product returns baseti®@ Company's historical experience.

Generally, the Company does not offer specifiedr@pecified upgrade rights to its customers in eation with software sales or the sale of
extended warranty and support contracts. Howevimiged number of the Company's software prodacésavailable with maintenance
agreements that grant customers rights to unspddiiiture upgrades over the maintenance term omes&nd if available basis. Revenue
associated with such maintenance is recognizetllyabaer the maintenance term.
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Shipping Costs

The Company's shipping and handling costs arediedlun cost of sales for all periods presented.

Warranty Expense

The Company provides currently for the estimatest éar product warranties at the time the reladnue is recognized.
Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed asthddevelopment costs of computer software teddé, leased or otherwise marketed are
subject to capitalization beginning when a produetthnological feasibility has been establishatlearding when a product is available for
general release to customers pursuant to SFAS &y@d@nputer Software to be Sold, Leased, or OtherMiseketed. In most instances, the
Company's products are released soon after tedafinaldeasibility has been established. Therefoosts incurred subsequent to achievement
of technological feasibility are usually not sigo#nt, and generally all software development chate been expensed.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company med substantial development costs associatedthétidevelopment of Mac OS X version
10.4 (code-named "Tiger"), which enhances the featand functionality of the previous version ofdM@S X, subsequent to achievement of
technological feasibility as evidenced by publicamstration in August 2004 and subsequent relelaaeleveloper beta version of the prod
both of which were prior to the planned releastheffinal version of the product in the first haffcalendar year 2005. Therefore, during the
fourth quarter of 2004, the Company capitalizedrepimately $4.5 million of costs associated wittvelepment of Tiger. Amortization of this
asset will begin when Tiger begins shipping and beélrecognized straight-line over a 3 year estaiseful life.

During the second quarter of 2004, the Companyriedusubstantial development costs associatedrilgivaker Pro 7 subsequent to
achievement of technological feasibility as evid=hby public demonstration and release of a deeelbgta version, and prior to the release of
the final version of the product in March 2004. fiéfere, during the second quarter of 2004, the Gomeapitalized approximately

$2.3 million of costs associated with the develophwe FileMaker Pro 7. In accordance with SFAS R®, amortization of this asset began in
March 2004 when FileMaker Pro 7 was shipped ametiisg recognized on a straight-line basis oveyaa estimated useful life.

During the third and fourth quarters of 2003, thenany incurred substantial development costs &dsdowith the development of Mac O¢
version 10.3 (code-named "Panther"), subsequeatthievement of technological feasibility as evidshby public demonstration and release
of a developer beta in June 2003, and prior taesef the final version of the product in thetfgqaarter of 2004. Therefore, during 2003 the
Company capitalized approximately $14.7 milliondefzelopment costs associated with the developnfdpamther. Amortization of this asset
began in the first quarter of 2004 when Panthershdsped and is being recognized on a straightdams in accordance with SFAS No. 86
over a 3 year estimated useful life.

During the third and fourth quarters of 2002, then(any incurred substantial development costs &dsdowith the development of Mac O¢
version 10.2 (code-named "Jaguar") subsequentiiexament of technological feasibility as evidenbgdgublic demonstration and release of
a developer beta in May 2002, and prior to reledidke final version of the product in the fourthiagter of 2002. As such, the Company
capitalized approximately $13.3 million of develogmh costs associated with development of Jaguaorfaation of this asset began in the
fourth quarter of 2002 when Jaguar was
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shipped and is being recognized on a straightHamsas in accordance with SFAS No. 86 over a 3 gstimated useful life. In addition, during
2002, the Company also began capitalizing certastscrelated to development of its new PowerScanwrprise student information system.
Capitalization of approximately $6 million beganompachievement of technological feasibility in firet quarter of 2002. The final version of
the enterprise student information system was sel¢én July 2002.

Total amortization related to capitalized softwdeelopment costs was $10.7 million, $5.8 milliand $1.2 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsiagiexpense was $206 million, $193 million, an6@%#illion for 2004, 2003, and 2002,
respectively.

Restructuring Charges

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. J&;ounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disgddsctivities. SFAS No. 146 supersedes
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. ighility Recognition for Certain Employee Termiioat Benefits and Other Costs To Exit
an Activity (Including Certain Costs AssociatedhatRestructuringand requires that a liability for a cost associatéth an exit or disposal
activity be recognized when the liability is incedlr as opposed to when management commits to aplaxi SFAS No. 146 also establishes
that the liability should initially be measured aredorded at fair value. This Statement was effedbr exit or disposal activities initiated after
December 31, 2002. The provisions of SFAS No. 1dfewequired to be applied prospectively afteratieption date to newly initiated exit
activities.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures compensation expense fonjogee stock-based compensation plans using ttiesit value method prescribed by
Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. Zxcounting for Stock Issued to Employ@ése Company applies the disclosure provisions
of SFAS No. 123Accounting for Stock-based Compensatias amended by SFAS No. 148ccounting for Stock-based Compensation—
Transition and Disclosuras if the fair value-based method had been applietkasuring compensation expense. The Compangldeted to
follow APB Opinion No. 25 because, as discussedvethe alternative fair value accounting providedunder SFAS No. 123 requires use of
option valuation models that were not developedig® in valuing employee stock options and emplayeek purchase plan shares. Under
APB Opinion No. 25, when the exercise price of @mmnpany's employee stock options equals the marlag of the underlying stock on the
date of the grant, no compensation expense is nézed)

As required under SFAS No. 123, the pro forma ¢$fe€ stock-based compensation on net income amihga per common share for
employee stock options granted and employee stodhpse plan share purchases have been estimakexddate of grant and beginning of the
period, respectively, using a Black-Scholes opfidning model. For purposes of pro forma disclosuthke estimated fair value of the options
and shares is amortized to pro forma net inconss)lover the options' vesting period and the shplas period.

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was dgwedbfor use in estimating the fair value of freeeded options that have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. In additioption valuation models require the input oftfiygsubjective assumptions including the
expected life of options and the Company's expestigck price volatility. Because the Company's eygé stock options and employee
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stock purchase plan shares have characteristiesisamtly different from those of freely tradedt@ms, and because changes in the subjective
input assumptions can materially affect the falugaestimate, in management's opinion, the existindels do not provide a reliable measure
of the fair value of the Company's employee stqufioms and employee stock purchase plan shares.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estithfatie value of the options and shares is amorttpgato forma net income (loss) over the
options' vesting period and the shares' plan pefibd Company's pro forma information for eachhef fast three fiscal years follows (in
millions, except per share amounts):

2004 2003 2002
Net incom—as reportes $ 27¢  $ 69 $ 65
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expensgdietlin reportec
net income, net of ta 33 15 5
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expetsained unde
the fair value based method for all awards, netaw (141) (181) (239
Net income (los—pro forma $ 166 $ 97 $ (169

Net income per common sh—as reportes

Basic $ 074 $ 01¢ $ 0.1¢

Diluted $ 071 $ 01¢ $ 0.1¢
Net income (loss) per common st—pro forma

Basic $ 04t $ (0.27) $ (0.4¢

Diluted $ 044 $ (027) $ (0.4¢

Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share is computed byidiyincome available to common shareholders bywighted-average number of shares
of common stock outstanding during the period. @illuearnings per common share is computed by diyiglicome available to common
shareholders by the weighted-average number oésldircommon stock outstanding during the periadeiased to include the number of
additional shares of common stock that would haenloutstanding if the dilutive potential sharesafimon stock had been issued. The
dilutive effect of outstanding options, restricedck and restricted stock units is reflected latdd earnings per share by application of the
treasury stock method. Under the treasury stockoagtan increase in the fair market value of then@any's common stock can result in a
greater dilutive effect from outstanding optiorestricted stock and restricted stock units. Addgilty, the exercise of employee stock options
and the vesting of restricted stock and restristedk units can result in a greater dilutive eff@ttearnings per share.
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The following table sets forth the computation asie and diluted earnings per share:

September 25 September 27 September 28
For the Years Ended 2004 2003 2002
Numerator (in millions)
Income before accounting chang $ 27¢ % 68 $ 65
Cumulative effects of accounting changes, netx — 1 —
Net income $ 27¢ % 69 $ 65

Denominator (in thousands
Weightec-average shares outstanding, excluding unve
restricted stocl
Effect of dilutive options, restricted stock urésd restricted sto
Denominator for diluted earnings per sh

Basic earnings per share before accounting che

Cumulative effects of accounting changes, netx

Basic earnings per share after accounting cha

Diluted earnings per share before accounting che

Cumulative effects of accounting changes, netx

Diluted earnings per share after accounting cha

371,59( 360,63: 355,02
15,72 2,83t 6,76%
387,31: 363,46¢ 361,78!

$ 0.74

$ 0.1¢

$ 0.1¢

$ 0.74

$ 0.71

$ 0.1¢

$ 0.1¢

$ 0.71

$ 0.1¢

Potentially dilutive securities, including stocktimms; restricted stock units; and restricted stéakpurchase approximately 4.4 million,
50.8 million, and 58.0 million shares of commoncktéor the years ended September 25, 2004, Septe2iib@003, and September 28, 2002,
respectively, were excluded from the computatiodibfted earnings per share for these periods Isecteir effect would have been

antidilutive.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of two componentsnoeme and other comprehensive income. Other celngmsive income refers to
revenue, expenses, gains and losses that undeatigreecepted accounting principles are recordedraelement of shareholders' equity but
are excluded from net income. The Company's otbempeehensive income is comprised of foreign curyeranslation adjustments from those
subsidiaries not using the U.S. dollar as theicfiamal currency, unrealized gains and losses aketable securities categorized as available-
for-sale, and net deferred gains and losses oaigeatérivative instruments accounted for as cash fledges.

Segment Information

The Company reports segment information based ®tnlanagement” approach. The management approaigndtes the internal reporting
used by management for making decisions and arggssiformance as the source of the Company'stedgersegments. Information about
the Company's products, major customers, and ggbigrareas on a company-wide basis is also distlose
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Note z—Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalaot®unts receivable, accounts payable, and actiakéities approximate their fair value
due to the short maturities of those instruments.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

The following table summarizes the fair value a&f @ompany's cash and available-for-sale secuhigtssin its short-term investment portfolio,
recorded as cash and cash equivalents or shortiteastments as of September 25, 2004, and Septe2iip2003 (in millions):

September 27,

September 25, 2004 2003
Cash $ 20C $ 15¢
U.S. Treasury and Agency securit 87 87
U.S. corporate securiti¢ 1,79¢ 2,36¢
Foreign securitie 887 78¢
Total cash equivalen 2,76¢ 3,23¢
U.S. Treasury and Agency securit 1,08( 454
U.S. corporate securitit 1,352 623
Foreign securitie 63 93
Total shor-term investment 2,49 1,17(
Total cash, cash equivalents, and s-term investment $ 546/ $ 4,56¢

The Company's short-term investment portfolio cstssof investments in U.S. Treasury and Agencyritgesy U.S. corporate securities, and
foreign securities. The Company's U.S. corporateritges consist primarily of commercial paper tdmates of deposit, time deposits and
corporate debt securities. Foreign securities sppsimarily of foreign commercial paper, certifiea of deposit and time deposits with foreign
institutions, most of which are denominated in W@&llars. The Company had net unrealized lossetirigt$4 million on its investment
portfolio, primarily related to investments wittattd maturities less than 1 year as of Septemhe&(Bl and net unrealized gains of $1 million
on its investment portfolio, primarily related tovestments with stated maturities greater thanat, yas of September 27, 2003. The Company
occasionally sells shoterm investments prior to their stated maturithes a result of such sales, the Company recognizédains before tax

of $1 million in 2004, $21 million in 2003 and $1llon in 2002. These net gains were included irefast and other income, net.

As of September 25, 2004, approximately $180 nmilldd the Company's short-term investments had dyidgrmaturities ranging from 1 to

5 years. The remaining short-term investments &eptember 25, 2004 had maturities of 3 to 12 neomth of September 27, 2003,
approximately $629 million of the Company's sherat investments had underlying maturities rangmgifl to 5 years. The remaining short-
term investments as of September 27, 2003 had iti@sunf 3 to 12 months.

In accordance with EITF 03-The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment Bgd\pplication to Certain Investmentthe following
table shows the gross unrealized losses and faie vd the Company's

73




investments, aggregated by investment categoryemgth of time that individual securities have b@ea continuous unrealized loss position
as of September 25, 2004 (in millions):

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Security Description Value Loss Value Loss Value Loss
U.S. Treasury and Agenci $ 112¢ $ 4% — $ —$ 112¢ 3 4
Corporate bond 134 — 144 (€N} 27¢ (€8]
Certificate of deposit 42C (D) — — 42C (D)
Asset backed securiti 42¢ — — — 42¢ —
Commercial pape 2,407 (1) — — 2,407 2)
Total $ 451 $ 6)3$ 144 $ 1H$ 4651 % ©)

Market values were determined for each individe&lsity in the investment portfolio. The declinas/alue of these investments is primarily
related to changes in interest rates and are cemresido be temporary in nature. Investments aliewad periodically to identify possible
impairment. When evaluating the investments, then@amy reviews factors such as the length of timteeattent to which fair value has been
below cost basis, the financial condition of theeistee, and the Company's ability and intent td tied investment for a period of time which
may be sufficient for anticipated recovery in mankalue.

Accounts Receivable
Trade Receivables

The Company distributes its products through tipiadty resellers and directly to certain educatemmsumer, and commercial customers. The
Company generally does not require collateral fisncustomers. However, when possible the Compaeg dttempt to limit credit risk on
trade receivables with credit insurance for certaistomers in Latin America, Europe and Asia andgnging with third-party financing
companies to provide flooring arrangements andrdtf@n and lease programs to the Company's ditestomers. These credit financing
arrangements are directly between the third-pémgniting company and the end customer. As suchCtmepany generally does not assume
any recourse or credit risk sharing related to@frthese arrangements. However, considerable teaddvables that are not covered by
collateral, third-party flooring arrangements, cedit insurance are outstanding with the Compadtigtsibution and retail channel partners. No
customer accounted for more than 10% of trade vabtgs as of September 25, 2004. Trade receivéiolesa single customer, Ingram

Micro, Inc., accounted for approximately 10.3% ef accounts receivable as of September 27, 2003.

The following table summarizes the activity in eillowance for doubtful accounts (in millions):

2004 2003 2002
Beginning allowance balan $ 49 $ 51 $ 51
Charged to costs and expen 3 4 10
Deductions (a (5) (6) (20
Ending allowance balanc $ 47 $ 49 $ 51

€) Represents amounts written off against the allowanet of recoveries.

74




Vendor Non-Trade Receivables

The Company has non-trade receivables from ceofais manufacturing vendors resulting from theesafl raw material components to these
manufacturing vendors who manufacture sub-assembtiassemble final products for the Company. The@any purchases these raw
material components directly from suppliers. These-trade receivables, which are included in thesobidated balance sheets in other current
assets, totaled $276 million and $184 million aSeptember 25, 2004 and September 27, 2003, resggciThe Company does not recognize
any profits on these sales or reflect the salb@de¢ components in its net sales.

Inventory Prepayment

In April 2002, the Company made a $100 million @gment to an Asian supplier for the purchase ofaments over the following nine
months. In return for this deposit, the suppliereag to supply the Company with a specified lefelamnponents during the three consecutive
fiscal quarters ended December 28, 2002. Durindjitstesix months of 2003, the remaining $53 mitliof the deposit balance was fully utiliz
for the purchase of components. The deposit wasaumed and had no stated interest component. Thg&uy imputed an amount to cost of
sales and interest income during each period thesitewas outstanding at a 3.25% interest ratefteat the economics of this transaction.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses derivatives to partially offsebiisiness exposure to foreign exchange and ihtatesrisk. Foreign currency forward and
option contracts are used to offset the foreigrharge risk on certain existing assets and liaeditind to hedge the foreign exchange risk on
expected future cash flows on certain forecasteemee and cost of sales. From time to time, the fizmy enters into interest rate derivative
agreements to modify the interest rate profileestain investments and debt. The Company's acaaupblicies for these instruments are b
on whether the instruments are designated as tedyan-hedge instruments. The Company recordsalatives on the balance sheet at fair
value.

The following table shows the notional principadt fiair value, and credit risk amounts of the Conyp&foreign currency instruments as of
September 25, 2004 and September 27, 2003 (iromsli

September 25, 200 September 27, 200:
Notional Fair Credit Risk Notional Fair Credit Risk
Principal Value Amounts Principal Value Amounts
Foreign exchange instruments qualifying as accaogi
hedges
Spot/Forward contrac $ 59¢ $ )% 3% 464 $ 2ns —
Purchased optior $ 48z $ 4 % 4% 51z $ 3% 3
Sold options $ 521 $ 3% — $ 64t $ 8) % —
Foreign exchange instruments other than accountin
hedges
Spot/Forward contrac $ 60¢ $ 3% 4% 44t $ 3% 3
Purchased optior $ —$ — $ —$ 83 —$ —
Sold options $ — $ — $ —$ 5% — $ —

The notional principal amounts for derivative instrents provide one measure of the transaction wloumstanding as of year-end, and do not
represent the amount of the Company's exposunettit or market loss. The credit risk amount shawthe table above represents the
Company's gross exposure to
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potential accounting loss on these transactioalt @ounterparties failed to perform accordingtte terms of the contract, based on then-current
currency exchange rates at each respective dateCdmpany's exposure to credit loss and marketwilskary over time as a function of
currency exchange rates.

The estimates of fair value are based on applicatdecommonly used pricing models using prevailingncial market information as of
September 25, 2004 and September 27, 2003. Irircarsaances where judgment is required in estingeftair value, price quotes were obtai
from several of the Company's counterparty findringtitutions. Although the table above refledte hotional principal, fair value, and credit
risk amounts of the Company's foreign exchangeunstnts, it does not reflect the gains or lossesa@ated with the exposures and
transactions that the foreign exchange instrumesreténtended to hedge. The amounts ultimatelyzedlupon settlement of these financial
instruments, together with the gains and losseh@mninderlying exposures, will depend on actuaketaconditions during the remaining life
the instruments.

Foreign Exchange Risk Managem

The Company may enter into foreign currency forweand option contracts with financial institutiolmsprotect against foreign exchange risk
associated with existing assets and liabilitiestate firmly committed transactions and forecadtgdre cash flows. Generally, the Company's
practice is to hedge a majority of its existing enitl foreign exchange transaction exposures. Hewelhie Company may not hedge certain
foreign exchange transaction exposures due to iemméity, prohibitive economic cost of hedging peutar exposures, or limited availability
appropriate hedging instruments.

To protect gross margins from fluctuations in fgrecurrency exchange rates, the Company's U.Sardalhctional subsidiaries hedge a port

of forecasted foreign currency revenues, and thagamy's non-U.S. dollar functional subsidiariedirsglin local currencies hedge a portion of
forecasted inventory purchases not denominateeistibsidiaries' functional currency. Other comensive income associated with hedges of
foreign currency revenues is recognized as a copmd@f net sales in the same period as the retatied are recognized, and other
comprehensive income related to inventory purchesescognized as a component of cost of saldseiisame period as the related costs are
recognized. Typically, the Company hedges portirits forecasted foreign currency exposure asgediaith revenues and inventory
purchases over a time horizon of 3 to 9 months.

Derivative instruments designated as cash flow éedgust be dedesignated as hedges when it is pedbabthe forecasted hedged transac
will not occur in the initially identified time pe&xd or within a subsequent 2 month time period.dbefd gains and losses in other
comprehensive income associated with such deratistruments are immediately reclassified intoiggys in other income and expense. Any
subsequent changes in fair value of such derivaisteuments are also reflected in current earnimisss they are redesignated as hedges of
other transactions. During 2004, the Company resmbreet losses of $2.8 million in other income axgease related to the loss of hedge
designation on discontinued cash flow hedges dgbanges in the Company's forecast of future res sand cost of sales and due to preva
market conditions. No net gains, or losses, ofrdlar nature were recorded in 2003. During 2008,@ompany recorded net gains of

$2.5 million in other income and expense relatethéoloss of hedge designation on discontinued ftaghhedges due to changes in the
Company's forecast of future net sales and costles and due to prevailing market conditions. BSeptember 25, 2004, the Company had a
net deferred loss associated with cash flow hedfapproximately $4.4 million, net of taxes, subsialy all of which is expected to be
reclassified to earnings by the end of the secaraditgr of fiscal 2005.
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The Company may enter into foreign currency forwardtracts to hedge the translation and econongosxe of a net investment position in
a foreign subsidiary. The Company may also enterfioreign currency forward and option contractsfiset the foreign exchange gains and
losses generated by the remeasurement of certaindedl assets and liabilities in non-functionafrencies. Changes in the fair value of these
derivatives are recognized in current earninggliwmoincome and expense as offsets to the chandks fair value of the related assets or
liabilities. Due to market movements, changes itiooptime value can lead to increased volatilityother income and expense.

Interest Rate Risk Managemt

From time to time, the Company historically enteirgtd interest rate derivative transactions witkaficial institutions in order to better match
the Company's floating-rate interest income owrdish equivalents and short-term investments watfixed-rate interest expense on any
outstanding long-term debt, and/or to diversifyoation of the Company's exposure away from flugtuett in short-term U.S. interest rates.

In prior years, the Company had entered into istaie@e debt swaps with financial institutions ider to better match the Company's floating-
rate interest income on cash equivalents and sdrontinvestments with its fixed rate interest exgeean its long term debt, and/or to diversi
portion of the Company's exposure away from flutituns in short term U.S. interest rates. The irgerate swaps required the Company to pay
a floating interest rate based on the three- ensixth U.S. dollar LIBOR and receive a fixed raténterest without exchanges of the
underlying notional amounts. These swaps effegtieehverted the Company's fixed-rate 10-year defibating-rate debt. Due to prevailing
market interest rates, during 2001 and 2002 theg2my entered into and then subsequently closethtarest rate debt swap positions
realizing gains of $23 million which were deferreger the remaining life of the debt.

As of September 25, 2004 and September 27, 200 dimpany had no interest rate derivatives outsignd
Debt

In February 2004, the Company retired $300 millidlebt outstanding in the form of 6.5% unsecuregs The notes were originally issued
in 1994 and were sold at 99.9925% of par for aectiffe yield to maturity of 6.51%. As of SeptemB@&r 2003, the carrying amount of these

notes, including unamortized deferred gains astextiaith closed debt interest rate swaps, was $30ibn, respectively, while the fair value

was $302 million. The fair value of the notes waséxl on their listed market values as of Septe@ihe2003.

Non-Current Debt and Equity Investments and RelatedGains and Losses

The Company has held significant investments in ARddings plc (ARM), Akamai Technologies, Inc. (Akai) and EarthLink Network, In
(EarthLink). These investments have been refleictéde consolidated balance sheets as long teratsasdthin other assets and have been
categorized as available-for-sale requiring thaythe carried at fair value with unrealized gaing bsses, net of taxes, reported in equity as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive incathesalized gains on the sale of these investimbave been included in other income
and expense. In fiscal 2004, the Company soldfats semaining non-current investments in publicnpanies.
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EarthLink

In January 2000, the Company invested $200 millioBarthLink, an Internet service provider (ISPheTinvestment was in EarthLink's
Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, which wasedible by the Company after January 4, 2001, approximately 7.1 million shares of
EarthLink common stock. Concurrent with this inwesnt, EarthLink and the Company entered into aingelir agreement to deliver ISP
service to Macintosh users in the U.S. Under themgeof the agreement, the Company profits from eest Macintosh customer that
subscribes to EarthLink's ISP service for a spedifieriod of time, and EarthLink is the default iSBhe Company's Internet Setup Software
included with all Macintosh computers sold in th&SU

During the first quarter of 2003, the Company sh6B80,000 shares of EarthLink stock for net prosesfcapproximately $13.7 million, an
amount that approximated the Company's carryingevaf the shares. During the third quarter of 2@88,Company sold all of its remaining
holdings in EarthLink, consisting of 3,960,000 ssaof stock for net proceeds of approximately $8Bam, and a gain before taxes of

$2 million.

During the first quarter of 2002, the Company shld,000 shares of EarthLink stock for net procedgd&2 million and a gain before taxes of
$223,000. No sales of EarthLink were made in anpefsubsequent quarters of fiscal 2002. Howeweingd the fourth quarter of 2002, the
Company determined that the then current decliribarfair value of its investment in EarthLink waber-than-temporary. As a result, the
Company recognized a $44 million charge to earntoggrite-down the basis of its investment in Ehantik to $35 million. This charge was
included in gains (losses) on non-current investsyaret. As of September 28, 2002, the Company &&ldnillion shares of EarthLink stock
valued at $35 million.

Akamai

In June 1999, the Company invested $12.5 millioAkamai, a global Internet content delivery servitke investment was in the form of
convertible preferred stock that converted intomillion shares of Akamai common stock (adjustedsigbsequent stock splits) at the time of
Akamai's initial public offering in October 1999e8inning in the first quarter of 2000, the Compaategorized its shares in Akamai as
available-for-sale.

During 2004, the Company sold its remaining 986 ,9&res of Akamai stock. The transaction genegateckeeds of approximately $5 million
and a gain before taxes of approximately $4 million

During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company sig&¥5,000 shares of Akamai stock for net proce¢&® million and a gain before taxes of
$8 million. As of September 27, 2003, the Comparssaining investment in Akamai consisted of 986,80ares of Akamai stock valued at
$5 million.

During the first quarter of 2002, the Company 286,000 shares of Akamai stock for net proceed@2afillion and a gain before taxes of
$710,000. No sales of Akamai were made in any @&tibsequent quarters of fiscal 2002. Howevernduhie fourth quarter of 2002, the
Company determined the decline in the fair valugsofhvestment in Akamai was other-than-temporagya result, the Company recognized a
$6 million charge to earnings to write-down theibas its investment in Akamai to $3 million. Thébarge was included in gains (losses) on
non-current investments, net.
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ARM
ARM is a publicly held company in the U.K. involv@dthe design and licensing of high performanceraprocessors and related technology.

During the third quarter of 2003, the Company stlaf its remaining holdings in ARM stock, congigt of 278,000 shares for net proceeds of
approximately $295,000, and a gain before taxeé2@0,000.

During the first quarter of 2002, the Company sbld million shares of ARM stock for both net prode@nd a gain before taxes of $21 mill
No sales of ARM were made in any of the subseqgeatters of fiscal 200:

Other Strategic Investments

The Company has made additional minority debt ajuitye investments in several privately held tecloggl companies, which were reflectec
the consolidated balance sheets in other assatseThvestments were inherently risky becausertbdugts and/or markets of these companies
were typically not fully developed. During 2002et@ompany determined the decline in fair valueasfain of these investments was other-
than-temporary and, accordingly, recognized a éhsogarnings of $15 million. These charges wetkided in gains (losses) on non-current
investments, net. As of September 25, 2004, thep@aomnhad $1.4 million of equity investments refégtin its consolidated balance sheet. As
of September 27, 2003, the Company had no privelié @t equity investments reflected in its consaikd balance sheet.

Note 3—Consolidated Financial Statement Details (imillions)

Inventories
2004 2003
Purchased par $ 1 % 2
Work in proces: — 4
Finished good 10C 50
Total inventories $ 101 $ 56

Other Current Assets

2004 2003
Vendor no-trade receivable $ 27¢ $ 184
Other current asse 20¢ 12&
Total other current asse $ 485 $  30¢
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Property, Plant, and Equipment

Other Assets

Accrued Expenses

Land and building:

Machinery, equipment, and inter-use softwari

Office furniture and equipmel
Leasehold improvemen

Accumulated depreciation and amortizat

Net property, plant, and equipme

Non-current deferred tax asst
Capitalized software development costs,
Other asset

Total other asse!

Deferred revenu

Accrued marketing and distributic

Accrued compensation and employee ben
Accrued warranty and related co

Other current liabilitie:

Total accrued expens

Interest and Other | ncome, Net

Interest incomt

Interest expens

Gains on sales of short term investme
Other income (expense), r

Gain on forward purchase agreem

Total interest and other income, |
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2004 2003
$ 351 $  35C
427 392
79 74
44¢ 357
1,29¢ 1,17
(591) (505)
$ 707 $  66¢
| |
2004 2003
$ 8 $ 6C
25 28
80 62
$ 191 $ 15C
| |
2004 2003
$ 544 $ 36¢
147 124
134 101
108 67
29¢ 23¢
$ 122¢ $ 89¢
| |
2004 2003 2002
$ 64 $ 69 $ 11€
) (8) (11)
1 21 7
9) (5) (2
— 6 —
$ 53 $ 83 $ 11z
| | |




Note 4—Acquisitions
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company is currently amortizing its acquireighimgible assets with definite lives over periodgyiag from 3 to 10 years. The Company
ceased amortization of goodwill at the beginnindisifal 2002 when it adopted SFAS No. 142.

The following table summarizes the components ofgrand net intangible asset balances (in millions)

September 25, 2004 September 27, 2003

Gross Net Gross Net

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying

Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Goodwill (a) $ 80 — 3 80 $ 85 — 3 85
Other acquired intangible ass 5 5) — 5 (5) —
Acquired technolog 42 (25) 17 42 (18) 24
Total acquired intangible asst $ 127 $ 30)$ 97 $ 132 $ 23) % 10¢

(@)  Accumulated amortization related to goodwill of $88lion arising prior to the adoption of SFAS NB12 has been reflected in the
gross carrying amount of goodwill as of SeptemtigrzD04 and September 27, 2003.

During the third quarter of 2004, the Company rdedran adjustment of approximately $5 million todwill related to the acquisition of
PowerSchool, Inc (PowerSchool) in fiscal 2001. Treiduction of goodwill included the cancellation7®,167 shares of Apple common stock,
valued at approximately $2 million, that were pomsly held in escrow and were refunded upon remolwf certain matters arising out of the
acquisition of PowerSchool. This adjustment alsuided approximately $3 million to adjust the onigi estimates of the pre-acquisition
PowerSchool restructuring liability to actual castsurred.

Expected annual amortization expense related toieszhtechnology is as follows (in millions):

Fiscal Years
2005 $
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereaftel

AFRPEPNWO®

Total expected annual amortization expe $ 17

Amortization expense related to acquired intangitsgets is as follows (in millions):

2004 2003 2002

Other acquired intangible assets amortiza $ — $ — $ 1
Acquired technology amortizatic 7 10 5

Total amortizatior $ 7 % 10 $ 6
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Acquisition of Emagic GmbH

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company &eguEmagic GmbH (Emagic), a provider of profesaimsoftware solutions for computer
based music production, for approximately $30 wrillin cash; $26 million of which was paid immedigtepon closing of the deal and

$4 million of which was held-back for future paymeontingent on continued employment by certain leyges that would be allocated to
future compensation expense in the appropriategedver the following 3 years. During fiscal 2008ntingent consideration totaling

$1.3 million was paid. The acquisition has beeroanted for as a purchase. The portion of the pselpaice allocated to purchased in-process
research and development (IPR&D) was expensed inatedyl and the portion of the purchase price alted to acquired technology and to
tradename will be amortized over their estimategfuldives of 3 years. Goodwill associated with #oguisition of Emagic is not subject to
amortization pursuant to the provisions of SFAS M. Total consideration was allocated as foll@wsnillions):

Net tangible assets acquir $ 23
Acquired technolog 3.8
Tradenam 0.8
In-process research and developn 0.t
Goodwill 18.€
Total consideratiol $ 26.(
|

The amount of the purchase price allocated to IPR&I3 expensed upon acquisition, because the teaginal feasibility of products under
development had not been established and no ditezriature uses existed. The IPR&D relates prityad Emagic's Logic series technology
and extensions. At the date of the acquisitionptteglucts under development were between 43%-83fplate, and it was expected that the
remaining work would be completed during the Conymfiscal 2003 at a cost of approximately $415,00€ remaining efforts, which were
completed in 2003, included finalizing user integfalesign and development, and testing. The faievef the IPR&D was determined using
income approach, which reflects the projected ¢iaesh flows that will be generated by the IPR&D pot$ and that are attributable to the
acquired technology, and discounting the projeaetccash flows back to their present value usidigeount rate of 25%.

Acquisition of certain assets of Zayante, Inc., Psmo Graphics, and Silicon Grail

During fiscal 2002 the Company acquired certaimtetogy and patent rights of Zayante, Inc., Prisamaphics, and Silicon Grail Corporation
for a total of $20 million in cash. These transasi have been accounted for as asset acquisilibegpurchase price for these asset
acquisitions, except for $1 million identified amntingent consideration which would be allocateddmpensation expense over the following
3 years, has been allocated to acquired techn@odyvould be amortized on a straidine basis over 3 years, except for certain assejgiret
from Zayante associated with patent royalty stredmaswould be amortized over 10 years.

Acquisition of Nothing Real, LLC

During the second quarter of 2002, the Company ieedjcertain assets of Nothing Real, LLC (NothiregR, a privately-held company that
develops and markets high performance tools dedifprehe digital image creation market. Of the $dilion purchase price, the Company
has allocated $7 million to acquired technologyichitwill be amortized over its estimated life of@ars. The remaining $8 million, which has
been identified as contingent consideration, rathan recorded as an additional component of
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the cost of the acquired assets, would be allodatéature compensation expense in the approppi@t®ds over the following 3 years.
Note 5—Restructuring Charges
Fiscal 2004 Restructuring Actiol

The Company recorded total restructuring chargegppfoximately $23 million during the year endeg@t®mber 25, 2004, including
approximately $14 million in severance costs, $Bilion in asset impairments, and a $3.5 milliorarde for lease cancellations. Of the
$23 million charge, $14.3 million had been spenth®yend of 2004, with the remaining $8.7 milliamsisting of $5.2 million for employee
severance benefits and $3.5 million for lease déatizms.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company gedped restructuring expense of $5.5 million. Imjomction with the European workforce
reduction during the second quarter of 2004, then@any vacated a leased sales facility during thetlfioquarter of 2004 resulting in a charge
of $3.7 million for contract termination and asepairment costs. The Company also recognized eyapltermination costs of $1.8 million
related to the elimination of non-essential possigprincipally in Europe. In addition, the Compaayersed $400,000 of excess restructuring
expense from prior periods related primarily to ésthan expected disposal costs on Sacramento awatihg-related fixed assets. The net
cost of the restructuring plans for the fourth gerof 2004 was $5.1 million, of which $300,000 Hen paid prior to the end of 2004. These
actions will result in the termination of 54 posits, 4 of which had been terminated prior to the @R2004.

During the third quarter of 2004, the Company fired restructuring plans related to closing Companwned manufacturing activities in
Sacramento. In addition, the Company's managenpembeed restructuring plans related to certain beadt reductions primarily for various
sales and marketing activities principally in thé&SUTotal cost of the restructuring plan for thiediyuarter of 2004 was $7.9 million, of which
$7.2 million had been paid prior to the end of 20Ddese actions will result in the termination 8f@sitions, 77 of which had been terminated
prior to the end of 2004.

The closing of manufacturing operations in Sacramessulted in the elimination of 67 positions foseverance cost of $1.9 million and write-
off of $5.3 million in manufacturing-related fixextsets whose use ceased during the third quard®0df Termination of sales and marketing
activities, principally in the U.S., resulted inveeance of $0.7 million for the elimination of 16gitions.

During the second quarter of 2004, the Companylsagement approved restructuring plans relatedetdettmination of Company-owned
manufacturing activities in Sacramento and headcaductions related primarily to various sales aratketing activities in the U.S. and
Europe. Total cost of the actions was $9.6 milimnthe termination of 348 positions. As of the eridhe fourth quarter of 2004, $6.8 million
had been spent and 310 positions had been elindinelizted to these actions.
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The following table summarizes activity associatgth restructuring actions initiated during fis@04 (in millions):

Employee

Severance Asset Lease

Benefits Impairments Cancellations Totals
Total charge $ 14.C $ 55 $ 35 % 23.C
Total spending through September 25, 2 (8.7 — — (8.7)
Total nor-cash item: — (5.2 — (5.2
Adjustments (0.7 (0.3 — (0.9
Accrual at September 25, 20 $ 52 $ — $ 35 $ 8.7

I I I |
Fiscal 2003 Restructuring Actiol

The Company recorded total restructuring chargegppfoximately $26.8 million during the year en@sptember 27, 2003, including
approximately $7.4 million in severance costs, #$8illion charge to write-off deferred compensati7.1 million in asset impairments and a
$7.3 million charge for lease cancellations. Of$26.8 million charge, all had been spent by th@&2004, except for approximately

$3.0 million related to operating lease costs amabned facilities. During the third quarter of 3p@pproximately $500,000 of the amount
originally accrued for lease cancellations was heitged to be in excess due to the sublease of@epsosooner than originally estimated and a
shortfall of approximately $500,000 was identifiadhe severance accrual due to higher than expeeteerance costs related to the closure of
the Company's Singapore manufacturing operationss& adjustments had no net effect on reportechtipgrexpense.

During the second quarter of 2003, the Companysagement approved and initiated restructuring asttbat resulted in recognition of a tc
restructuring charge of $2.8 million, including $2nillion in severance costs and $400,000 for assig-offs and lease payments on an
abandoned facility. Actions taken in the secondrignavere for the most part supplemental to actioit@ted in the prior two quarters and
focused on further headcount reductions in vargales and marketing functions in the Company's Asasrand Europe operating segments
and further reductions associated with PowerSchelated activities in the Americas operating sedgmmenluding an accrual for asset write-
offs and lease payments on an abandoned facility.SEcond quarter actions resulted in the ternoinatf 93 employees.

During the first quarter of 2003, the Company's aggment approved and initiated restructuring astigith a total cost of $24 million that
resulted in the termination of manufacturing operet at the Company-owned facility in Singaporettfer reductions in headcount resulting
from the shift in PowerSchool product strategy thak place at the end of fiscal 2002, and ternomadf various sales and marketing activities
in the U.S. and Europe. These restructuring actiesglted in the elimination of 260 positions waevide.

Closure of the Company's Singapore manufacturirggaijpns resulted in severance costs of $1.8 milliad costs of $6.7 million to write-off
manufacturing related fixed assets, whose use dehs@éng the first quarter. PowerSchool relatedsoxluded severance of approximately
$550,000 and recognition of $5 million of previoudkferred stock compensation that arose when FBuskeol was acquired by the Company
in 2001 related to certain PowerSchool employeeksiolders who were terminated in the first quasfe2003. Termination of sales and

marketing activities and employees, principallyhie U.S. and Europe, resulted in severance co$2.8fmillion and accrual of costs
associated with operating leases on
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closed facilities of $6.7 million. The total nestricturing charge of $23 million recognized durthg first quarter of 2003 also reflects the
reversal of $600,000 of unused restructuring adawiginally made during the first quarter of 2002.

The following table summarizes activity associatgth restructuring actions initiated during fis@03 (in millions):

Employee Deferred

Severance Compensation Asset Lease

Benefits Write-off Impairments Cancellations Totals
Total charge $ 74 % 50 $ 71 % 73 $ 26.€
Total spending through September
2004 (7.9 — — (3.9 (11.7)
Total nor-cash item:s — (5.0 (7.7 — (12.2)
Adjustments 0.t — — (0.5 —
Accrual at September 25, 20 $ — 3 — 3 — 3 3.C $ 3.C

Fiscal 2002 Restructuring Actiol

During fiscal 2002, the Company recorded totalruestiring charges of approximately $30 million tethto actions intended to eliminate
certain activities and better align the Companpsrating expenses with existing general economiditions and to partially offset the cost of
continuing investments in new product developmeatiavestments in the Company's Retail operatiggnsat.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company'sagement approved and initiated restructuring astiith a total cost of approximately
$6 million designed to reduce headcount costs iparate operations and sales and to adjust its F8mheol product strategy. These
restructuring actions resulted in the eliminatié@approximately 180 positions worldwide at a cas$b.8 million, all of which were eliminated
by September 27, 2003. Eliminated positions weirmamily in corporate operations, sales, and PoweoSktrelated research and development
in the Americas operating segment. The shift irdpo strategy at PowerSchool included discontingiegelopment and marketing of
PowerSchool's PSE product. This shift resultedhénimpairment of previously capitalized developmezsdts associated with the PSE product
in the amount of $4.5 million.

During the first quarter of 2002, the Company's aggment approved and initiated restructuring astieith a total cost of approximately
$24 million. These restructuring actions resultethie elimination of approximately 425 positionsrigwide at a cost of $8 million. Positions
were eliminated primarily in the Company's opemdianformation systems, and administrative fumgidn addition, these restructuring
actions also included significant changes in thenfany's information systems strategy resultingimtnation of equipment leases and
cancellation of existing projects and activitieeeTCompany ceased using the assets associatefirstitiuarter 2002 restructuring actions
during that same quarter. Related lease and comn@acellation charges totaled $12 million, andrgka for asset impairments totaled

$4 million. The first quarter 2002 restructurindians were primarily related to corporate activityt allocated to operating segments. During
the first quarter of 2003, the Company reversedéheaining unused accrual of $600,000. All amoas&ociated with the fiscal 2002
restructuring actions had been spent by the effidczl 2003.
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Note 6—Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of théofeing (in millions):

2004 2003 2002

Federal:
Current $ 34 $ 18 $ 12
Deferred 56 (7) 32
aC 11 (20

State:

Current 5 4 3
Deferred (18) (12) 6
13 @) 9

Foreign:
Current 46 21 29
Deferred (16) (D) 4
3C 20 33
Provision for income taxe $ 107 $ 24 $ 22

The foreign provision for income taxes is basedavaign pretax earnings of approximately $384 miilli $250 million and $284 million in
2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. As of Septer@beR004, approximately $3.2 billion of the Comparcash, cash equivalents, and short-
term investments are held by foreign subsidianesare generally based in U.S. dollar-denominatedigs. Amounts held by foreign
subsidiaries are generally subject to U.S. inccematton on repatriation to the U.S. The Compangrssolidated financial statements fully
provide for any related tax liability on amountattimay be repatriated, aside from undistributediags of certain of the Company's foreign
subsidiaries that are intended to be indefinitelpvested in operations outside the U.S. U.S. irctares have not been provided on a
cumulative total of $972 million of such earningds not practicable to determine the income takility that might be incurred if these
earnings were to be distributed.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect theef of tax losses, credits, and the future inctareffects of temporary differences between the
consolidated financial statement carrying amoufexisting assets and liabilities and their respediax bases and are measured using enacte
tax rates that apply to taxable income in the yaavghich those temporary differences are expetudik recovered or settled.
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As of September 25, 2004 and September 27, 2003jgificant components of the Company's defelagdissets and liabilities were (in
millions):

2004 2003
Deferred tax asset
Accounts receivable and inventory reser $ 32 % 35
Accrued liabilities and other reserv 19t 15E
Basis of capital assets and investm 65 47
Tax losses and credi 32¢ 204
Other 26 11
Total deferred tax asse 647 452
Less valuation allowanc 30 3C
Net deferred tax asse 617 422
Deferred tax liabilities
Unremitted earnings of subsidiari 413 39¢
Total deferred tax liabilitie 41¢ 39¢
Net deferred tax ass $ 204 $ 24
|

As of September 25, 2004, the Company had operhtssgcarryforwards for federal tax purposes ofrapimately $446 million, which expire
from 2011 through 2024. A portion of these carryfards was acquired from NeXT and other acquisititims utilization of which is subject to
certain limitations imposed by the Internal Revefoele. The Company also has Federal credit camgfals and various state and foreign tax
loss and credit carryforwards, the tax effect ofalihis approximately $132 million and which expliretween 2005 and 2024. The remaining
benefits from tax losses and credits do not expiseof September 25, 2004, a valuation allowancg3@f million was recorded against the
deferred tax asset for the benefits of tax lossasrhay not be realized. The valuation allowantses primarily to the operating loss
carryforwards acquired from NeXT and other acquis&. Management believes it is more likely thahthat forecasted income, including
income that may be generated as a result of caggiplanning strategies, together with the tar@# of the deferred tax liabilities, will be
sufficient to fully recover the remaining deferitas assets.
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A reconciliation of the provision for income taxesth the amount computed by applying the statufederal income tax rate (35% in 2004,
2003, and 2002) to income before provision for medaxes, is as follows (in millions):

2004 2003 2002
Computed expected t: $ 134 % 32 % 30
State taxes, net of federal effi 5) 4 7
Indefinitely invested earnings of foreign subsidia (32) (13 —
Nondeductible executive compensat 10 5 Q)
Stock repurchas — 2 —
Purchase accounting and asset acquisi — 4 3
Change in valuation allowan: — — (16)
Research and development credit, 5) @) 8
Nondeductible expens: 2 6 4
Other items 2 3 3
Provision for income taxe $ 107 $ 24 $ 22
LW ;I |

Effective tax rate 28% 26% 25%

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has completefieid audit of the Company's federal income &tams for all years prior to 2001 and
proposed certain adjustments. Certain of thesesadgnts are being contested through the IRS Apfiféise. Substantially all IRS audit isst
for these years have been resolved. In additienCibimpany is also subject to audits by state, |@al foreign tax authorities. Management
believes that adequate provision has been madmfoadjustments that may result from tax examinatiblowever, the outcome of tax audits
cannot be predicted with certainty. Should anydssaddressed in the Company's tax audits be rekimi\veemanner not consistent with
management's expectations, the Company could lireedo adjust its provision for income tax in theriod such resolution occurs.

Note 7—Shareholders' Equity
Restricted Stock Units

During fiscal 2004, the Company's Board of Direstapproved the grant of 2.515 million restricteztktunits to selected members of the
Company's senior management, excluding its Chiethtive Officer (CEO). These restricted stock ugéserally vest in two equal
installments on the second and fourth anniversafitise date of grant. The Company has recorde®@det million value of these restricted
stock units as a component of shareholders' equitywill amortize that amount on a straight-lingibaver the 4 year requisite service period.
The value of the restricted stock units was basethe closing market price of the Company's comstonk on the date of grant. Quarterly
amortization will be approximately $4.0 million, which approximately $0.5 million will be includéa cost of sales; $1.3 million will be
included in research and development expense;hencetaining $2.2 million will be included in sell, general and administrative expense.
The restricted stock units have been includedenctiiculation of diluted earnings per share utiligihe treasury stock method.

CEO Restricted Stock Award

On March 19, 2003, the Company entered into ano@pfiancellation and Restricted Stock Award Agrednitiie Agreement) with Mr. Steve
P. Jobs, its CEO. The Agreement cancelled stodkmpt
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awards for the purchase of 27.5 million sharesief@ompany's common stock previously granted toJelrs in 2000 and 2001. Mr. Jobs
retained options to purchase 60,000 shares of dmep@ny’'s common stock granted in August of 199¥srcapacity as a member of the
Company's Board of Directors, prior to becoming@mnpany's CEO. The Agreement replaced the cadoefifons with a restricted stock
award of 5 million shares of the Company's comntonks The restricted stock award generally vegtsetlyears from date of grant. Vesting of
some or all of the restricted shares will be ace¢del in the event Mr. Jobs is terminated withautse, dies, or has his management role
reduced following a change in control of the Compan

The Company has recorded the value of the reddrtteck award of $74.75 million as a componentafreholders' equity and is amortizing
that amount on a straight-line basis over the 3 geevice period. The value of the restricted st@efard was based on the closing market price
of the Company's common stock of $14.95 on the ofatiee award. Amortization expense for this awardich amounts to approximately

$6.2 million per quarter, has been included inirsglgeneral, and administrative expense beginmdarch 2003 and will continue to be
included through March 2006. The 5 million resetshares have been included in the calculatiatilated earnings per share utilizing the
treasury stock method.

Stock Repurchase Plan

In July 1999, the Company's Board of Directors atigted a plan for the Company to repurchase ub@$nillion of its common stock. This
repurchase plan does not obligate the Companyguir@cany specific number of shares or acquireeshaver any specified period of time.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company etténto a forward purchase agreement to acquirenillion shares of its common stock in
September of 2003 at an average price of $16.64t@e for a total cost of $25.5 million. In Aug@s03, the Company settled this agreement
prior to its maturity, at which time the Compangtsnmon stock had a fair value of $22.81. Other thanforward purchase transaction, the
Company has not engaged in any transactions toalease its common stock since fiscal 2000. Sincegtion of the stock repurchase plan,
Company had repurchased a total of 6.55 milliomeshat a cost of $217 million. The Company was @nigkd to repurchase up to an additic
$283 million of its common stock as of SeptemberZpA4.

Preferred Stock

The Company has 5 million shares of authorizedgprefl stock, none of which is outstanding. Undertémms of the Company's Restated
Articles of Incorporation, the Board of Directossauthorized to determine or alter the rights,gneices, privileges and restrictions of the
Company's authorized but unissued shares of peefatock.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of two componentsnoeme and other comprehensive income. Other celngmsive income refers to
revenue, expenses, gains and losses that undeatigreecepted accounting principles are recordedraelement of shareholders' equity but
are excluded from net income. The Company's otbempcehensive income consists of foreign curreraydiation adjustments from those
subsidiaries not using the U.S. dollar as theicfiemal currency, unrealized gains and losses aketable securities categorized as available-
for-sale, and net deferred gains and losses oaigatérivative instruments accounted for as cash fiedges.
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The following table summarizes the components ofiawlated other comprehensive income (loss), netxafs (in millions):

2004 2003 2002
Unrealized gains (losses) on avail-for-sale securitie $ 4 $ 1 % 13
Unrealized losses on derivative investme 4 (16) (11)
Cumulative foreign currency translati @) (20 (52)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (i $ (15 $ (35) $ (49)

The following table summarizes activity in othermgarehensive income related to available-for-sateisges, net of taxes (in millions):

2004 2003 2002
Change in fair value of availal-for-sale securitie $ @ $ 11 % (49
Adjustment for net (gains) losses realized ancuiet! in net incom 4 (23 32
Change in unrealized gain/loss on avail-for-sale securitie $ 5) % 12 $ (@)

| |

The tax effect related to the change in unrealgad on available-fosale securities was $4 million, $6 million, and $@illion for fiscal 2004
2003, and 2002, respectively. The tax effect onrdéetassification adjustment for net gains (lossesuded in net income was $1 million, $(8)
million and $10 million for fiscal 2004, 2003, a@602, respectively.

The following table summarizes activity in othengarehensive income related to derivatives, neaxdés, held by the Company (in millions):

2004 2003 2002
Changes in fair value of derivativ $ 1) $ (24) $ 4
Adjustment for net gains(losses) realized and uhetlin net incom 33 19 (19
Change in unrealized gain/loss on derivative ims&rts $ 12 % 5) $ (15)

The tax effect related to the changes in fair valugerivatives was $10 million, $11million and $8illion for fiscal 2004, 2003, and 2002,
respectively. The tax effect related to derivatiaéns (losses) reclassified from other comprehensivome was $(13) million, $(7) million ai
$8 million for fiscal 2004, 2003, and 2002, respasy.

Note 8—Employee Benefit Plans
2003 Employee Stock Option Plan

At the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on Agdl 2003, the shareholders approved an amendméme 11998 Executive Officer Stock
Plan to change the name of the plan to the 2003@&me Stock Option Plan (the 2003 Plan), to proVadeoroadbased grants to all employe

in addition to executive officers and other key égpes and to prohibit future "repricings" of emyse stock options, including 6-months-plus-
1-day option exchange programs, without shareh@gproval. Based on the terms of individual optjoants, options granted under the 2003
Plan generally expire 7 to 10 years after the gdate and generally become exercisable over agefid years, based on continued
employment, with
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either annual or quarterly vesting. The 2003 Pkamits the granting of incentive stock options, statutory stock options, restricted stock
units, stock appreciation rights, and stock puretrgghts.

1997 Employee Stock Option Plan

In August 1997, the Company's Board of Directonsraped the 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan (the/138n), a norshareholder approvt
plan for grants of stock options to employees wigorent officers of the Company. Based on the teshisdividual option grants, options
granted under the 1997 Plan generally expire Dtpehrs after the grant date and generally becomeisable over a period of 4 years, based
on continued employment, with either annual or tprér vesting. As a result of shareholder apprafaimendments to the 1998 Executive
Officer Stock Plan in April 2003, the Company tematied the 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan and dedcal remaining unissued shares
totaling 14,295,351 following the completion of amployee stock option exchange program in OctoBéB2

Employee Stock Option Exchange Program

On March 20, 2003, the Company announced a volpetaiployee stock option exchange program (the Engddrogram) whereby eligible
employees, other than executive officers and mesntiiethe Board of Directors, had an opportunitgxehange outstanding options with
exercise prices at or above $25.00 per share fioedetermined smaller number of new stock optisaged with exercise prices equal to the
market value of one share of the Company's comruak £n the day the new awards are issued, whichtavhe at least six months plus one
day after the exchange options are cancelled. Qit Ap 2003, in accordance with the Exchange Raogrthe Company cancelled options to
purchase 16,569,193 shares of its common stockO@aber 22, 2003, new stock options totaling 6,868 shares were issued to employees at
an exercise price of $22.76 per share, which isvatent to the closing price of the Company's stonkhat date. No financial or accounting
impact to the Company's financial position, resafteperations or cash flow was associated with titsinsaction.

1997 Director Stock Option Plan

In August 1997, the Company's Board of Directorspaield a shareholder approved Director Stock OfRian (DSOP) for non-employee
directors of the Company. Initial grants of 30,@ions under the DSOP vest in three equal insedtsion each of the first through third
anniversaries of the date of grant, and subsedurental grants of 10,000 options are fully vestegrant.

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

Certain of the Company's executive officers, inolgdMr. Timothy D. Cook, Mr. Jonathan Rubinstein;.ertrand Serlet, and Mr. Avadis
Tevanian, Jr., have entered into trading plansyaunsto Rule 10b5-1(c)(1) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934, as amended. A trading plan
is a written document that pre-establishes the atsoprices and dates (or formula for determinfrggamounts, prices and dates) of future
purchases or sales of the Company's stock inclutimgxercise and sale of employee stock optiodshares acquired pursuant to the
Company's employee stock purchase plan and updimges restricted stock units.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has a shareholder approved employele ptiochase plan (the Purchase Plan), under whigstantially all employees may
purchase common stock through payroll deductiomspaice equal to 85% of the lower of the fair nerkalues as of the beginning and end of
six month offering periods. Stock purchases unideRurchase Plan are limited to 10% of an emplsymghpensation, up to a maximum
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of $25,000 in any calendar year. Beginning withghemonth offering period that started on JuneZm3, the number of shares authorized for
issuance is limited to a total of 1 million shapes offering period. During 2004, 2003, and 2008, illion, 2.1 million, and 1.8 million,
respectively were issued under the Purchase Pkwf Beptember 25, 2004, approximately 2 millioarsk were reserved for future issuance
under the Purchase Plan.

Employee Savings Plan

The Company has an employee savings plan (the @afAlan) qualifying as a deferred salary arrangeémmeder Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code. Under the Savings Plan, participatiSg employees may defer a portion of their preet@rnings, up to the Internal Revenue
Service annual contribution limit ($13,000 for cadar year 2004). The Company matches 50% to 1008&aaif employee's contributions,
depending on length of service, up to a maximumo8the employee's earnings. The Company's matauongibutions to the Savings Plan
were approximately $24 million, $21 million, and%thillion in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

Stock Option Activity

A summary of the Company's stock option activitd aslated information for the years ended Septer@beP004, September 27, 2003 and
September 28, 2002 follows (option amounts aregmtesl in thousands):

Outstanding Options

Shares
Available Number of Weighted Average
for Grant Shares Exercise Price

Balance at September 29, 2( 10,07t 97,17¢ $ 29.2¢
Additional Options Authorize 15,00( — —
Options Grante! (23,239 23,23¢ $ 19.8¢
Options Cancelle: 4,73 4,737 $ 30.9¢
Options Exercise — (6,257 $ 11.9¢
Plan Shares Expire 2 —

Balance at September 28, 2( 6,571 109,43( $ 28.17
Restricted Stock Grante (5,000 — —
Options Grante: (4,179 4,17¢ $ 16.3¢
Options Cancelle 48,44 (48,447 $ 39.61
Options Exercise (2,159 $ 14.0¢
Plan Shares Expire 5) — —

Balance at September 27, 2( 45,83( 63,01: $ 19.0¢
Restricted Stock Units Grant (2,515 — —
Options Grante! (18,19 18,197 $ 22.9i
Options Cancelle 3,00¢ (3,005 $ 20.7¢
Options Exercise — (22,847 $ 17.2(
Plan Shares Expire (16,099 —

Balance at September 25, 2( 12,02t 55,36 $ 21.0¢
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The options outstanding as of September 25, 2004 baen segregated into five ranges for additidisalosure as follows (option amounts are
presented in thousands):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-

Options Average Weighted Options Weighted

Outstanding as of Remaining Average Exercisable as of Average

September 25, Contractual Exercise September 25, Exercise

2004 Life in Years Price 2004 Price

$0.8:-$15.59 6,42¢ 465 $ 12.2¢ 4,95¢ $ 11.5¢
$15.6(-$18.50 15,72¢ 587 $ 17.9¢ 12,96¢ $ 18.0¢4
$18.5:-$20.54 9,99¢ 6.91 $ 20.2¢ 576¢ $ 20.2¢
$20.55-$22.76 15,10¢ 6.2: $ 22.2( 1,401 $ 21.7:
$22.7°-$69.78 8,09¢ 6.2¢4 $ 32.9( 492¢ $ 36.4¢
$0.8:-$69.78 55,36: 6.07 $ 21.0¢t 30,02: % 20.5¢

As of September 27, 2003, the Company had exefeisgitions to purchase 38.8 million shares outstanaith a weighted average exercise
price of $18.75 per share. As of September 28, 20@2Company had exercisable options to purcha$erbillion shares outstanding with a
weighted average exercise price of $30.85 per share

The Company had 2.515 million restricted stocksuniitstanding as of September 25, 2004, which eeckided from the options outstanding
balances in the preceding tables. None of theseatesl stock units were vested as of Septembe2@34. The grant of these restricted stock
units has been deducted from the shares availablrdnt under the Company's stock option plans.

Note 9—Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has provided pro forma disclosuresaiteN of these Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants of the effect on net income and
earnings per share as if the fair value methodcobanting for stock compensation had been useiisfemployee stock option grants and
employee stock purchase plan purchases. Thesemna effects have been estimated at the date of gral beginning of the period,
respectively, using the Black-Scholes option pgainodel.

For purposes of the pro forma disclosures provpeguant to SFAS No. 123, the option awards isgu€ttober 2003 and the awards
cancelled as part of the Employee Stock Option Brge Program have been accounted for using matiificaccounting. In accordance with
SFAS No. 123, the grant date of the awards isssifitki date of acceptance of the exchange offeaticipating employees. The cancellation
of certain of the Company's CEO's options and cegpteent with restricted shares in March 2003 is bésng accounted for using modification
accounting for purposes of the pro forma disclospm@vided pursuant to SFAS No. 123.
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The assumptions used for each of the last threalfigars and the resulting estimate of weiglategkage fair value per share of options gra
during those years are as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Expected life of stock optior 3.5 year 3.5-4 year 4 year:
Expected life of stock purchas 6 month: 6 month: 6 month:
Interest rat—stock options 2.33%-3.15% 2.14%-2.45% 2.9(%
Interest rat—stock purchase 0.96%-1.67% 1.10%-1.77% 2.71%
Volatility —stock options 40% 40%-63% 64%
Volatility —stock purchase 32%-44% 35%-44% 51%
Dividend yields — — —
Weighter-average fair value of options granted during ther $ 7371 $ 6.6 $ 10.11
Weighter-average fair value of stock purchases during tlze $ 55€¢ $ 424 $ 6.7

For purposes of the pro forma disclosures provpeaguant to SFAS No. 123, the expected volatiltguanptions used by the Company pric
the third quarter of 2003 had been based solethetistorical volatility of the Company's commdack over the most recent period
commensurate with the estimated expected life ®bmpany's stock options. Beginning in the thindrger of 2003, the Company has
modified this approach to consider other relevantdrs including implied volatility in market tradl@ptions on the Company's common stock
and the impact of unusual fluctuations not reaslynekpected to recur on the historical volatilitytbe Company's common stock. The
Company will continue to monitor these and othésvant factors in developing the expected volgtdissumption used to value future awards.

Beginning in the third quarter of 2003, the Compahgrtened its estimate of the expected life of pptions granted to its employees from

4 years to 3.5 years. The Company bases its explfetassumption on its historical experience andhe terms and conditions of the stock
options it grants to employees. The change in tipe&ed life assumption made during the third eqarast 2003 was the result of the expected
impact of shortening the contractual life of newiops granted to employees from 10 years to 7 yaadschanging the vesting provisions of
new options granted to employees from 4 year ditdige annual vesting to 4 year straight-line dedy vesting.

Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Commitments

The Company leases various equipment and facijlitietuding retail space, under noncancelable dpgydease arrangements. The Company
does not currently utilize any other off-balanceettfinancing arrangements. The major facility ésaare for terms of 5 to 10 years and
generally provide renewal options for terms of Jtadditional years. Leases for retail space aréefons of 5 to 16 years and often contain
multi-year renewal options. As of September 25,4£2@0e Company's total future minimum lease paysantler noncancelable operating
leases were $617 million, of which $436 millionateld to leases for retail space.

Rent expense under all operating leases, inclualitly cancelable and noncancelable leases, wasril@g, $97 million, and $92 million in
2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. Future mininfease
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payments under noncancelable operating leasesdheaimaining terms in excess of one year as of &de 25, 2004, are as follows (in
millions):

Fiscal Years

2005 $ 89
2006 91
2007 79
2008 65
2009 61
Later years 232
Total minimum lease paymer $ 617

Accrued Warranty and Indemnifications

The Company offers a basic limited parts and latenranty on its hardware products. The basic wéyrperiod for hardware products is
typically one year from the date of purchase byahé-user. The Company also offers a 90-day baaicanty for Apple service parts used to
repair Apple hardware products. The Company pravierently for the estimated cost that may benmcuunder its basic limited product
warranties at the time related revenue is recognizactors considered in determining appropriateusads for product warranty obligations
include the size of the installed base of prodaeatgect to warranty protection, historical and pot¢d warranty claim rates, historical and
projected cost-per-claim, and knowledge of spegfmduct failures that are outside of the Compatypial experience. The Company
assesses the adequacy of its preexisting warriafiities and adjusts the amounts as necessapdi@asactual experience and changes in
future expectations.

The following table reconciles changes in the Comyfsaaccrued warranties and related costs (inansl):

2004 2003 2002
Beginning accrued warranty and related ¢ $ 67 $ 69 $ 87
Cost of warranty claim (10%) (71) (79)
Accruals for product warranti¢ 142 69 61
Ending accrued warranty and related ci $ 108 % 67 $ 69

The Company generally does not indemnify end-uskits operating system and application softwarairegt legal claims that the software
infringes third-party intellectual property rightSther agreements entered into by the Company sme®include indemnification provisions
under which the Company could be subject to casigoan damages in the event of an infringement clgiinst the Company or an
indemnified third-party. However, the Company hasheen required to make any significant paymesgslting from such an infringement
claim asserted against itself or an indemnifiecdtfpiarty and, in the opinion of management, doesage a potential liability related to
unresolved infringement claims subject to indenealfion that would have a material adverse effedtofinancial condition, liquidity or resul
of operations. Therefore, the Company did not réeoliability for infringement costs as of eithefember 25, 2004 or September 27, 2003.
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Concentrations in the Available Sources of SupplyfdMaterials and Product

Although most components essential to the Compdugsiess are generally available from multiplerses, other key components (including
microprocessors and application-specific integrafeclits, or ("ASICs")) are currently obtained the Company from single or limited
sources. Some other key components, while currentiylable to the Company from multiple sources,artimes subject to industry-wide
availability and pricing pressures. In additiorg tBompany uses some components that are not conentios rest of the personal computer
industry, and new products introduced by the Compditen initially utilize custom components obtainfieom only one source until the
Company has evaluated whether there is a needfos@bsequently qualifies additional suppliershéf supply of a key single-sourced
component to the Company were to be delayed oaitedtor in the event a key manufacturing venddayteshipments of completed products
to the Company, the Company's ability to ship ezlgiroducts in desired quantities and in a timedyaner could be adversely affected. The
Company's business and financial performance calaliibe adversely affected depending on the timeired to obtain sufficient quantities
from the original source, or to identify and obtairfficient quantities from an alternative sour€entinued availability of these components
may be affected if producers were to decide to entrate on the production of common componente@usof components customized to meet
the Company's requirements. Finally, significantipos of the Company's CPUs, logic boards, andrabted products are now manufactured
by outsourcing partners, the majority of which ascn various parts of Asia. Although the Comparorke closely with its outsourcing
partners on manufacturing schedules, the Compapgating results could be adversely affectegibittsourcing partners were unable to r
their production obligations.

Contingencies

Beginning on September 27, 2001, three shareholdss action lawsuits were filed in the U.S. D&t@ourt for the Northern District of
California against the Company and its Chief ExieeuDfficer. These lawsuits are substantially idtait and purport to bring suit on behalf of
persons who purchased the Company's publicly tradednon stock between July 19, 2000, and Septe2&He&000. The complaints allege
violations of the 1934 Securities Exchange Act se@ek unspecified compensatory damages and otleft fitde Company believes these
claims are without merit and intends to defend thvegorously. The Company filed a motion to dismissJune 4, 2002, which was heard by
the Court on September 13, 2002. On December T2, 208e Court granted the Company's motion to disrfar failure to state a cause of
action, with leave to Plaintiffs to amend their q@aint within thirty days. Plaintiffs filed theimaended complaint on January 31, 2003, and on
March 17, 2003, the Company filed a motion to dssrthe amended complaint. The Court heard the Coytgomotion on July 11, 2003 and
dismissed Plaintiffs' claims with prejudice on Agg@2, 2003. Plaintiffs have appealed the ruling.

The Company is subject to certain other legal prdo®s and claims that have arisen in the ordinatyse of business and have not been fully
adjudicated. In the opinion of management, the Comgloes not have a potential liability relateémy current legal proceedings and claims
that would individually or in the aggregate haveaterial adverse effect on its financial conditibguidity or results of operations. However,
the results of legal proceedings cannot be prediiwith certainty. Should the Company fail to préwaiany of these legal matters or should
several of these legal matters be resolved agtiestompany in the same reporting period, the dipgraesults of a particular reporting period
could be materially adversely affected.

Production and marketing of products in certaitestand countries may subject the Company to emviemtal and other regulations including,
in some instances, the requirement to provide ocusts
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the ability to return product at the end of itsfukéfe, and place responsibility for environmelyasafe disposal or recycling with the
Company. Such laws and regulations have recendy passed in several jurisdictions in which the gany operates including various
European Union member countries, Japan and cetiates within the U.S. Although the Company dodsanticipate any material adverse
effects in the future based on the nature of itxrafions and the thrust of such laws, there isssar@nce that such existing laws or future laws
will not have a material adverse effect on the Canys results of operations and financial position.

Note 11—Segment Information and Geographic Data

In accordance with SFAS No. 13isclosures about Segments of an Enterprise andt&elnformation the Company reports segment
information based on the "management" approach nidmeagement approach designates the internal regporded by management for making
decisions and assessing performance as the sdutee @ompany's reportable segments.

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. The Company's reportable operaéggents are comprised of the
Americas, Europe, Japan, and Retail. The Ameriegmsnt includes both North and South America, eddmefhe activities of the Company's
Retail segment. The Europe segment includes Eunopaantries as well as the Middle East and Afridee Japan segment includes only Japan
and excludes revenue from the Company's own &tais in Japan, which is included in the CompaRgtsil segment. The Retail segment
operated Apple-owned retail stores in the U.S.Japhn during fiscal 2004. Other operating segniaoksde Asia-Pacific, which includes
Australia and Asia except for Japan, and the Conipaubsidiary, FileMaker, Inc. Each reportableggaphic operating segment provides
similar hardware and software products and sinséaivices, and the accounting policies of the vargergments are the same as those describe
in Note 1, "Summary of Significant Accounting P@s," except as described below for the Retail sggm

The Company evaluates the performance of its dpgraegments based on net sales. The Retail segmerfiormance is also evaluated based
on operating income. Net sales for geographic setgrae generally based on the location of theoowsts. Operating income for each
segment includes net sales to third parties, tledst of sales, and operating expenses diredtipatable to the segment. Operating income
each segment excludes other income and expenseegad expenses that are managed outside thetimgesagments. Costs excluded from
segment operating income include various corpa@apenses, manufacturing costs not included in srancbsts, income taxes, and various
nonrecurring charges. Corporate expenses inclugdareh and development, corporate marketing expeasd other separately managed
general and administrative expenses including icectarporate expenses associated with supportedR#tail segment. The Company does not
include intercompany transfers between segmentsifragement reporting purposes. Segment assetslexarporate assets. Corporate a:
include cash, short-term and lotegm investments, manufacturing facilities, misme#ious corporate infrastructure, goodwill and o#toejuire
intangible assets, and retail store constructieprogress that is not subject to depreciation. pikfa the Retail segment, capital expenditures
for longdived assets are not reported to management byesgg@apital expenditures by the Retail segmene&04 million, $92 million an
$106 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Operating income for all segments, except Retailudes cost of sales at manufacturing standarl atter cost of sales, related sales and
marketing costs, and certain general and admitigtraosts. This measure of operating income, whicludes manufacturing profit, provides
a comparable basis for comparison between the Coyigpgarious geographic segments. Certain manufagtexpenses and

97




related adjustments not included in segment cosalefs, including variances between standard andlananufacturing costs and the mark-up
above standard cost for product supplied to thaiRetgment, are included in corporate expenses.

Management assesses the operating performance Bktiail segment differently than it assesses pleeating performance of the Company's
geographic segments. The Retail segment revenueprdting income is intended to depict a comparat#asure to that of the Company's
major channel partners in the U.S. operating retailes so the Company can evaluate the Retailesgigmerformance as if it were a channel
partner. Therefore, the Company makes three sagmifiadjustments to the Retail segment for manageraporting purposes that are not
included in the results of the Company's other sagm

First, the Retail segment's operating income inetucbst of sales for Apple products at an amoumhally charged to major channel partners
in the U.S. operating retail stores, less the abstles programs and incentives provided to tisbs@nel partners and the Company's cost to
support those partners. For the years ended SeptedBbh2004, September 27, 2003, and Septemb@0P28, this resulted in the recognition
additional cost of sales above standard cost bjR#tail segment and an offsetting benefit to cafmexpenses of approximately $213 million,
$106 million, and $52 million, respectively.

Second, the Company's extended warranty, suppdrsenvice contracts are transferred to the Regginent at the same cost as that charged tc
the Company's major retail channel partners irltf&, resulting in a comparable measure of revamaegross margin between the Company's
Retail stores and those retail channel partners.Rétail segment recognizes the full amount of maeeand cost of sales at the time of sale of
the Company's extended warranty, support and secantracts. Because the Company has not yet edreedvenue or incurred the costs
associated with the sale of these contracts, aeif these amounts is recognized in other opgragégments' net sales and cost of sales. For
the year ended September 25, 2004, this resultdebirecognition of net sales and cost of salethéyretail segment, with corresponding
offsets in other operating segments, of $54 milkod $37 million, respectively. For the year en8egtember 27, 2003, the net sales and cost
of sales recognized by the Retail segment for sHlegtended warranty, support and service corgraetre $30 million and $20 million,
respectively. For the year ended September 28,,2032resulted in the recognition of net sales emst of sales by the Retail segment of

$8 million and $6 million, respectively.

Third, the Company has opened six high profileetan New York, Los Angeles, Chicago, San Franci$o&yo, Japan and Osaka, Japan ¢
September 25, 2004 and has an additional store dledelopment in London, England, which is expedttedpen by the end of calendar year
2004. These high profile stores are larger tharCivapany's typical retail stores and were desigoddrther promote brand awareness and
provide a venue for certain corporate sales andetiag activities, including corporate briefingss Buch, the Company allocates certain
operating expenses associated with these stomesgorate marketing expense to reflect the estidhadmefit realized Company-wide. The
allocation of these operating costs is based oexbess amount incurred for a high profile storth&d of a more typical Company retail
location. Expenses allocated to corporate markegsglting from the operations of these stores @& million, $6 million and $1 million for
the years ended September 25, 2004, Septembed@3, @1d September 28, 2002 respectively.
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Summary information by operating segment followsrfiillions):

2004 2003 2002
Americas:
Net sales $ 4,01¢ $ 3,181 % 3,131
Operating incomi $ 468 $ 32 $ 27¢
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 6 $ 5 % 4
Segment assets ( $ 56 $ 494 % 39t
Europe:
Net sales $ 1,79¢ $ 1,30¢ $ 1,251
Operating incomi $ 28C % 13C % 122
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 4 3 4 3 4
Segment asse $ 25¢ % 252 % 16&
Japan
Net sales $ 677 $ 69¢ $ 71C
Operating incomt $ 11 $ 121 $ 14C
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 2 % 3 % 2
Segment asse $ 114 % 13C $ 5C
Retail:
Net sales $ 1,18t $ 621 $ 28¢
Operating income (los: $ 3 3 5) $ (22)
Depreciation, amortization and accretion $ 3 $ 25 $ 16
Segment assets ( $ 351 $ 24 % 141
Other Segments (c
Net sales $ 59¢ $ 39 % 367
Operating incomt $ 9€ $ 51 $ 44
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 2 % 2 % 2
Segment asse $ 124 % 78 % 67

(@) The Americas asset figures do not include fixe@tssiseld in the U.S. Such fixed assets are notatka specifically to the
Americas segment and are included in the corp@asdets figures below.

(b) Retail segment depreciation and asset figuresctefie cost and related depreciation of its retaites and related infrastructu
Retail store construction-in-progress, which is sudtject to depreciation, is reflected in corpoessets.

(©) Other Segments include Asia-Pacific and FileMaker.

99




A reconciliation of the Company's segment operaitiwgme and assets to the consolidated financgstents follows (in millions):

2004 2003 2002

Segment operating incon $ 98¢ $ 62C $ 562
Corporate expenses, r (640 (595) (514)
Purchased -process research and developn — — (D)
Restructuring cost (23) (26) (30
Consolidated operating income (lo $ 326 $ 1@ $ 17
| | |

Segment asse $ 1,411 $ 1,197 $ 81¢
Corporate asse 6,63¢ $ 561¢ $ 5,48(
Consolidated asse $ 8,05( $ 6,81t $ 6,29¢
| | |

Segment depreciation, amortization and accre $ 4¢ % 38 $ 28
Corporate depreciation, amortization and accre 101 74 86
Consolidated depreciation, amortization and acmne $ 15C $ 11 $ 114

A large portion of the Company's net sales is @etifrom its international operations. Also, a migyoof the raw materials used in the
Company's products is obtained from sources outfitlee U.S., and a majority of the products sgldh®e Company is assembled
internationally in the Company's facility in Cotkeland or by third-party vendors in Taiwan, Kord# Netherlands, the People's Republic of
China, and the Czech Republic. As a result, the i2my is subject to risks associated with foreigarapons, such as obtaining governmental
permits and approvals, currency exchange fluctnatiourrency restrictions, political instabilitpadlor problems, trade restrictions, and changes
in tariff and freight charges. No single customecaunted for more than 10% of net sales in 2008326 2002.

Net sales and lor-lived assets related to operations in the U.9adaand other foreign countries are as followsiltions):

2004 2003 2002
Net Sales

u.s. $ 489: % 3627 $ 3,27
Japar 73€ 69¢ 71C
Other Countrie! 2,64¢ 1,88: 1,76(
Total Net Sale: $ 827¢ % 6,200 $  5,74:
I I I

Long-Lived Assets
u.s. $ 637 $ 63t $ 561
Japar 52 19 2
Other Countrie! 72 60 68
Total Lon¢-Lived Assets $ 761 % 714 % 632
| | |
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Information regarding net sales by product is dis\ics (in millions):

2004 2003 2002

Net Sales
Power Macintosh (e $ 1,41¢ $ 1237 $ 1,38
PowerBook 1,58¢ 1,29¢ 831
iMac (b) 954 1,23¢ 1,44¢
iBook 961 717 87t
Total Macintosh Net Sale $ 492  $ 4491 $ 4,53¢
iPod 1,30¢ 34t 145
Other Music Products (& 27¢ 36 4
Peripherals and other hardware 951 691 527
Software (e’ 50z 362 307
Service and other Net Sal 31¢ 282 227
Total Net Sale: $ 8,27¢ % 6,200 $ 574
L] L] .|

(@) Includes Xserve product line.
(b) Includes eMac product line.

(c) Other Music Products includes iTunes Music Stofessand iPod related services, and A-branded and thi-party iPot-
related accessories.

(d) Net sales of peripherals and other hardware inchadkes of Apple-branded and third-party displayiselss connectivity and
networking solutions, and other hardware accessorie

(e) Net sales of software include sales of Apple-brdnalgerating system and application software anessafl third-party software.
Note 12—Related Party Transactions and Certain OtheTransactions

In March 2002, the Company entered into a Reimesg Agreement with its CEO, Mr. Steven P. Jobsttfe reimbursement of expenses
incurred by Mr. Jobs in the operation of his prevptane when used for Apple business. The ReimmeseAgreement became effective for
expenses incurred by Mr. Jobs for Apple businespqgaes since he took delivery of the plane in M@®12 The Company recognized a total of
$483,000, $404,000, and $1,168,000 in expensesgnirto the Reimbursement Agreement during 20043 201d 2002, respectively. All
expenses recognized pursuant to the Reimbursemggatent have been included in selling, generdl aaministrative expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations.

In connection with a relocation assistance packtgeCompany in May 2000 loaned Mr. Ronald B. JohnSenior Vice President, Retail,
$1.5 million for the purchase of his principal gEsice. The loan was secured by a deed of trusivasdiue and payable in May 2004. Under
the terms of the loan, Mr. Johnson agreed thatldHwaiexercise any of his stock options prior ®dlne date of the loan, he would pay the
Company an amount equal to the lesser of (1) aruatregjual to 50% of the total net gain realizedanfthe exercise of the options; or

(2) $375,000 multiplied by the number of years lextwthe exercise date and the date of the loanJd¥inson repaid $750,000 of this loan in
fiscal 2003 and repaid the remaining balance oD¥X® in fiscal 2004.

Mr. Jerome York, a member of the Board of Directairthe Company, is a member of an investment gtbhappurchased

MicroWarehouse, Inc. (MicroWarehouse) in Janua@R®@ntil September 7, 2003, he also served asdvliarehouse's Chairman, President
and Chief Executive Officer. MicroWarehouse wassetler of computer hardware, software and pergtgpducts, including products made
by the
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Company. On September 8, 2003, CDW Corporation (§2Asfuired selected North American assets of Mitaehouse. Microwarehouse
subsequently filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy priddecin the U.S. MicroWarehouse accounted for apipnately 0.3%, 2.4% and 3.3% of the
Company's net sales for the years ended Septerb20@4, September 27, 2003, and September 28, B&s}iectively. Trade receivables fr
MicroWarehouse were $4.3 million and $9.9 milliehaf September 25, 2004 and September 27, 2048 atgely. The Company has
provided what it believes to be an adequate alle&am the outstanding receivable based on the Caytgosecured interest position in selec
MicroWarehouse assets and the expected paymeuntsézured creditors. Sales to MicroWarehouse datkdetrade receivables were
generally subject to the same terms and condiisrtiose with the Company's other resellers. litiaddthe Company has purchased
miscellaneous equipment and supplies from Micro\Wawse. Total purchases amounted to approximate8/i$itlion and $2.9 million for the
years ended September 27, 2003 and September@3,r28pectively. No purchases were made by thep@ognfrom MicroWarehouse

fiscal 2004.

Note 13—Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Uhaudited)

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarter First Quarter

(Tabular amounts in millions, except per share amonts)

2004
Net sales $ 2,35C $ 2,01« % 1,90¢ $ 2,00¢
Gross margir $ 634 $ 55¢ $ 53C $ 53€
Net income $ 106 $ 61 $ 46 % 63
Earnings per common sha
Basic $ 028 $ 0.1 $ 01 $ 0.17
Diluted $ 02¢ $ 0.1 $ 01z $ 0.17
2003
Net sales $ 1,718 $ 154 % 1478 $ 1,472
Gross margit $ 45¢ $ 42¢  $ 41 $ 40€
Net income (loss $ 4 % 19 % 14  $ (8)
Earnings (loss) per common she
Basic $ 01z $ 00t $ 004 $ (0.02)
Diluted $ 01z $ 0.0t $ 004 $ (0.02)

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share arguted independently for each of the quarters ptegeifherefore, the sum of quarterly basic
and diluted per share information may not equabiahbasic and diluted earnings per share.

Net income during the fourth, third, and secondrtgra of 2004 included restructuring charges, néaxy of $4 million, $6 million, an
$7 million, respectively.

Net income during the fourth and third quarter2@®3 included aft-tax net gains related to non-current investmehgbanillion and

$1 million, respectively. Net income for the foudbarter also included settlement of the Compdoysard purchase agreement resulting in a
gain of $6 million and a favorable cumulative-effgge adjustment related to the adoption of SFAS D0 of $3 million. Net income (loss)
during the second and first quarters of 2003 inetlicestructuring charges, net of tax, of $2 milléovd $18 million, respectively. Net loss for
the first quarter of 2003 included an after-taxaugirable cumulative-effect type adjustment foradeption of SFAS No.143 of $2 million.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Apple Computer, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Apple Computer, Inc. and subsidigtiesCompany) as of September 25,
2004 and September 27, 2003, and the related d¢datad statements of operations, shareholderstyequid cash flows for each of the year
the three-year period ended September 25, 2004eTdmnsolidated financial statements are the radipibty of the Company's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on ¢hesnsolidated financial statements based on aditsau

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamigUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finatataiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on alasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the consolidated financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing ttwuating principles used and significant estimatesle by management, as well as evalu
the overall financial statement presentation. Wiebe that our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaenferred to above present fairly, in all mategapects, the financial position of Apple
Computer, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Septembe2@®} and September 27, 2003, and the resultebfdperations and their cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period endpteBder 25, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generalbcepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrste&ements, the Company changed its method @fusating for asset retirement obligations
and for financial instruments with characteristi€$oth liabilities and equity in 2003 and changsdnethod of accounting for goodwill in
2002.

/sl KPMG LLP

Mountain View, California
October 12, 2004
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Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accounté&mon Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation under the supervision atidthe participation of the Company's managemeetQompany's principal executive
officer and principal financial officer have condkd that the Company's disclosure controls andegires (as defined under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amenddgek€hange Ac)) were effective as of September 25, 2004 to enthat information required to be
disclosed by the Company in reports that it filesabmits under the Exchange Act is recorded, msed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified in Securities and ExchangeQission rules and forms.

There were no significant changes in the Compangeésnal control over financial reporting identiien management's evaluation during the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 that have materialffected or are reasonably likely to materiallyeaffthe Company's internal control over
financial reporting.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Rgistrant
Directors

Listed below are the Company's seven directors e/kersns expire at the next annual meeting of slotders.

Name Position With the Company Age Director Since

Fred D. Andersol Director 60 2004
William V. Campbell Director 64 1997
Millard S. Drexler Director 60 199¢
Albert Gore, Jr Director 57 2002
Steven P. Jok Director and Chief Executive Offic 49 1997
Arthur D. Levinsor Director 54 200C
Jerome B. Yorl Director 66 1997

Fred D. Andersonhas been a founding partner of Elevation Partr@epsivate equity firm focused on the media and aitement industry,
since July 2004. Previously, Mr. Anderson servethasCompany's Executive Vice President and Chiedri€ial Officer from April 1996 to
June 2004. Mr. Anderson also serves on the BoaRdrettors of eBay Inc. and E.piphany, Inc.

William V. Campbell has been Chairman of the Board of Directors ofitnbac. ("Intuit”) since August 1998. From September 1999 to
January 2000, Mr. Campbell acted as Chief Exec@ifficer of Intuit. From April 1994 to August 199Bjr. Campbell was President and Ct
Executive Officer and a director of Intuit. Frormdary 1991 to December 1993, Mr. Campbell was Beasiand Chief Executive Officer of
GO Corporation. Mr. Campbell also serves on ther@8oé Directors of Opsware, Inc.

Millard S. Drexler has been Chairman and Chief Executive Officer @frdw Group, Inc. since January 2003. Previously,DMexler was
Chief Executive Officer of Gap Inc. from 1995 ane$tdent from 1987 until September 2002. Mr. Drextas also a member of the Board of
Directors of Gap Inc. from November 1983 until Qmo02002.

Albert Gore, Jr. has served as a Senior Advisor to Google, Inces2@®91. He has also served as Executive ChairmiddiV since 2002
and as Chairman of Generation Investment Managesiece 2004. He is a visiting professor at Fiskvdrsity and Middle Tennessee State
University. Mr. Gore was inaugurated as the 45tbe\Rresident of the U.S. in 1993. He was re-eleictd®96 and served for a total of eight
years as President of the Senate, a member ofabia& and the National Security Council. PrioL893, he served eight years in the L
Senate and eight years in the U.S. House of Remssess.

Steven P. Jobss one of the Company's dounders and currently serves as its Chief Exeeufifficer. Mr. Jobs is also the Chairman and C
Executive Officer of Pixar Animation Studios. Indiiion, Mr. Jobs co-founded NeXT Software, INCNEXT") and served as the Chairman
Chief Executive Officer of NeXT from 1985 until 1B9vhen NeXT was acquired by the Company.

Arthur D. Levinson, Ph.D. has been Chief Executive Officer and a directosefhentech Inc. (Genentech’) since July 1995. Dr. Levinson
has been Chairman of the Board of Directors of Gezgh since September 1999. He joined Genentet888 and served in a number of
executive positions, including Senior Vice Prestd#R&D from 1993 to 1995. Mr. Levinson also seswan the Board of Directors of
Google, Inc.

Jerome B. York has been Chief Executive Officer of Harwinton Cap@orporation, a private investment company wlielcontrols, since
September 2003. From January 2000 until Septen0f8, Mr. York was Chairman and Chief Executive Gdfi of MicroWarehouse, Inc., a
reseller of computer hardware, software and peradlproducts. From September 1995 to October 188%as Vice Chairman of Tracinda
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Corporation. From May 1993 to September 1995 heSessor Vice President and Chief Financial OffioetBM Corporation, and served as a
member of IBM's Board of Directors from January 399 August 1995. Mr. York is also a director ofcbyinternational Ltd. and Metro-
Goldwyn-Mayer, Inc.

Role of the Board; Corporate Governance Matters

It is the paramount duty of the Board of Directtr®versee the Chief Executive Officer and oth@icgemanagement in the competent and
ethical operation of the Company on a day-to-daisband to assure that the long-term interestseohareholders are being served. To satisfy
this duty, the directors take a proactive, focusgproach to their position, and set standards sarerthat the Company is committed to
business success through maintenance of the higtaestards of responsibility and ethics.

Members of the Board bring to the Company a widgezof experience, knowledge and judgment. Theged/akills mean that good
governance depends on far more than a "check tkiedpproach to standards or procedures. The gomeenstructure in the Company is
designed to be a working structure for principletians, effective decision-making and appropriatnitoring of both compliance and
performance. The key practices and proceduresedBttard are outlined in the Corporate Governandddlines available on the Company's
website at www.apple.com/investor.

Board Committees

The Board has a standing Compensation Committdensinating and Corporate Governance Committédofhinating Committe€)'and an
Audit and Finance Committee £udit Committeé).

The Compensation Committee is primarily respondibleeviewing the compensation arrangements ferGbmpany's executive officers,
including the Chief Executive Officer, and for adhistering the Company's stock option plans. Membéthke Compensation Committee are
Messrs. Campbell, Drexler and Gore.

The Nominating Committee assists the Board in ifigng qualified individuals to become directorgtdrmines the composition of the Board
and its committees, monitors the process to asyeasl effectiveness and helps develop and implethen€ompany's corporate governance
guidelines. Members of the Nominating CommitteeMessrs. Drexler and Gore and Dr. Levinson.

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible foreoseeing the services performed by the Companyépendent auditors and internal audit
department, evaluating the Company's accountinigipsland its system of internal controls and neuig significant financial transactions.
Members of the Audit Committee are Messrs. Campbell York and Dr. Levinson.

The Audit, Compensation and Nominating Committgaesrate under written charters adopted by the Bddrdse charters are available on the
Company's website at www.apple.com/investor.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

While more than one member of the Company's Audit@ittee qualifies as an "audit committee finanedgbert" under Item 401(h) of
Regulation S-K, Mr. Jerome B. York, the Committéaicperson, is the designated audit committee Girzuexpert. Mr. York is considered
"independent” as the term is used in Item 7(d¥3){f Schedule 14A under the Exchange Act.

Code of Ethics

The Company has a code of ethics that applied td #tie Company's employees, including its priatigxecutive officer, principal financial
officer, principal accounting officer and its BoasfiDirectors. A copy of this code, "Ethics: The YW&/e Do Business Worldwide" is available
on the Company's website at www.apple.com/investioe. Company intends to disclose any changesweaorers from its code of ethics by
posting such information on its website or by fijlia Form 8-K.
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Executive Officers

The following sets forth certain information regaiglexecutive officers of the Company. Informatfertaining to Mr. Jobs, who is both a
director and an executive officer of the Compangyre found in the section entitledfrectors ."

Timothy D. Cook , Executive Vice President, Worldwide Sales andr@jens (age 44), joined the Company in Februa881®rior to joining
the Company, Mr. Cook held the position of Vicedtdent, Corporate Materials for Compag Computemp@uation ("Compaq"). Previous to
his work at Compagq, Mr. Cook was the Chief Opep@fficer of the Reseller Division at Intelligenteetronics. Mr. Cook also spent 12 years
with IBM, most recently as Director of North Ameait Fulfillment.

Nancy R. Heinen, Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Seagréage 48), joined the Company in September 1B8ar to joining the
Company, Ms. Heinen held the position of Vice Ritest, General Counsel and Secretary of the Boaldrettors at NeXT from
February 1994 until the acquisition of NeXT by tbempany in February 1997.

Ronald B. Johnson, Senior Vice President, Retail (age 46), joinegl@ompany in January 2000. Prior to joining the @any, Mr. Johnson
spent 16 years with Target Stores, most recent§easor Merchandising Executive.

Peter Oppenheimer, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offiage 41), joined the Company in July 1996. Mr. &ygeimer also
served with the Company in the position of Viced®tent and Corporate Controller and as Senior Bireaf Finance for the Americas. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Oppenheimer was CFO of ohtle four business units for Automatic Data Rssing, Inc. (ADP"). Prior to

joining ADP, Mr. Oppenheimer spent six years in litf@ermation Technology Consulting Practice withapers and Lybrant

Jonathan Rubinstein, Senior Vice President, iPod Division (age 48néal the Company in February 1997. Mr. Rubinstéso aerved with
the Company in the position of Senior Vice Presidelardware Engineering. Before joining the Compavly. Rubinstein was Executive Vice
President and Chief Operating Officer of FirePo®gstems Incorporated, from May 1993 to August 1986.Rubinstein also serves as a
member of the Board of Directors of Immersion Cogpion.

Philip W. Schiller , Senior Vice President, Worldwide Product Markgtiage 44), rejoined the Company in 1997. Prioejoining the
Company, Mr. Schiller was Vice President of Prodderketing at Macromedia, Inc. from December 1998arch 1997 and was Director of
Product Marketing at FirePower Systems, Inc. fr@83lto December 1995. Prior to that, Mr. Schilleerst six years at the Company in vari
marketing positions.

Bertrand Serlet, Ph.D., Senior Vice President, Software Engineering @gje joined the Company in February 1997 upon tbm@any's
acquisition of NeXT. At NeXT, Dr. Serlet held seakengineering and managerial positions, includdirgctor of Web Engineering. Prior to
NeXT, from 1985 to 1989, Dr. Serlet worked as @aesh engineer at Xerox PAR

Sina Tamaddon, Senior Vice President, Applications (age 47)¢ai the Company in September 1997. Mr. Tamaddomlsasserved with tt
Company in the position of Senior Vice PresidentrMiside Service and Support, and Vice President@ederal Manager, Newton Group.
Before joining the Company, Mr. Tamaddon held thsition of Vice President, Europe with NeXT fromp8amber 1996 through March 1997.
From August 1994 to August 1996, Mr. Tamaddon ieédposition of Vice President, Professional Sewiwith NeXT.

Avadis Tevanian, Jr., Ph.D., Senior Vice President, Chief Software Technol@dfjcer (age 43), joined the Company in Februarg7L@pon
the Company's acquisition of NeXT. Dr. Tevaniarvedrwith the Company in the position of Senior VRresident, Software Engineering fr
1997 to July 2003. With NeXT, Dr. Tevanian heldesaV positions, including Vice President, Enginegyifrom April 1995 to
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February 1997. Prior to April 1995, Dr. Tevanianrked as an engineer with NeXT and held several gemant positions.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation
Information Regarding Executive Compensation

The following table summarizes compensation infdiomefor the last three fiscal years for (i) Mrbdp Chief Executive Officer and (ii) the
four most highly compensated executive officerenthan the Chief Executive Officer who were segvas executive officers of the Company
at the end of the fiscal year (collectively, thddmed Executive Officer3"

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Long-Term
Annual Compensation Compensation
Securities
Restricted Underlying All Other

Fiscal Salary Bonus Stock Award Options* Compensation
Name and Principal Position Year $) $) $) #) %)
Steven P. Jok 2004 1 — — — —
Chief Executive Officer 200z< 1 — 74,750,00(2) — —

2002 1 2,268,69(2) — 7,500,00((1) 1,302,79(2)
Timothy D. Cook 2004 602,63: — 7,650,001((3) — 12,58¢(4)
Executive Vice President, 200: 617,67: — — — 9,92¢(4)
Worldwide Sales and Operatio 2002 563,82¢ — — — 8,025(4)
Ronald B. Johnson 200¢ 484,83¢ 1,500,001 6,375,00((3) — —
Senior Vice President, Retail 200:< 452,40¢ 1,500,001 — — —

200z 452,40 — — 300,00( —
Jonathan Rubinstein 200< 485,21¢ — 6,375,00((3) — 12,30((4)
Senior Vice President, iPod 200z 452,93¢ — — — 11,98¢(4)
Division 200z 452,55¢ — — — 9,99¢(4)
Avadis Tevanian, Jr. Ph.D 2004 469,68 1,00( 5,100,00(3) — 12,33¢(4)
Senior Vice President, Chief 200z 456,73: — — — 11,964(4)
Software Technology Office 200z 492,21 — — — 10,70((4)

Q) In March 2003, Mr. Jobs voluntarily cancelled dlhis outstanding options, excluding those gramelim in his capacity as a direct
In March 2003, the Board awarded Mr. Jobs fiveiomllrestricted shares of the Company's Common Stbek generally vest in full on
the third anniversary of the grant date.

2) In December 1999, Mr. Jobs was given a specialigxecbonus for past services as the Company'anmt&hief Executive Officer, i
the form of an aircraft with a total cost to then@many of approximately $90,000,000. In fiscal 208@proximately $2.27 million paid
by the Company towards the purchase of the pladepproximately $1.3 million in related tax assisg&was reported as income to
Mr. Jobs.

3) Market value of restricted stock units granted cerdh 24, 2004 (based on $25.50 per share, thenglpsice of the Company's comrn
stock on the NASDAQ National Market on the day Hrg). Restricted stock units generally vest ower fyears with 50% of the total
number of shares vesting on each of the secondoamnith anniversary of the grant date.

4) Consists of matching contributions made by the Camgpn accordance with the terms of the 401(k) plan
Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year

There were no options granted to the Named Exez@i¥icers during fiscal year 2004, although res#dl stock units which are shown above
in the Summary Compensation Table, were granted.
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Options Exercised and Yea-End Option Holdings

The following table provides information about dtaption exercises by the Named Executive Officknsng fiscal year 2004 and stock
options held by each of them at fiscal year-end.

AGGREGATED OPTION EXERCISES IN THE LAST FISCAL YEAR
AND FISCAL YEAR-END OPTION VALUES

Number of Securities Underlying

Unexercised Options at Fiscal Value of Unexercised
Year-End (#) In-the-Money Options at Fiscal Year-End ($)(1)
Shares Value
Acquired Realized

Name on Exercise (#) $) Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
Steven P. Jok — — 60,00((2) — % 1,547,40(2)$ —
Timothy D. Cook 1,350,001 14,719,95 — 250,000 $ — $ 5,119,37!
Ronald B. Johnso — — 1,631,25! 168,75( $ 7,359,18! $ 2,426,81.
Jonathan J. Rubinste 1,500,001 26,370,70 650,00( 250,00 $ 12,985,37 $ 5,119,37!
Avadis Tevanian, J 350,00 8,828,32! 1,800,001 250,000 $ 36,652,95 $ 5,119,37!

(D) Market value of securities underlying in-the-mormgyions at the end of fiscal year 2004 (based ahZBper share, the closing price of
Common Stock on the NASDAQ National Market on Sefiter 24, 2004), minus the exercise price.

(2) Consists of 60,000 options granted to Mr. Jobdsrchpacity as a director pursuant to the 1997dbareStock Option Plan. In
March 2003, Mr. Jobs voluntarily cancelled all & butstanding options, excluding those grantetinoin his capacity as a director.

Director Compensation

The form and amount of director compensation igmheined by the Board after a review of recommemwdatinade by the Nominating
Committee. The current practice of the Board ibdee a substantial portion of a director's anretaimer on equity. In 1998, shareholders
approved the 1997 Director Stock Option Plan (tBéréctor Plan") and 800,000 shares were reserved for issuanoeutiger. Pursuant to the
Director Plan, the Company's nemployee directors are granted an option to ac@@re00 shares of Common Stock upon their inifia¢téon
to the Board (Initial Options"). The Initial Options vest and become exercis@bldree equal annual installments on each ofitsethrough
third anniversaries of the grant date. On the foartniversary of a non-employee director's inglaktion to the Board and on each subsequent
anniversary thereafter, the director will be eatitto receive an option to acquire 10,000 shar€oaimon Stock (Annual Options’). Annual
Options are fully vested and immediately exercisat their date of grant. As of the end of thedisear, there were options for 440,000
shares outstanding under the Director Plan. Sinceping the position of CEO, Mr. Jobs is no longi@ible for grants under the Director
Plan. Non-employee directors also receive a $50eB0ial retainer paid in quarterly increments.ddion, directors receive up to two free
computer systems per year and are eligible to msesladditional equipment at a discount. Directoraat receive any additional consideration
for serving on committees or as committee chaigrers

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Parttipation

The current members of the Compensation Commitedlassrs. William V. Campbell, Millard S. Drexlemd Albert Gore, Jr., hone of wh
are employees of the Company and all of whom ansidered "independent" directors under the appcBIASDAQ rules. No person who
was an employee of the Company in fiscal year 2¢0ded on the Compensation Committee. No execaoffieer of the Company (i) served

a member of the compensation committee (or othardboommittee performing similar functions or, lre tabsence of any such committee, the
board of directors) of another entity, one of whesgecutive officers served on the Company's CongtemsCommittee, (ii) served as a
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director of another entity, one of whose executiffecers served on the Company's Compensation Cttesnior (jii) served as a member of
compensation committee (or other board committefopaing similar functions or, in the absence of anch committee, the board of
directors) of another entity, one of whose exeeutifficers served as a director of the Company.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners and Management

The following table sets forth certain informatias of November 10, 2004 (thd &ble Date") with respect to the beneficial ownership of the
Company's Common Stock by (i) each person the Coynpelieves beneficially holds more than 5% of dléstanding shares of Common
Stock; (i) each director; (iii) each Named ExeeatDfficer listed in the Summary Compensation Talvider the headingExecutive
Compensation;" and (iv) all directors and executive officersaagroup. On the Table Date, 401,476,094 share®ofn@n Stock were issued
and outstanding. Unless otherwise indicated, adges named as beneficial owners of Common Stoek sale voting power and sole
investment power with respect to the shares indicat beneficially owned. In addition, unless otligz indicated, all persons named below
can be reached at Apple Computer, Inc., 1 Infibdep, Cupertino, CA 95014.

Security Ownership of 5% Holders, Directors, Nomines and Executive Officers

Shares of Common Stocl Percent of Common Stock
Name of Beneficial Owner Beneficially Owned(1) Outstanding
Private Capital Management, Ir 20,457,15(2) 5.1(%
Steven P. Jok 5,060,00:(3) 1.2€%
Fred D. Andersol 2,672 *
William V. Campbell 100,504(4) *
Timothy D. Cook 5,90: *
Millard S. Drexler 100,00((5) *
Albert Gore, Jr 10,00((6) *
Ronald B. Johnso 1,355,90:(7) *
Arthur D. Levinsor 201,60(8) *
Jonathan J. Rubinste 161,087(9) *
Avadis Tevanian, J 1,501,25(10) *
Jerome B. Yorl 30,00((11) *
All executive officers and directors as a group
persons 10,203,44(12) 2.51%

Q) Represents shares of Common Stock held and/omspiield by such individuals that were exercisabteeTable Date or withi
60 days thereafter.

2) Based on a Form 13-F showing holdings as of Sepet, 2004 by Private Capital Management, Inc/efei Capital
Management, Inc. lists its address as 8889 PeBegrBlvd., Naples, FL, 34108, in such filing.

3) Includes 60,000 shares of Common Stock that Mrs Jals the right to acquire by exercise of stocioopt
4) Includes 100,000 shares of Common Stock that Mm@keell has the right to acquire by exercise oflstmations.
(5) Includes 80,000 shares of Common Stock that MrxIerénas the right to acquire by exercise of stogtons.

(6) Includes 10,000 shares of Common Stock that Mre®eis the right to acquire by exercise of stocloapt
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©) Includes 1,350,000 shares of Common Stock thatibhinson has the right to acquire by exercise akstptions.

(8) Includes 1,400 shares of Common Stock that Dr.iisn holds indirectly and 40,000 shares of ComntookXhat Dr. Levinson he
the right to acquire by exercise of stock options.

9) Includes 150,000 shares of Common Stock that Mbiigtiein has the right to acquire by exercise oflsbptions.

(10) Includes 1,500,000 shares of Common Stock thaT ®vanian has the right to acquire by exerciseaflsoptions

(11) Includes 10,000 shares of Common Stock that MrkYwas the right to acquire by exercise of stockomyst

(12) Includes 4,956,148 shares of Common Stock thatgixecofficers or directors have the right to acquy exercise of stock options.

* Represents less than 1% of the issued and outstpeldares of Common Stock on the Table C
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of41@3 amended, requires the Company's officerglimactors, and persons who own more
than ten percent of a registered class of the Cagpaquity securities, to file reports of secestbwnership and changes in such ownership
with the Securities and Exchange Commissio8EC"). Officers, directors and greater than ten persbareholders also are required by rules
promulgated by the SEC to furnish the Company witpies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely upon a review of the copies of sucmé$dfurnished to the Company or written represéntatthat no Forms 5 were required, the
Company believes that all Section 16(a) filing riegments were met during fiscal year 2004.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth certain informati@s, of September 25, 2004, concerning shares ofmoonstock authorized for issuance under
all of the Company's equity compensation plans.

(©) B
Number of Securities
Remaining Available for

(a) (b) Future Issuance Under
Number of Securities Weighted Average Equity Compensation Plans
to be Issued Upon Exercise Price of (Excluding Securities
Exercise of Options Outstanding Options Reflected in Column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved
shareholder 21,99291 $ 22.3- 14,072,42(1)
Equity compensation plans r
approved by shareholde 33,286,25 $ 20.2¢ —
Total equity compensation plans 55,279,16 $ 21.07 14,072,42
I |

(1)  This number includes 2,047,911 shares of commarkseserved for issuance under the Employee StaothBse Plan, 240,000 shares
available for issuance under the 1997 Director S@ption Plan and 14,299,512 shares availablesirance under the 2003 Employee
Stock Plan. The grant of 2,515,000 shares of mettistock units have been deducted from the nuoftarares available for future
issuance. It does not include shares under the $88gk Option Plan which was terminated in 1997 ndw options can be granted
under the 1990 Stock Option Plan.
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(2)  This table does not include 81,642 outstandingoostassumed in connection with mergers and aciquisiof the companies whic
originally established those plans. These assumptdns have a weighted average exercise price 80%8der share. No additional
options may be granted under those assumed plans.

Arrangements with Named Executive Officers
Change In Control Arrangements—Stock Options, Réstr Stock, and Restricted Stock Units

In the event of a "change in control" of the Compaall outstanding options under the Company'skstqution plans, except the Director Plan,
will, unless otherwise determined by the plan adstiator, become exercisable in full, and will lzeslsed out at an amount equal to the
difference between the applicable "change in cdpiiioe” and the exercise price. The Director Rleovides that upon a "change in control" of
the Company, all unvested options held by non-eygdalirectors will automatically become fully vesnd exercisable and will be cashed
out at an amount equal to the difference betweeragiplicable "change in control price" and the eiserprice of the options. A "change in
control" under these plans is generally define@)abe acquisition by any person of 50% or moré¢hef combined voting power of the
Company's outstanding securities or (ii) the ocuee of a transaction requiring shareholder app@winvolving the sale of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Companyemherger of the Company with or into another caafion.

In addition, options, restricted stock grants, esgtricted stock units granted to the Named Exeeudifficers generally provide that in the e\
there is a "change in control,” as defined in tloenPany's stock option plans, and if in connectidth wr following such “"change in control,"
their employment is terminated without "Cause"fahéy should resign for "Good Reason," those otioestricted stock, and restricted stock
units outstanding that are not yet vested as ofi#itte of such "change in control" shall becomeyfuéisted. Further, restricted stock and
restricted stock units granted to the Named Exeeulifficers also provide that, in the event the @any terminates the Officer without cause
at any time, the restricted stock units and restistock will vest in full. Generally, "Cause"dsfined to include a felony conviction, willful
disclosure of confidential information or willfuhd continued failure to perform his or her emploptnguties. "Good Reason" includes
resignation of employment as a result of a substiaditninution in position or duties, or an advectmnge in title or reduction in annual base
salary.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaains

In connection with a relocation assistance packégeCompany loaned Mr. Johnson (Senior Vice PesgjdRetail) $1,500,000 for the
purchase of his principal residence. The loan weasred by a deed of trust and was due and payabMay 2004. The largest amount of the
indebtedness outstanding on this loan during figeat 2004 was $750,000. Mr. Johnson repaid thepgaogn$750,000 during the fiscal year
and the loan has been repaid in full.

In March 2002, the Company entered into a Reimbmese Agreement with its Chief Executive Officer, Miteven P. Jobs, for the
reimbursement of expenses incurred by Mr. Jobkeroperation of his private plane when used forl&jppisiness. The Reimbursement
Agreement is effective for expenses incurred by Mhbs for Apple business purposes since he todkedglof the plane in May 2001. During
2004, the Company recognized a total of $483,0Gpenses pursuant to this reimbursement agreewlated to expenses incurred by

Mr. Jobs during 2004.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table sets forth the fees paid to@mpany's independent registered public accouffitimg KPMG LLP, during fiscal years
2004 and 2003.

Audit and Non-Audit Fees

2004 2003
Audit Fees $ 3,402,30(1)$  3,028,00!
Audit-Related Fee 57,00((2) 144,60(
Tax Fees 784,50((3) 1,017,101
All Other Fees — —
Total $ 4,243,800 $  4,189,70i

(D) Audit fees relate to professional services rendarennection with the audit of the Company's aitimancial statements, quarterly
review of financial statements included in the Camgs Forms 10-Q, and audit services provided imeotion with other statutory and
regulatory filings.

2) Audit-related fees include professional servicdsteel to the audit of the Company's financial stegets, consultation on accounting
standards or transactions, and audits of emplogaefl plans.

3) Tax fees include $667,600 for professional servieeslered in connection with tax compliance ang@ration relating to th
Company's expatriate program, tax audits and iatemal tax compliance; and $116,900 for tax cdirsgland planning services
relating to interest computations and internatidaalchanges. The Company does not engage KPM&rform personal tax services
for its executive officers.

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services Performed by the Independent Rgstered Public
Accounting Firm

Prior to the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley AQO8R (the "Act"), the Company adopted an auditor independendeypiblat banned its
auditors from performing non-financial consultirengces, such as information technology consuléind internal audit services. This auditor
policy also mandates that the audit and non-aeditices and the related budget be approved by tit £ommittee in advance, and that the
Audit Committee be provided with quarterly repogtion actual spending. This policy also mandatesritbauditor engagements for non-audit
services may be entered into without the exprepsoapl of the Audit Committee.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Index to Exhibits

Incorporated
by Reference

Exhibit Filing Date/ Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form Period End Date herewith
3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation, filed with tSecretary of State of tt S-3 7127/8¢
State of California on January 27, 19
3.2 Amendment to Restated Articles of Incorporatiolediwith the 10Q 5/11/0(
Secretary of State of the State of California oryMa2000.
3.2 By-Laws of the Company, as amended through June 4. 1C¢-Q 6/26/0-
4.2 Indenture dated as of February 1, 1994, betweeGtimepany and 10Q 4/01/9¢
Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New Yo
4.3 Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 1,,1894éng the 10Q 4/01/9¢
Company, Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New Yagkresigning
trustee, and Citibank, N.A., as successor tru:
4.5 Form of the Company's¥% 2% Notes due 2004. 10Q 4/01/9¢
4.8 Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 7, 1888hg the Company S-3 8/28/9¢
and Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Morgan Stanley & Goorporated
4.9 Certificate of Determination of Preferences of 8k Non-Voting 10K 9/26/9
Convertible Preferred Stock of Apple Computer,
10.A.¢ Apple Computer, Inc. Savings and Investment Plargraended and 10K 9/27/91
restated effective as of October 1, 18
10.A.311 Amendment of Apple Computer, Inc. Savings and Itmesit Plan datet 10K 9/25/9:
March 1, 1992
10.A.32 Amendment No. 2 to the Apple Computer, Inc. Savimgd Investment 10-Q 3/28/91
Plan.
10.A.5 1990 Stock Option Plan, as amended through NoveBE397. 1C-Q 12/26/9°
10.A.€ Apple Computer, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Rismmended S8 6/24/0%
through April 24, 2003
10.A.€ Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Riegiig and each 10K 9/26/9
officer of the Registran
10.A.4=  NeXT Computer, Inc. 1990 Stock Option Plan, as atedr S-8 3/21/9i
114
10.A.4¢ 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended thrQogbber 19, 10K 9/28/0:
2001.
10.A.5C 1997 Director Stock Option Pla 1C-Q 3/27/9¢



10.A.51

10.A.52Z

10.A.5¢

10.A.5¢

10.B.1¢

14.1

21

23.1

31.1

31.z

32.1

2003 Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended thrépgih24, 2003,

Reimbursement Agreement dated as of May 25, 20Qidnkybetween th
Registrant and Steven P. Jo

Option Cancellation and Restricted Stock Award A&gnent dated as of
March 19, 2003 by and between The Registrant aedeStP. Jobs

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreem:

Custom Sales Agreement effective October 21, 2@d&den the
Registrant and International Business Machines @atjpn.

Code of Ethics of the Compal

Subsidiaries of Apple Computer, Ir

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking
Rule13i-14(a)/15+-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Offic
Rulel13i-14(a)/15+14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Offici

Section 1350 Certifications of Chief Executive ©ffi and Chief
Financial Officer
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredalp authorized, this 30th day of November 2004.

APPLE COMPUTER, INC
By: /sl PETER OPPENHEIMER

Peter Oppenheimer
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officel

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemshose signature appears below constitutes anuirgpSteven P. Jobs and
Peter Oppenheimer, jointly and severally, his atgs-in-fact, each with the power of substitutifam,him in any and all capacities, to sign any
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, tarfde the same, with exhibits thereto and othacudnents in connection therewith, with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereldyirgfiand confirming all that each of said attorsdy-fact, or his substitute or substitutes,
may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgéa Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf of 1
registrant and in the capacities and on the dathsdted:

Name Title Date

<
s/ STEVEN P. JOB: Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal

Executive Officer) November 30, 200

STEVEN P. JOB¢

/s/ PETER OPPENHEIMER Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial and Principal November 30, 2004
PETER OPPENHEIMEF Accounting Officer)
/s/ FRED ANDERSON
Director November 30, 2004
FRED ANDERSON
/s/ WILLIAM V. CAMPBELL
Director November 30, 2004
WILLIAM V. CAMPBELL
/s MILLARD S. DREXLER
Director November 30, 2004
MILLARD S. DREXLER
/s/ ALBERT GORE, JR.
Director November 30, 2004
ALBERT GORE, JR
/s/ ARTHUR D. LEVINSON
Director November 30, 2004
ARTHUR D. LEVINSON
/s/ JEROME B. YORK
Director November 30, 2004

JEROME B. YORK
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Exhibit 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF
APPLE COMPUTER, INC*

Jurisdiction
Name of Incorporation
Apple Computer Inc. Limite: Ireland
Apple Computer Limite( Ireland
Apple Computer Internation. Ireland
Apple Japan Inc Japar
* Pursuant to Item 601(b)(21)(ii) of Regulation Sthke names of other subsidiaries of Apple Compurter,are omitted because,

considered in the aggregate, they would not caretd significant subsidiary as of the end of tearycovered by this report.
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Apple Computer, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inréiggstration statements on Forms S-8 (Nos. 2-7024%563, 2-85095, 33-00866, 23650
33-31075, 33-40877, 33-47596, 33-57092, 33-5708538B73, 33-53879, 33-53895, 33-60279, 33-60283;(B3137, 333-23719, 333-23725,
333-60455, 333-82603, 333-93471, 333-37012, 333:62333-61276, 333-70506, 333-75930, 333-102184383€l106421) and the
registration statements on Forms S-3 (Nos. 33-2333-29578 and 33-62310) of Apple Computer, Inowfreport dated October 12, 2004
relating to the consolidated balance sheets of &d@umputer, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Septemhe2d04 and September 27, 2003, and the
related consolidated statements of operationsebb#ters' equity, and cash flows for each of theryn the three-year period ended
September 25, 2004, which report appears in thee8dger 25, 2004 annual report on Form 10-K of Agpdenputer, Inc. Our report refers to
changes in accounting for asset retirement obbigatand for financial instruments with characterssof both liabilities and equity in 2003 and
for goodwill in 2002.

/sl KPMG LLP
Mountain View, Californie
November 30, 200
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Steven P. Jobs, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Apple Computer, Inc.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessarn

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nkadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ atimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this annual
report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer(s) anaré¢ responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduies ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this annual report is lgeprepared,;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantelasire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contants procedures, as of the end of the period cougyeldis report based on such
evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the regiisanternal control over financial reporting tleatturred during the registran
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigital quarter in the case of an annual repod) lttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggdan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) anlblve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financii
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatanommittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig's ability to record, process, summarize apibrt financial information; ar

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 30, 2004

By: /sl STEVEN P. JOB¢

Steven P. Jobs
Chief Executive Office
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Peter Oppenheimer, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Apple Computer, Inc.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessarn

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nkadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ atimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this annual
report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer(s) anaré¢ responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduies ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this annual report is lgeprepared,;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantelasire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contants procedures, as of the end of the period cougyeldis report based on such
evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the regiisanternal control over financial reporting tleatturred during the registran
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigital quarter in the case of an annual repod) lttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggdan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) anlblve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financii
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatammmittee of registrant's board of directorsggersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig's ability to record, process, summarize apibrt financial information; ar

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 30, 2004

By: /s/ PETER OPPENHEIMEF

Peter Oppenheimer
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Office
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Steven P. Jobs, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S&etiSn 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@ttecbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report of Apple Computer, Inc. on Form 1@ekKthe period ended September 25, 2004 fully ciespkith the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 and that information contained in suolnfr 10-K fairly presents in all material
respects the financial condition and results ofratiens of Apple Computer, Inc.

By: /sl STEVEN P. JOB¢

Steven P. Jobs
Chief Executive Office

I, Peter Oppenheimer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S€xtion 1350, as adopted pursuant to SectioroBfie Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Annual Report of Apple Computer, Inc. on FordaKLfor the period ended September 25, 2004 fudiyplies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 and that information contained in suolnfr 10-K fairly presents in all material
respects the financial condition and results ofratiens of Apple Computer, Inc.

By: /sl PETER OPPENHEIMER

Peter Oppenheimer
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
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